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Introduction

The CahokiaMounds State Historic Site isthe location of what was once the largest pre-
Columbian Indian settlement in North America. When speaking of CahokiaMounds|et usnot
confuseitslocation with the city of Cahokia, Illinoislocated ten miles southwest of the mound
site. Located only seven mileseast of St. Louis, Missouri, CahokiaMoundsliesin close
proximity to the mighty Mississippi River in the heart of the American Bottom and near the
present day city of Collinsville, Illinois. Oneearly writer, Henry Marie Brackenridge best
defined the American Bottomin his1811 work Views of the Louisiana as a, “tract of rich alluvion
land, extending on the Mississippi, from the Kaskaskiato the Cahokiariver, about eighty milesin
length, and fivein breadth; several handsome streams meander through it; the soil of the richest
kind, and but little subject to the effects of the Mississippi floods. A number of lakesare
interspersed through it, with high and fine banks; these abound in fish, and in the autumn are
visited by millions of wild fowl. Thereis, perhaps, no spot in the western country, capabl e of
being more highly cultivated, or of giving support to amore numerous popul ation than this
valley” (Brackenridge 1814:186) (Figure 1).

Today we do not know what the people of Cahokiacalled themselves, or what name they gave
to their community because they left no evidence of written records. “Cahokia’, the namewe

giveto thisoncethriving civilization and the term “ Cahokians’, in reference to its people, comes
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Figure 1. The American Bottom Region ca. 1800 in west-central 1llinois and east-central
Missouri along the Mississippi River. Source: Mikels Skele, Archaeology Laboratory,
Southern lllinois University at Edwardsville.



from atribe of Indians of the lllinois Confederacy who occupied the areain the 1600s and into
theearly 1700s. In 1997, Melvin Fowler in his Cahokia Atlas stated that, “ Although

archaeol ogi sts have gained more knowledge about the precolumbian history of North America,
they havefound it impossibleto connect known historic tribeswith archaeol ogically known
ones’ (11). Although Fowler’ s statement was accurate at thetime of the Atlas' publication,
recent literature on Cahokia’ s prehistory has suggested possi ble connections of the builders of
Cahokia smoundsto known historic tribeswho share the Dhegiha Siouan language (Diaz-
Granados 2000, 2004; Hall 2004). Dhegiha speakersincludetoday’ s Omaha, Ponca, Kansa,
Osage, and Quapaw tribes (Hall 2004:102).

One of the most common systems used by archaeol ogiststoday as away to organize and date
prehistoric cultural data, divides eastern North American prehistory into major periodswithina
giventimeframe. For example, Cahokia searly occupantsarelargely associated with the
Mississippian periodin prehistory, aswell asthe Late Woodland and Emergent Mississippian

periods (Figure 2).

TABLE 1.1
Archaesological Periods in the American Bottom Region

Period Time Range
Historic AD. 1600-present
Oneota A 1400-1600
Mississippian ALY 1000-1400
Emergent Mississippian AL, B00-1000
Woodland

Late Woodland AL, 300-800

Middle Woodland 150 B.C.-A.D. 300

Early Woodland 300-150 B.C.
Archaic ca. S000-500 B.C

Figure 2. Archaeological Periodsin the American
Bottom Region. Source: Fowler 1997:11.
From the information gathered during archaeol ogical investigations, and with the help of
dating methods, scientistsand archaeol ogists have determined that Cahokiawasinhabited from
approximately A.D. 700-1350 (Fowler 1997; Illinois Historic Preservation Agency Pamphlet).

Beginning around A.D. 700, groupsof Late Woodland I ndians began settling in and around



Cahokia, living in small villages, where they hunted, fished, and grew food sources. During the
Emergent Mississippian period from around A.D. 800-1000 Cahokia spopulation grew insize
and it social organization becameincreasingly complex (Fowler 1997:11). Cahokia sfertile soils,
abundance of wildlife, and plentiful water sources continued to attract peopleinto theregion, and
allowed for permanent settlement of thearea. By A.D. 1050-1200 Cahokia had become a
bustling community center with a population numbering anywhere from approximately 10to 20
thousand peopl e (I1linois Historic Preservation Agency Pamphlet). Itisbelieved that many of the
mound complexesin the American Bottom may have been started at thistime (Fowler 1997:11).
Theancient settlement of Cahokiaencompassed nearly six square milesof land and included
approximately 120 mounds constructed with the soil of the earth and built entirely by human
hands. The moundsthey built served avariety of purposes, the most common being their conical
shaped burial mounds, and their rectangular platform mounds, which held housing and building
structures. Atop thelargest mound at the site, Monks Mound, excavationsin the 1960s and
1970s, confirmed the presence of alarge building or temple structure measuring 104 feet (32
meters) long and 48 feet (15 meters) wide (Mink 1992:25). Thisisthought to be one of the
largest structures at Cahokia, and undoubtedly the most important building at the site (Fowler
1997: 100). Thisparticular building structure must have belonged to Cahokia’ s chief leader, or a
person hol ding the highest position in the society.

Unfortunately, sometimein the late 1300s those who once called Cahokiahome completely
abandoned their city. What they left behind wastheir earthen mounds and traces of their
existence everywhere present on the landscape. Itisnow up to the archaeologistsaswell as
amateursinterested in the topic to unravel the secrets of Cahokia s past and its people. One of the
biggest challenges archaeol ogistsface today isfinding answersto what caused Cahokia sdecline
and ultimately what eventually led to the total abandonment of their city.

Thelargest mound at Cahokia, Monks Mound, sits at the center of the site, one early spectator

callingit, “easily one of the Seven Wonders of America’ (CahokiaMounds Association 1917:5)



because of itssize, grandeur, and ability to capture theimaginations of many. Other moundson
the site vary in height; some appear as merely asmall rise on the landscape, while other mounds
aremuch larger insize.

Sincethe early 1800stravel ers and scholars have attempted to describe Monks Mound' ssize
and dimensions. An accurate measurement givenin Melvin Fowler’s Cahokia Atlas depicts
MonksMound as 1,000 feet (305 meters) long and 775 feet (236 meters) wide. Itshighest point
reaches 100 feet, or 30.5 metersfrom the surface of the ground to its summit (Fowler 1997:8).
The base of the mound covers an areaover twelve acres (Putman and Patrick 1880:473). One
astonishing fact isthat Monks Mound has alarger base circumference than the Great Pyramid of
Khufu in Egypt or the Pyramid of the Sun at Teotihuacanin Mexico (Y oung and Fowler 2000:2).
To give the reader abetter idea of the size of thismound, a casual stroll along the entire base of
the mound takes allittle over twelve minutesto complete, and aleisurely climb up the modern day
concrete stairs located at the mound’ s south face takes nearly two and ahalf tiring minutes before
reaching the top. For amound of earth, that’salong walk to conquer! No other mound in North
Americacan be compared with thisone. 1t'sno wonder Monks Mound hasintrigued the
imagination and captured the eyes of its spectators sinceits completion sometimein the twelfth
century (Figure 3).

Fortunately, thisincredible piece of work, the celebrated Monks Mound, isstill in existence
today. Infact, itisan utmost delight to say that many of the mounds at Cahokia areintact and
preserved for all to see. These samefeelingsof “awe” and “excitement” experienced nearly two
hundred years ago by some of thefirst visitorsto the mounds can still befelt by the present
generation of observers, both young and old, and from near and far away places. What isequally
exciting isthat future generationsfor yearsto comewill be ableto enjoy Cahokia sbeauty and
serene atmosphere.

Presently, the Cahokia Mounds State Historic Site, owned by the state of I1linois and managed

by the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency, includes 2200 acres of the central portion of thesite
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and contains 70 of the remaining 80 mounds, including the famous Monks Mound (Illinois
Historic Preservation Agency Pamphlet). OnJuly 19, 1964 Cahokia Moundswas designated a
U.S. National Historic Landmark, atitle only givento placesin the United States showing
extraordinary value or quality inillustrating or interpreting the heritage of the United States
(National Historic Landmarks Program Onlineweb page). In 1982 CahokiaMoundswas
recognized asaWorld Heritage Site by the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural
Organization (UNESCO) for itsimportance to North American prehistory. Sevenyearslaterin
September 1989, Cahokia s 33,000 squarefoot (3066 sg. meter) Interpretive Center was opened
to the public to assist othersin understanding and interpreting Cahokia' s past. Sincethen the
museum continues to attract hundreds of thousands of visitorsfrom around the world each year

(Figure 4).

Figure 4. The Cahokia Mounds Interpretive Center. Photograph taken in the fall, 2007.



This esteemed status Cahokia maintainstoday is nearly asimpressive asthe civilization that
oncethrived there, but little do most peoplerealize that not long ago thiswasn’t the case. Less
than 100 years ago Cahokiawas an unprotected site, in constant danger from thelocal farmer’s
plow and theindustrial movement into the area.

The United States during the 1800s and into the early 1900s was advancing daily as acountry
withitsgrowing cities and new technol ogical advancements. Regrettably thisearly periodin
Americaoften carried with it an “out with the old and in with the new” type of attitude. This
mindset, along with feelings of uncertainty asto what the earthen mounds represented, and an
overall lack of knowledge regarding the origins behind the mounds, left any mound standing in
theway of development in seriousdanger. Mounds existing on private property becametargets
for destruction simply if afarmer found them a hindrance to hiswork.

In the mid to late 1800s, the mounds that once existed asagroup in St. Louiswere leveled to
the ground, followed by the moundsin East St. Louis, to make room for housing and industrial
developments. Asearly asthe 1850s, portions of the largest mound in St. Louis, known as Big
Mound, had begun to be removed to make way for the construction of roads and sidewalks
(O’'Brien and Wood 1998:286). By the 1860s, most of the mound was destroyed and itsremains
were carried away to create bricksfor buildings and used as aroadbed by the Missouri Railroad
Company (O’ Brienand Wood 1998:286). L uckily, various mound groupsfurther east, including
the Mitchell group (north of Cahokia), the Emerald group (east of Cahokia), the Pulcher group
(southwest of Cahokia), and Cahokia, remained for the most part intact because they existedina
morerura setting (Kelly 2000:9) (Figure 1). Nevertheless, astime pressed forward, the
urbanization of St. Louis began to expand further east. It quickly became apparent that the
monster of progressthat leveled the moundsin St. Louisand East St. Louiswould not hesitatein
devouring Cahokiaaswell as other smaller prehistoric centersthat stood initsway. Insome
instances progress had already crept in, but luckily there were somelocal citizenswho realized

Cahokia ssignificance and decided to take action before it wastoo late. In 1925, largely dueto



localized efforts, 144.4 acres of Cahokialand, which included Monks Mound, was purchased by
the state of Illinois. In that very moment a Cahokia M ounds State Park was established (later, in
1976, the park was renamed The Cahokia M ounds State Historic Site to emphasizeits cultural
importance). Prior to the park’ s establishment, and from then onward, Cahokiahas persevered
through aroller coaster of eventsleading up to more recent times.

When | first began preparing for the research for this project, and what would later becomethe
writing for thisthesis paper, my original objectivewasto write on Cahokia’ s history beginning
around the year 1800, when the site wasfirst discovered by early mapmakersand explorers.
Fromthere | planned to proceed in covering each succeeding decade of Cahokiaeventsin
thorough detail, finishing only after writing on the more current eventstaking place at the sitein
the 21™ century. | knew thiswas going to be ahefty task, but it wasn’t until | actually started to
delveinto theresearch that | began to morefully grasp the magnitude of information my topic
choice demanded. Before long, my paper outline had evolved into a seemingly endless|isting of
eventsthat took place at Cahokiathrough theyears. It soon became apparent that | would in no
way be ableto cover every aspect and piece of Cahokia s history in only two semesters, and in 60
pages, the expected time frame and approximate length requirements assigned to the project.
After much thought and some discussion with my thesis advisor, we agreed it would be best to
narrow my focus, and instead provide the reader with adetailed overview of happenings at
Cahokiabeginning around 1800 through to the 1940s, encompassing atotal of approximately 150
years of CahokiaMound' shistory. Indoing so, | will be keeping to aclose chronological order
of events, and covering what | feel to be the most significant events of Cahokiahistory withinthis
timeframe. Afterwards, andin brief, | will touch on some noteworthy activitiestaking place at
the site post 1940s.

In the process of telling Cahokia’ sstory | find it necessary to shed some light on a number of

individualswho havein someway contributed to the well being and interpretation of the site.



Typicaly, when avisitor entersthe premises of CahokiaMounds, and then visitsthe site’s
Interpretive Center, they are given an abundance of information on what we know of Cahokia' s
inhabitants; from theway their civilization once appeared, to the many types of artifactsthey
crafted, information on their sun calendar (the woodhenge), aglimpse of their day to day
activities, and thelist goeson. At the sametime visitors havethe freedom to walk the site’s
grounds and see Cahokia s mounds up close and personal. Inaddition, Cahokia sguestsare
given the opportunity to climb 100 feet above the surrounding plain to the summit of the largest
mound at the site, Monks Mound, only to peer out for milesinto the distance and visualize what it
must have been liketo livein such aplace. What often times gets overlooked by the typical
visitor isthat thisentire“ Cahokiaexperience” would not have been possible nor would such an
opportunity exist without thetireless efforts and countl ess sacrifices made by thoseindividuals
who cared so deeply for Cahokia’ sfuture and preservation, beginning with thelocalized effortsin
the late 1800s and early 1900s. Today these feelings of affection and concern for Cahokia's
future have not gone astray. Thereare numerousvolunteers, workers, students, laypersons, and
scholarswho have in some way contributed to the well being of the site. Someindividuals have
devoted nearly their entire careersto its study, while others have volunteered their timein giving
sitetoursor helping with field excavations. Again, | will in noway be ableto credit evena
fraction of these people, but | would hope | could be successful in naming at least some of these
individualswithin this 150 year time frame who have made alasting impression on thistopic.

Finaly, | would like to touch on some of the present issuesthe siteisfaced with today. For
instance, not everyoneisaware that approximately 1,600 acres of prehistoric Cahokialand
remains unprotected and isat risk for commercial development. If thiswereto occur, it would
result in not only atremendous|oss of our cultural heritage, but also aloss of invaluable
information that could later assist archaeol ogistsin understanding the past life ways of these

people.
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Aboveal else, my greatest hope for this paper isthat by showing the value of past efforts and
theresults of both individual and group dedication, and then by discussing some current
happeningsat the site, it would pique thereaders’ interest with the desire to learn more, and most
importantly ignite amotivation to get involved and hel p preserve this preciouslegacy we have

cometo know as Cahokia Mounds,
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CHAPTER 1

CahokiowsEarliestVisitorsand Explovers

There were those white men who had undoubtedly seen the Great Mounds at Cahokia after
European arrival to the New World, more specifically North Americaafter the 1500s, but there
was no written documentation of the mounds at Cahokiauntil thelatter half of the 1700sand into
theearly 1800s. The American Indianswho built their mounds at Cahokia sometimeinthe
eleventh and twelfth century had compl etely abandoned their city by the end of the fourteenth
century. Asaresult their mounds sat in silence until their rediscovery some 400 years|ater by
some of thefirst explorersand cartographersinto the area. Those who witnessed the mounds at
Cahokiaprior to their “rediscovery” may have wondered what theseimpressive earthworkswere
asthey passed by in admiration, but no detailed written record of Cahokia’ s moundswas
documented until 1811.

General George Collot, who explored the geography of the western United States, drew the
earliest known map of the Cahokiaregionin 1796 (Figure5). In hismap, he shows mounds
denoted by thewords*Indian Ancient Tombs’. The mounds he depicts, however, are not of
Cahokia, but of agroup of moundstoday known asthe Pulcher site (Fowler 1969: 6), located
seven miles south of the present day city of Cahokia, Illinois. 1nthe areawhere Cahokia s

mounds should be on Collot’ s map, exists an open area of land between two creeks. It hasbeen

12
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Figure 5. A portion of Collot’s map of the Mississippi River Valley near St. Louis, Missouri. Drawn around 1796. The mounds labeled “Indian Ancient Tombs” on his map are

probably mounds at the Pulcher site southwest of CahokiaMounds. North arrow points west on his map. Source: Fowler 1997:14.



thought that during thisearly period in history, Cahokiawas off the beaten path, situated in an
areanot often traveled by the early mapmakers and explorers. Early French explorers such as
Marquette and LaSalle, like Collot, passed within very close distance to the mounds, but they too
gave no mention of them in their writings (Fowler 1969:7). Surely, had these men seen the
mounds at Cahokia, they would have documented them. Thefact that they didn’t isagood
indication that this particular location east of the Mississippi wasn't easily accessibleto them.

Another mapmaker of Collot’ stime was French engineer Nicolasde Finiels. During the
course of 1797-1798 Finielsdrafted amap of the central Mississippi River Valley andin 1803
wrote alengthy account of hisobservations of daily lifein Upper Louisiana’. It has been
assumed that he was the one who initiated the entire project, asthere are no records or
documentation of Finielsbeing ordered to draft the map (Ekberg and Foley 1989:5). On hismap,
he shows an area of land marked “ ancienstombe aux des sauvages’ demarcating some Indian
mounds acrossthe Mississippi River east of St. Louis, but unfortunately he did not give any
description of these mounds he witnessed, and therefore we cannot positively attributethem to
Cahokia.

The next brief record of CahokiaMoundswasin afield notebook of asurveyor named John
Messinger in 1808. What brought Messinger to the areawasto adjust atown linethat today is
theMadison and St. Clair county linein Illinois. Asone of the requirementsfor hiswork, he was
responsiblefor documenting any features of the landscape that might have been pertinent to the
purpose of theland survey (Hall 1991:3). In hisfield noteshewrote, “two large Mounds Bearing

N.E. inthe Edge of alarge Prairie.” One of the mounds he spoke of waslikely the second largest

! Nicolas de Finiels' account of Upper Louisiana appeared in print for the first time in 1989 in a book titled
An Account of Upper Louisiana. Finiels' original accounts were written in French in 1803 and later
translated into English by Charles J. Ekberg before its publication. Today Finiels' original manuscript is
located in the John Francis McDermott Collection in the archives of the Lovejoy Library at Southern
Illinois University-Edwardsville. The original map is located in the map division of the Service Historique
de la Marine in the chatedu of Vincennes outside Paris. The map was drawn in six panels and measures
68cm by 262cm.
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mound at Cahokiaknown asthe Powell Mound that once stood at the western edge of the site.
Messinger continued:
Twenty four or more of those moundsin site a one View—onewhose baseis
nearly 6 acres by Estimation—& 100 Feet in Height—Others of Various sizes
from 6, to forty feet in height, & Variousforms—some round, some oblong or
Rect. angled Parallelogramsand othersirregular—All covered with Simptoms of
ancient Ruins—Soil first Rate (Hall 1991:3).
The mound Messinger referred to as 100 feet in height was none other than Monks Mound, but
instead of hisestimate of the base as six acres, amore accurate number is sixteen acres (Hall
1991:3). Threeyearsafter Messinger’ swritings, Cahokiawasfinally given some recognition. In
1811, oneearly visitor, Henry Marie Brackenridge, voyaged to Cahokiaand wrote of histravels
in his published work Views of the Louisiana. He iscredited aswriting thefirst known detailed
account of Cahokia Mounds, whereas Messinger’ swritings gave only a scant mention of the
moundsin hissurvey notes. Although the accounts of Brackenridge’ sjourney have been reported
timeandtimeagainin nearly every work ever written on Cahokia’ searly history, Brackenridge's
story marks Cahokia sinitial “discovery” in American history, and therefore his story must be
reiterated.

Henry Marie Brackenridge, originally from Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, wasascholar of his
time, excelling in several occupationsin the course of hislifetime; titlesincluding lawyer, judge,
and American writer (Keller 1956). Hispassionsincluded traveling and studying the prehistoric
earthworksthat were apart of the North American landscape. A number of these earthworks he
examined were situated in St. Louis, Missouri. St. Louisat that time was often referred to as
“Mound City” because of the prevalence of earthen moundswithin the city limits (Milner
2004:18). Brackenridgefrequently visited the moundsin St. Louis, and whilein thecity, he had
heard of some large earthen mounds situated just a short distance acrossthe Mississippi River

whereagroup of Trappist Monkswereliving. Thissounded appealing to Brackenridge, so he

planned the daylong journey to Cahokiato visit the mounds and the monks who resided there.
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Inthefall of 1811 Brackenridge crossed the Mississippi River from St. Louisby ferry and
landed in lllinoistown, which isnow present-day East St. Louis. From there he began histrek,
and in ashort time found himself amidst agroup of mounds scattered about the plain. Finding
the largest, he climbed to its summit. Once reaching the top, he counted 45 mounds and other
smaller earthen elevationsrising from the surface, and extending acrossthe landscapefor nearly a
mile (Brackenridge 1814:187). He noticed too, the mounds of thisgroup wereplaced insuch a
way that they formed the shape of asemicircle.

The mounds Brackenridge witnessed were mounds that once existed in the location of present
day East St. Louis. Similarly to themoundsin St. Louis, the East St. Louis Mound Group, some
yearsafter Brackenridge' svisit, were mostly destroyed by city devel opments; but not completely.
Morerecent investigationsin East St. Louisby archaeologist Dr. John E. Kelly and other
individual s have determined that numerous archaeol ogical sitesstill exist buried beneath the
surface of themodern day city (Powell Archaeological Research Center Newsl etter 2008).
Fortunately, efforts have, and are presently being made to preserve portions of the East St. Louis
Mound Center Brackenridge spoke of in 1811.

From there Brackenridge continued by foot along the bank of the Cahokia Creek, the same
path that Collinsville Road (formerly U.S. 40) followstoday. During hiswalk he viewed, at |east
for the most part, an unsettled land of mostly prairie, scattered trees, and meandering waterways.
In present times, one can still see remnants of thislandscape, but hardly so. Today, while driving
from East St. Louison Collinsville Road towards CahokiaMounds, it isimpossible to miss some
of the modern constructions built since Brackenridge' stime. Some of these include anumber of
Mexican restaurants, gas stations, afleamarket, amobile home park, motels, alaundry mat, a
carpet outlet, subdivisions, and anice company to name afew.

Brackenridge continued on hisroute, spotting eight more mounds, before setting foot at the
greatest mound of them all. In hisaccount he wrote:

When | reached the foot of the principle mound; | was struck with a
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degree of astonishment, not unlike that which is experienced in contemplating the
Egyptian pyramids. What a stupendous pile of earth! To heap up such amass
must have required years, and the labor of thousands...Wereit not for the
regularity and design which it manifests, the circumstances of its being on

aluvia ground, and the other mounds scattered around it, we could scarcely
believeit thework of human hands (Brackenridge 1814:187).

The Trappist Monks Brackenridge had heard about back in St. Louiswere busy at work at the
time of hisarrival. Some of the monks were shaping timber, while otherswere carrying corn from
their fields and into storage.

The monks Brackenridge encountered, were originally from France, later held residencein
Kentucky, then Florissant, Missouri, and finally set up their monastery along the banks of the
Cahokia Creek at Cahokiaaround 1810, oneyear prior to Brackenridge' svisit. Asapart of their
religious order, the monks devoted their livesto work and prayer. They were expected to livea
lifeof silence, with little possessions, and minimal contact from the outside world, with the sole
intention of serving God. Thisbeing the case, Brackenridge wasrelieved when he found two
men who were able to speak with him. One was ayounger man employed by the monks, but not
attached to the society, and the second was Father Joseph, who at the time wasthe leading
authority over themonastery. Father Joseph, according to Brackenridge, spokeintelligently, and
invited him into the monk’ swatchmaker shop; one of the many trades carried on by the monk’s
to support their institution. Brackenridge did not detail his conversationswith the two men, but
he did mention that he was fed adinner consisting chiefly of vegetables before returning to St.
Louis(Brackenridge 1814:289). Whileat Cahokia, Brackenridge documented hisencounter with
themonksand their living quarters:

Thebuildingswhich the Trappistsat present occupy, are merely

temporary: they consist of four or five cabins, on amound fifty yards[?] high
,and which is perhaps one hundred and fifty feet square. Their other buildings,
cribs, stables, & c. ten or fifteen in number, are scattered about on the plain
below. | wasinformed that they intended to build on the terrace of the large
mound; thiswill produce afine effect, it will be seen five or six milesacrossthe
plain, and from some points of view ten or twelve. They have about one hundred
acresenclosed inthreedifferent fields, including the large mound and several

others... | ascended the mound which containsthe dwellings. Thisisnearly 25
feetin height: the ascent rendered easy by aslanting road. | wandered about
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here for sometime, in expectation of being noticed by someone; it wasin vain
that | nodded to the reverend fathers, or peeped into their cabins [Brackenridge
1814:287-288,query added)].

Still today we cannot say with one hundred percent certainty the exact location where the
monks built their cabins. At thetime of Brackenridge' svisit, the monks had built structureson
top of one of the smaller mounds at Cahokia. Brackenridge witnessed the monksusing the
largest mound as aplace for gardening and growing wheat, but never did he mention them living
on thismound, only that they had planned to. The mound that was most likely occupied by the
monksisamound located immediately southwest of thelargest, Mound 48 (Bushnell 1904:9;
1922:97). Onereasonit isbelieved the monkslived thereisthat Mound 48 has a platform
summit large enough to hold their cabins, and also thereis evidence of a pathway on the south
face of the mound that correl ateswith Brackenridge' swritings of adanting road up the side
(Fowler 1997:16). A few individualswho visited the mounds in the mid 1800s had other beliefs
about where the monkslived, but keep in mind the monkswere no longer living at Cahokiaat the
time of their arrival and their assumptionswere based solely on hearsay. One explorer John
Casper Wild (1948 [1841]) stated, “ To the west some two hundred yards (of the largest), ona
small mound, was formerly the principal residence of acommunity of Monks of the order of La
Trappe...” (51). Onevisitor to the mounds, G.W. Featherstonhaugh (1844) reported, “On the
west side, and near to the large barrow—uwhich the neighbouring people call Monk’s Mound—is a
smaller one, where some monks of La Trappe once fixed their residence when they took refugein
this country...” (266-267). Thismound directly west of Monks Mound referred to by Wild and
Featherstonhaugh, today isMound 41. Itisprobably unlikely though that the monkslived there
because the top of the mound has asmaller surface areaand would have only been ableto hold a
few cabins (Fowler 1997:16) (Figure 6). Another visitor, Edmund Flagg (1838), believed that first
the monks lived on asmaller mound and afterwardstook up residence on Monks Mound. Inhis
writings Flagg wrote:

The buildingswhich they occupied were never of avery durable character, but
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consisted of about half adozen large structures of logs, on the summit of the
mound about fifty yardsto theright of thelargest. Thisistwenty feet in height,
and upward of ahundred and fifty feet square. .. Subsequently they erected an
extensive structure upon the terrace of the principal mound, and cultivated its soil
for akitchen-garden, while the area of the summit was sown with wheat”
(1838:169-170).

S

Monks Mound
S
Mound 41 ” —
.ﬂm‘*ﬂ ;ﬂ‘.-:':-
_ Collinsville Road
8 Mound 48 N

Figure 6. Drawing showing two mounds west and southwest of Monks Mound
where the Trappist Monks may have taken up residence. Source: Cahokian,
summer 1993:8.

Regardless of where the monkslived, the largest mound at Cahokia assumed the name Monks

Mound, dueto the notion that the Trappist Monks oncelived on itsterraces and worked in close

proximity to the mound. Hopefully someday in the near future archaeol ogical excavationswill be

conducted on Mounds 48 and 41, and the location of the monksliving quartersmay berealized

once and for all.

In Brackenridge’ swritings he reveal ed histhoughts about the land and its prehistoric

inhabitants:

Thereis perhaps no spot in the western country, capabl e of being more highly
cultivated, or of giving support to amore numerous popul ation than
thisvalley. If any vestige of ancient population wereto befound, this

would be the place to search for it—accordingly, thistract, asalso the

bank of theriver onthe western side, exhibits proofs of animmense
population. If the city of Philadel phiaand itsenvirons, were deserted,

there would not be more numerous traces of human existence. The great
number of mounds, and the astoni shing quantity of human bones,

everywhere dug up, or found on the surface of the ground, with athousand
other appearances, announcethat thisvalley was at one period, filled with
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habitations and villages. Thewholeface of the bluff, or hill which bounds

it to the east, appearsto have been acontinued burial ground...l

concluded, that avery popul ous town had once existed here, similar to

those of Mexico, described by thefirst conquerors. The moundswere

sites of temples, or monumentsto the great men. Itisevident, thiscould

have never have been the work of thinly scattered tribes(Brackenridge1814:186-
188).

Despite all of the evidence that Cahokiawas once adensely populated prehistoric civilization,
full of cultural antiquity, it had failed to gain any attention or publicity from thewider public. In
1811, St. Louiscounty had apopul ation of about 5,600 residents (Keller 1956:107), but probably
only ahandful of those people had ever heard of the mounds, and an even smaller percentage of
those actually visited Cahokia. The vast mgjority of people were both unaware of the mounds’
existence and as any person would bein those days, they were more concerned about securing a
lifefor themselvesin thisstill largely unsettled new world than worrying about the past lives of
those who came before them. Brackenridge was one of thefirst to notice thislack of recognition
of the mounds, sharing hisconcernsin aletter to hisfriend and then president Thomas Jefferson:

When | examined itin 1811, | was astonished that this stupendous
monument of antiquity should have been unnoticed by any traveler: |
afterwards published an account in the newspapers of St. Louis, detailing
itsdimensions, describing itsform, position & c. but this, which
|...considered adiscovery, attracted no notice (Brackenridge 1813:155).
Thisgrand discovery had attracted little to no notice, and it would be along time before Cahokia
would receivethe attention it deserved. But Brackenridge’ swritingswereastart. He recognized
the significance of the mounds and wanting to share his knowledge, published articlesabout them
in the St. Louis newspapers, but even then nothing much came of it.

The next recorded sighting of Cahokia Moundswasin 1819 by an expedition headed by Major
Stephen Long. Long was one of the most productive explorersof histime. From 1816 to 1823
he undertook atotal of five expeditions covering over 26,000 miles of the North American
terrain. While his steamboat was seeking repair in St. Louis, he and his crewmembersvisited

Cahokia on more than one occasion (Fowler 1997:16). It isprobablethat Long learned of the

mounds at Cahokiafrom someoneliving in St. Louiswho wasfamiliar with them. During one of
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their visits, Long and his crewmembers counted seventy-five mounds, including Monks Mound,
which at the time was overgrown with heavy brush and weeds (Long 1823:66). Like
Brackenridge, they too were disheartened that the mounds had gained no notice, andinLong’'s
journal hereported, “ The survey of these productions of human industry, these monuments
without inscription, commemorating the existence of apeopl e once numerous and powerful, but
no longer known or remembered, never fails, though often repeated, to produce an impression of
sadness’ (Long 1823:66). Long’ sexpedition recognized the misfortune of the forgotten mounds,
but even so, he and his crew departed and continued their journey elsewhere.

Asthe 1800s pressed onward, the number of visitorsto Cahokia slowly increased. Two of
thosevisitorswere Reverend Timothy Flint and his son Micah in 1825. Timothy Flint wasa
pastor and writer who lived and travel ed throughout the Mississippi Valley from 1815 to 1825.
Whiletraveling, hewrote of hisexperiencesand observationsin what became Recollections of
the Last Ten Years publishedin 1826. In Flint’ swriting he described some of the mounds he
witnessed, and stated that the mounds, “ near the Cahokia. .. must have been works of great
labour” (Flint 1826:165). Though Flint did not write much el se about the mounds at Cahokia, his
son Micah, during their visit, was so taken by the place that he wrote apoem about it titled “On
theMoundsinthe CahokiaPrairie, Illinois’ (Flint 1826:167-169) (Figure 7). Pleased with
Micah' swriting, Rev. Flintincluded his son’ spoem in hisbook Recollections.

Charles Joseph LaTrobe, originally from London, ventured to North Americain 1832, and
described histravel sthroughout the country in histwo-volume publication titted The Rambler in
North America. Likemany of hispredecessors, LaTrobe took full advantage of hisstay in St.
Louis. Whileinthecity, LaTrobe repeatedly crossed theriver to view the mounds at Cahokia.

Hewasfascinated with the mounds, especially Monks Mound, and spoke of histravelsand his
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Figure 7. Poem by Timothy Flint’s son Micah, “On the Mounds in the Cahokia Prairie, Illinois’ written in
1825, Sotrce: Flint 1826:167-169.

LINES
ON THE MOUNDS IN THE CAHOKIA PRAIRIE, ILLINOIS.

The sun’s last rays were fading from the west,
The deepening shade stole slowly o’er the plain,
The evening breeze had Iulled itself to rest,
And all was silence—save the mournful strain
With which the widowed turtle wooed in vain
Her absent lover to her lomely nest.

MNow, one by one emerging to the sight,

The brighter stars assumed their seats on high;
The moon’s pale erescent glowed serenely bright,
As the last twilight fled along the sky,

And all her train, in elondless majesty,

Were glittering on the dark blue vault of night.

I lingered, by some soft enchantment bound,
And gazed enraptured on the lovely seene;
"rom the dark snmmit of an Indian mound
T saw the plain ontspread in living green,
Tts fringe of clill's was in the distance scen,
And the dark line of forest sweeping round.

I saw the lesser mounds which round me rose;
Fach was a giant heap of monldering clay ;

There slept the warriors, women, friends, and foes,
There side by side the rival ehieftains lay ;

And mighty tribes, swept from the face of day,
Torgot their wars and found a long repose,

Ye mouldering relies of departed years,

Your names have perished ; not a trace remains,
Save where the grass-grown mound its summit rears
From the green bosom of your native plains;

Say, do your spirits wear oblivion’s chains?

Did death forever quench your hopes and fears?

Or live they shrined in some eongenial form?
What if the swan who leaves her summer nest
Among the northern lakes, and monnts the storm
To wing her rapid flight to climes more blest,
Should hover o’er the very spot where rest

The erumbling bones —onee with her spirit warm.
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‘What if the song, so soft, so sweet, so clear,

‘Whose musie fell so gently from on high,

And which, enraptured, I have stopped to hear,
(lazing in vain upon the cloudless sky —

‘Was their own soft funcreal melody

While lingering o’er the scenes that once were dear

Or did those fairy hopes of future bliss,

‘Which simple nature to your bosoms gave,

Tfind other worlds with fairer skies than this
Beyond the gloomy portals of the grave,

Tn whose bright elimes the virtuous and the brave
Rest from their toils, and all their cares dismiss?—

Where the great hunter still pursues the chase,
And o’er the sunny mountains tracks the deer,
Or where he finds each long extinguished race,
And sees once more the mighty mammoth rear
The giant form which lies imbedded here,

Of other years the sole remaining trace.

Or it may be that still ye linger near

The sleeping ashes, once your dearest pride;
And could your forms to mortal eye appear,
Or the dark veil of death be thrown aside,
Then might T see your restless shadows glide
With watchful care around these relics dear.

If so, forgive the rude unhallowed feet

Which trod so thoughtless o’er your mighty dead;
I would not thus profane their lone retreat,

Nor trample where the sleeping warrior’s head
Lay pillowed on his everlasting bed

Age after age, still sunk in slumbers sweet.

Farewell—and may you still in peace repose,

Still o’er you may the flowers untrodden bloom,

And softly wave to every breeze that blows,

Casting their fragrance on each lonely tomb

In which your tribes sleep in earth’s common womb,

And mingle with the clay from which they rose.
March 10, 1825.
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fascination with the largest mound:
After riding for about four miles over the sod of the Prairie, we reached the principle
group, consisting of sixteen or eighteen, occupying an extensive areato the south and
west of the Cahokiacreek, on the edge of which risesthe principal Mound. Standing
beforeit, it required all the credulity | was able to muster, to persuade myself that the
immense mass before me—with its slopeswaving with grass and brushwood, and gullied
by the rains—allowing sufficient areafor asmall farm with the necessary tenements—
and with sides clothed by thetall forest—could be the work of human hands. How many
years, how many handswould sufficefor the erection of suchamass! ... The Big Mound
onthe Cahokia, largeasitis, isthework of man, and of that we became convinced,
beyond al doubt, by an hour’ s careful and jeal ousinspection (LaTrobe 1835, Vol. 2:181-
182).

A short time after LaTrobe’ s departure from the mounds another explorer of the day named
Edmund Flagg visited there. After Flagg’ s graduation from Bowdoin Collegein Maine, he
planned a two-year journey to study the Western Prairie of North America, beginning in 1836.
Before hisleave, an editor from the Louisville Journal approached Flagg after hearing of his
proposed journey, and asked him to write of his explorations and send them to him for
publicationin hispaper. Flagg agreed, and during his study of the frontier, he dispatched
writingsin letterform, which appeared regularly in the Journal under the heading “ Sketches of a
Traveller”. Whileabsent, Flagg’ swritten observations gained popul arity and upon returning he
was urged by friendsto turn both his published and unpublished writings of histravelsinto a
book. From this came Flagg's two-volume set entitled The Far West: Or, A Tour Beyond the
Mountains. Involumel, heincluded writings about St. Louisand its mounds, but more
importantly for our purpose, hewrote of hisvoyageto Cahokia.

Flagg' sjourney, when compared to Brackenridge's, wasavery similar one, with only afew
exceptions. First, there was a 25-year time span between the two, which allowed for aslight
changein scenery, particularly at the summit of Monks Mound, which | will expand on shortly.
Secondly, Flagg came to Cahokiain mid-summer, where Brackenridge arrived inthefall. And
lastly, Brackenridge came by way of aferryboat and foot, while Flagg crossed the Mississippi by

ferry and continued on horseback. Besidesthese subtle differences, the beauty of the landscape,

including Monks Mound, produced the same feelings of awe and wonder in both accounts. In
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fact, Flagg was so taken by Cahokiaand Monks Mound that he wrote more than adozen pages
solely onthetopic. Some of what Flagg felt towards Monks Mound isincluded here:

After adelightful drive of half an hour the second group of eminences, known as

the* Cantine Mounds,” appeared upon the prairie at adistance of three or four

miles, the celebrated “MonksHill,” largest monument of the kind yet discovered

in North America, heaving up its giant, forest-clothed form in the midst. What

arethereflectionsto which this stupendous earth-heap gives birth? What the

associationswhich throng the excited fancy? What afield for conjecture! What a

boundless range for the workings of imagination! What eye can view this

venerable monument of the past, thismighty landmark in thelapse of ages, this

gray chronicler of hoary centuries, and turn away uninterested? ...when he has

examined the soil of whichitiscomposed, and has discovered it to be uniformly,

throughout the entire mass, of the same mellow and friable species asthat of the

prairie at its base; and when he has listened with scrutiny to the factswhich an

examination of itsdepths hasthrown to light of its nature and its contents, heis

compelled, however reluctantly, yet without adoubt, to declarethat the gigantic

pileisincontestably the WORKMANSHIPOF MAN’ SHAND (Flagg 1838:158-

160,emphasisin original).
Flagg continued onin hiswritings, boasting about the mound asif he had just come acrossthe
rarest of gems, “How large an army of |abourers, without the use of iron utensils, aswe have
every reason to suppose was the case, would be required for scraping up from the prairie’ s
surface this huge pile; and how many yearswould sufficefor itscompletion?’ (Flagg 1838:164).
During hisvisit, besides discussing and reflecting on theincredulity of Monks Mound, he spoke
too about the current situation at the summit of the mound, which at the time of Flagg' svisit was
owned by aT. AmosHill: “the farmhouse, with its various structures, its garden, and orchard, and
well rising upon the broad area of the summit, and the carriage pathway winding up from the
base...” (Flagg 1838:159).

T. Amos Hill purchased Monks Mound and asmall tract of land surrounding the mound in
1831. Prior to hispurchase, Monks Mound and the surrounding land was in the possession of
Nicholas Jarrot, whose name wastitled to the land in December of 1809 (Fowler1997:15).
According to A Chronology of Early Land Transactionsin the Monks Mound Area, Jarrot had
purchased the 400-acre tract of 1and containing Monks Mound for $60 dollars from the heirs of

Jean B. Gonwville, who settled on theland around 1783 (Hammes 1987:89). Jarrot was apparently
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aman of wealth, because by 1800 he reportedly owned 25,000 acres of land in St. Clair, Madison,
and Monroe County in Illinoisand lived in abrick mansion in the town of Cahokia (“Lewisand
Clark inthelllinois Country” Online article presented by the Illinois State Museum). The Jarrot
mansion in the city of Cahokia, Illinoisis presently intact and today the exterior of the house can
beviewed. Theinside, however, isonly opened to the public on very special occasions.

When the Trappist Monks arrived at Cahokia, Jarrot had donated alargetract of land to them,
including some of the moundsfor land cultivation, their living quarters, and for their building
structures. Unfortunately afew yearslater some of the monks becameill, and when unable to
recover after aperiod of time, they re-conveyed theland to Jarrot and returned to France around
1816 (Wild1948[1841]:55). Later, in 1831 theland was purchased by T. Amos Hill who built
hishome and other outbuildingson Monks Mound' s third terrace. In order to make his extended
stay more comfortable, Hill cut aroad on the west face of the mound, leading from the base to the
summit, and dug awell for hiswater on the second terrace. Thewell Hill dug penetrated deep
into the mound and during Flagg’ svisit helearned from inquiry that when the well was dug,
several fragmentsof pottery, decayed ears of corn, and other articles of debriswere discovered
and thrown up to the surface from a depth of 65 feet (Flagg 1838:167).

Apparently both Mr. and Mrs. Hill lived on Monks Mound for atotal of twenty-five years,
from 1831 to 1856 (DeHass 1869:297-298). When Mr. Hill died in 1859, his body was buried at
the northwest corner of Monks Mound’ s summit, but it appearsthe Hill’ shad moved off of
Monks Mound prior to hisdeath. Itisvery possible Mr. Hill had asked to be buried on the
mound prior to hispassing. Following Hill’sdeath, Mrs. Hill continued to reside near
Collinsvillein close proximity to the mounds (DeHass 1869:297-298).

The mid 1800s brought with it afew notable artists to the CahokiaMoundsregion. From their
travels, they left uswith their various renditions of some of the mounds. One of these artistswho

visited and drew the mounds at Cahokiawas Karl Bodmer (Figure 8).
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Figure 8. Engraved portrait (1894) of Karl Bodmer by Loys Delteil, depicting Bodmer as he appeared in mid-
life. Source: Karl Bodmer’s America 1984:363.
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In 1831 Alexander Maximilian, Prince of Wied, was planning an expedition from Europeto
North Americato study the American West and the Indianswho resided there. During the course
of planning, Prince Maximilian found Swissartist, Karl Bodmer, and asked him to accompany
him on the expedition to America, atrip that would last for two yearsfrom 1832-1834. Bodmer
agreed, and in May of 1832, the expedition crew set sail for America. Bodmer’ s assignment for
the voyage was to draw and paint the various landscapes, fauna, and peopl e he encountered along
theway. Meanwhile, Maximilian kept journal records of their daily activitiesasthey traveled the
Ohio and Missouri Rivers. Bodmer’ sartwork composed during the expedition captured some of
the most primitive and realistic images of the American Indian and the still largely unsettled
western frontier before theinvention of the photograph. Bodmer did an excellent job depicting
the essence and splendor of thetimes.

During areturntripto St. Louis, the expedition membersled by Maximilian stopped at
Cahokia. During their stay Bodmer composed two drawings. One drawing was of Monks Mound
showing itseastern face (Figure 9), and the second drawing depicted aview looking south from
MonksMound (Figure 10). Bodmer’ sdrawings provide the viewer of these drawingsaclear
visual image of how Monks Mound and some of its surrounding mounds appeared in the 1830s.

Another professional artist to visit Cahokiawas John Casper Wild, more commonly known by
hisabbreviated name J.C. Wild. Wild was alithographer living in St. Louisand visited Cahokia
in 1841. One of hismost recognizable worksis a200-page volume book titled The Valley of the
Mississippi. Here Wild captures the timeswith descriptions and drawings of variouslandmarks
and scenic views along the Mississippi River. Some of hisdrawingsinclude the St. Louis Court
House, St. LouisUniversity, aview of St. Charles, Missouri, afew general panoramas of St.
Louis, the PiasaBird painting in Alton, lllinois, and the mounds at Cahokia. Wild’ sdrawing of
Cahokiadepictstwo men (Wild and his companion) peering out into the plain from the top of
Persimmon Mound (Mound 51) (Figure 11). They appear to belooking in asouthwest direction

with Monks Mound in theforeground to their right. Thetwo larger moundsillustrated in the
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drawing to the left are today known as the Jesse Ramey Mound (Mound 56), and behind it to the
farthest left, isthe Fox Mound (Mound 60). Wild' s description of the Jesse Ramey Mound reads,
“One of them risesvery steeply in aconical form and has alarge tree growing near the top of it.
At adistanceit looks not unlike alarge helmet-cap of adragoon with afeather initsside”
(Wild1948[1841]:50). At the summit of MonksMound, Wild'sdrawing depicts agrowth of
trees, ahouse, and several outbuildings belonging to the owner T. AmosHill.

During Wild' s stay, he must have climbed to the top of Monks Mound at some point, because
he describes the view from the top as* of exceeding beauty” (1948 [1841]: 54). At the base of the
small mound where the drawing was taken from, in aperiod of minutes Wild and his companion
found on the surface of the ground, “about half a peck of broken bones and pieces of pottery and
flint. One of those bones, which isnearly perfect, is evidently the arm bone of a human being”
(Wild1948[1841]:53). Wild' sfindsdemonstrated that despite Cahokiabeing abandoned for
hundreds of years, theland still showed signs of heavy occupation from its previous prehistoric
inhabitants.

Onetraveler of the time who sketched Monks Mound (Figure 12) and wrote of his experiences
at Cahokiain hiswork titled, Excursion through the Save Sates, was G.W. Featherstonhaugh.
Likemost othersbefore him, Featherstonhaugh, pronounced *“ Fanshaw” (Fowler 1969:8), was
busy exploring the unsettled land of the continent. He and his cohorts around 1834-1835 had
made their way to Cahokiato document their finds. During Featherstonhaugh’s stay, hewas
tempted to open one of the small moundswith hopes of finding an ancient chief, but he and his
companionswere not prepared to: “night was coming on, we had at least six milesto walk, and
ran somerisk of not reaching the Mississippi before the last trip of the steam ferry-boat”
(Featherstonhaugh 1844:268- 269).

What is magnificent about these early travel ers, some bringing their own drawings of the
moundsto the table, and others sharing their unique perspectives of the areain their writings, is

that their works enable us as areader from the 21° century to cometo abetter understanding of

32



s 1

Figure 12. G.W. Featherstonhaugh’s 1844 drawing of Monks Mound viewed from the
south looking north. Source: Featherstonhaugh 1844:267.

the overall feeling of the times and the eventstaking place at Cahokiain thefirst half of the
nineteenth century. Because we were not there, we can only use our imagination based upon
these earlier scholars’ storiesand drawings. Upon the discovery of the New World centuries ago,
countless curiousindividuals set foot in this new place, equipped to map, explore, and document
this vast and largely unspoiled land. Some of these explorers| have already mentioned were
commissioned to travel, while otherstravel ed throughout North Americaunder their own free
will. Either way, they went about their way to document and tell of their many finds. A number
of those fortunate men had the opportunity to visit Cahokiaand tell ustheir story. Warren King
Moorehead, theleading Cahokiainvestigator in the 1920s believed it was these men who “ saw
Cahokiaat itsbest” (Moorehead 1922:7). To theseforerunnerswho wrote of Cahokia' searliest

history, we are ever grateful.
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Chapter 2
Cahokiav invthe Works

One of thefirst archaeol ogiststo visit the Cahokia area between 1848 and 1860 was Dr.
CharlesRau. Rauwasbornin Belgiumin 1826, and asayoung adult attended school in
Germany at the University of Heidelberg. While studying at Heidelberg he decided to leave his
education for work intheironindustry. Itisbelieved that Rau’ s studies at Heidelberg had at some
point impacted hisinterestsin European archaeol ogy and later American archaeology (Kelly
2002:118). 1n 1848, at age twenty-two, Rau left Germany for America. Crossing the Atlantic, he
landed in New Orleans and found hisway into the St. Louis area, where he lived and worked for
over adecade asateacher. Beginning as early as 1850, Rau taught a variety of subjects,
including language, history, geography, and natural sciences, at aschool in Belleville, Illinois. In
1855 helectured on topicsin mineralogy, geology, and general botany at the newly established
St. Louis College of Medicine and Natural Science (Kelly 2002:121-122). In additionto Rau’s
teaching career, hewasacollector of Indian relics, and often wrote on topicsin archaeology and
anthropology. By 1863, he had written twenty-two articles on topics pertaining to North
American antiquities.

In 1860, Rau visited the Cahokia area, more specifically theleft bank of the Cahokia Creek, at

the northern extremity of Illinoistown, opposite St. Louis (Rau 2006 [1867]:347). At the time of



hisvisit, Rau walked the bank of the Cahokia Creek, examining the pottery he found exposed on
theground along theway. In Rau’ sarticlewritten for the Smithsonian entitled “Indian Pottery”,
he described in detail the types of pottery sherds hewitnessed, including their variationsin size,
thickness, coloring, shape, tempering, and design. On hiswalk, he found some areas near the
bank that had been dug out sometime ago. Based upon careful examination, Rau was convinced
that the dug out spots he discovered were the places where the aborigines had once gathered clay
for the manufacturing of their pottery (Rau 2006 [1867]:347).

Charles Rau’ swritingsin “Indian Pottery” confirm his presence at Cahokiain the 1860s, but
thisisthe only known documentation of his presence at the site. He may have very well spent
moretime excavating here, but if so, he never gave mention of it.

Inone of Rau’ sarticlesentitled “ A Deposit of Agricultura Flint Implementsin Southern
Illinois’, hereported adiscovery, made known to him by Cahokianotable Dr. John J.R. Patrick,
of alargedeposit of unused flint implementsfound in East St. Louiswhen laborerswere grading
an extension on Sixth Street (Rau 2006 [1869]:402). During the grading, he explainsthat there
were about 50 flint hoes and approximately 20 flint shovelsfound in-situ in perfect unused
condition along with many small marine shellsand several large pieces of flint and greenstone.
Familiar with North American flint implements, Rau wastheindividual who classified the
prehistoric digging toolsas*“ shovels’ and “hoes’.

In the early 1860s, for unknown reasons, Rau left St. Louis and found work as ateacher in
New York City. Although hewasaskilled instructor, his hope wasto one day find ajob working
inthefield of archaeology. In 1875, Rau had some good fortune and was hired by the
Smithsonian Institution in Washington, D.C. for the purpose of organizing archaeol ogical related
artifactsfor the 1876 Centennial Expositionin Philadelphia. At the exposition Rau displayed
artifactsfrom the collections of hisfriend John J.R. Patrick (Kelly 2002:125). Afterwards, Rau

continued to work for the Smithsonian, and later in life held thetitle of curator for the Department
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of Archaeology at the Institution. He held thistitle until hisdeath in 1887. Fiveyearsprior to his
passing Rau received aPh.D. degreefrom the University of Freiburgin Germanyl.

Dr. John J.R. Patrick, with whom Rau was well acquainted, was alarge contributor toward the
preservation at CahokiaMounds during the late 1800s. In Rau’ s 1868 article, when discussing
the discovery of the cache of flintimplementsin East St. Louis, it becomes strikingly apparent of
Patrick’ s deep interest and concern for al that entails archaeology. Rau’ sreport reads, “ As soon
asDr. Patrick heard of the discovery, he hastened to East St. Louis, for the purpose of
ascertaining on the spot all details concerning the occurrence of thoseflint tools; and in order to
obtain still more minuteinformation, he afterwardsrepeatedly revisited the place of discovery
which isabout 14 milesdistant from Belleville, and can be reached after ashort ride, the latter
place being connected by railroad with East St. Louis” (Rau 2006 [1869]:402).

Dr. John J.R. Patrick, adentist from Belleville, Illinois, was one of thefirst to acknowledge
the need for an accurate map of the mounds at Cahokia. 1n 1876, with hisown money, he hired
Surveyor F.G. Hilgard of St. Clair County with the help of B.J. Vancourt of O’ Fallon, Illincisand
William J. Seever of St. Louis, to create an accurate map of the mounds at Cahokia (Figure 13).
Prior to 1876 no person had ever attempted to thoroughly map the mounds. Instead, the mounds
on early maps of the region werelabeled vaguely such as*Indian Ancient Tombs’ to mark their
locations. The Patrick map of Cahokiaincluded the preciselocations and shapes of the mounds.
Most of the mounds were shaded in with colors ranging from light gray to black to emphasize
their heights. Patrick afterwardsassigned numbersto 71 of the mounds, placing one number
beside each mound on hismap (Figure 14). Today Patrick’smound numbersare still in use by
archaeol ogistswhen referring to themounds. Archaeologist Warren K. Moorehead, whois

considered alegend in regardsto Cahokia spreservation and researchin the early 1920s, believed

! For adetailed description of Rau's life and career read John E. Kelly’s selection in New Per spectives on
the Origins of Americanist Archaeology entitled “ Developmentsin the Career of a Nineteenth-Century
German-American Archaeologist”.
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Figure 14. Photograph of the Cahokia Mounds Group Patrick Map at the Missouri Historical Society.
Photograph shows a closer view of Monks Mound and surrounding mounds of the main group. Mound
numbers were placed beside the mounds on the map. Map by John J.R. Patrick, 1876. [Patrick Map #1].

Photograph taken in fall, 2008. Courtesy of the Missouri Historical Society.
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the Patrick map of Cahokiato be, “ The best and most complete map of the Cahokiagroup | have
observed” (Moorehead 1922:13). Hetoo spoke highly of Patrick by calling him,
“one of the pioneersin Cahokiawork” (Moorehead 1929:96).

Patrick not only had the mounds at Cahokia mapped, but proceeded to have surveyors map the
remaining moundsin East St. Louis (Figure 15 and 16), the Fairmont City or Powell group of
mounds (Figure 17 and 18), and the " Snyder Groupe,” southwest of Cahokia, today known asthe
Pulcher site. On the map containing the moundsin East St. Louis, surveyorsindicated the place
where Big Mound once stood in St. Louis beforeitsdestructionin 1869. In addition to these
maps, amore detailed map of Monks Mound was created the same year (Figure 19), making for a
total of five maps,2 all completed prior to 1880. Of the five Patrick maps, we know that Patrick
intended for at least three of them to connect with one another for the purpose of viewing them as
one map. Theseinclude the main Cahokia map showing 71 mounds, the map showing the western
portion of the Cahokiasiteillustrating the Powell group of mounds, and the East St. Louis map.
We know Patrick intended for these three maps to connect because he keyed them for connection.
For example, where Collinsville Road ends on the Powell map and whereit continues on the
main Cahokiamap, Patrick placed aletter “A” on both maps. When aigning both “A”swith one
another, the two maps unite asone. Thesameistruefor the East St. Louis Patrick map. Asfor
theindividual detailed map of Monks Mound, Patrick intended it to be viewed as a separate unit.

When taking acloser look at Patrick’s Pulcher map, it becomesalittle more problematicin
determining whether or not he intended it to connect with the other three.

When the Patrick maps were donated to the Missouri Historical Society, they werein very

poor condition and had been stored rolled up in long mailing-type tubes. Inthelate 1990s, the

2 Map 1, measures 51.25” x 74.75" and illustrates the Cahokia Mounds Historic Site. Map 2, measures
70.5” x 22.5” and includes a series of mounds along the south bank of Indian Lake between the Cahokia
Mound Group and the East St. Louis Mound (Fairmont City). Map 3, measures 23.75" x 42.25" and
includes the East St. Louis Mound Group and Big Mound. Map 4 measures 15.5" x 10.5" and is a detailed
map of Monks Mound. Lastly Map 5, measures 18" x 40" and includes what was once known as the
Snyder’s Mound Group, but today called the Pulcher Mound Group. (This information on the
measurements of the Patrick maps was retrieved from a letter addressed to the Missouri Historical Society).
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Figure 16. Photograph of the East St. Louis Mound Group and Big Mound in St. Louis, Patrick Map at
the Missouri Historical Society [Patrick Map #3]. Map by John J.R. Patrick, 1876. Photograph taken in
the fall, 2008. Courtesy of the Missouri Historical Society.
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Figure 17. Photograph of the Powell Mound Patrick Map at the Missouri Historical Society. Map
includes a series of mounds along the south bank of Indian Lake between the Cahokia Mound Group and
the East St. Louis Mound Group [Patrick Map #2]. Map by John J.R. Patrick, 1876. Photograph taken in

the fall, 2008. Courtesy of the Missouri Historical Society.
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Figure 18. Photograph of the Powell Mound Patrick Map at the Missouri Historical Society. Photograph
shows the eastern portion of the map. The Powell Mound group of mounds is located on the west end of
the Cahokia site. The rectangular mound on this map is the Powell Mound, Mound 86, which was for the
most part destroyed in 1931 [Patrick Map #2]. Map by John J.R. Patrick, 1876. Photograph taken in the
fall, 2008. Courtesy of the Missouri Historical Society.



L

Figure 19. Survey of Cahokia Mound. Executed on November 5 1876 showing detail of Monks
Mound [Patrick Map #4] [Preconservation photograph, March 1997]. Missouri Historical Society
Library. Photograph by David Schultz, 1997. NS21083. Missouri Historical Society.
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Historical Society, together with the Cahokia M ounds Museum Society, and The Greater St.
LouisArchaeological Society spent thousandsof dollarstowardstheir conservation (Emily
Jaycox of the Missouri Historical Society, personal communication 2008) and four of the maps
wereflattened, repaired, and stabilized. Of thefive Patrick maps, the“ Snyder Groupe”, also
known as the Pulcher map, isyet to be conserved. Because the Pulcher map isin such poor
condition, it makesit difficult to determineits connection with the other maps. And becausethe
Pulcher Siteislocated several miles southwest of the CahokiaMound Group and the East St.
LouisMound Group, itisunlikely that the Pulcher Map connectswith the other Patrick maps. In
addition to hismaps, Dr. Patrick also donated many artifactsfound in and around the Cahokia
area, and today these are stored with the Society’ sMuseum Collections.

In 1880, Patrick and Frederic Ward Putnam, curator of the Peabody Museum of Archaeology
and Ethnology at Harvard University, published areport inthe 12" Annual Report of the Peabody
Museum, which included some discussion of Monks Mound, along with two illustrations of two
models made by Patrick. One of the models shows the appearance of Monks Mound asit
appeared in 1879, one year prior to the report’ s publication (Figure 20), and the other shows both
Putnam’ sand Patrick’ s beliefs on how the mound appeared in prehistoric times(Figure 21). In
1891, the original Patrick maps, including two cast iron replicas of Patrick’ sMonks Mound
models, were placed in the care of the Missouri Historical Society’ s collectionswherethey reside
today.

By the late 1800s, there were only afew small excavationsever undertaken on MonksMound.
Thefirst excavation on record was conducted by T. Amos Hill, when digging awell on the west
side of the mound, and again, when laying the foundation for his house and outbuildings on the
summit. In both cases, artifactsand cultural debrisfrom human occupation were discovered in
the process. Furthermore, Hill apparently removed asmall mound on the southeast corner of
MonksMound’ sthird terrace (Fowler 1997:17), for the purpose of building hiscellar, icehouse,

and cisterninitsplace (Skele 1988:31).
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Figure 20. Drawing of a model of Monks Mound made by Dr. Patrick as the mound
appeared in 1878 with uneven and gullied sides showing age. The dark line going up the
mound’s western face indicates a road cut out by the previous owner T. Amos Hill who

once lived on the mound’'s summit. Source: Putnam and Patrick 1880:472.
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Figure 21. Drawing of a model of Monks Mound made by Dr. Patrick showing how the
mound probably appeared during prehistoric times prior to surface alterations such as
plowing and natural causes such as heavy rains. A. and B. are the lowest platforms or
terraces; C. the second terrace; D. the third terrace; E. the fourth and highest terrace.
Source: Putnam and Patrick 1880:474.
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The second account of excavation came from another owner, Thomas J. Ramey, who
purchased alargetract of Cahokialand, whichincluded Monks Mound in 1864. Following its
purchase, the Ramey family built abrick house at the base of Monks Mound’ s northwest corner.
They too built afence, which upon completion surrounded both the house and Monks Mound
(Skele 1988:31). When hearing of along standing rumor that apinetree situated on the northern
face of Monks Mound marked the entry way to avault or room with treasure, Mr. Ramey was
determined to locateit. He began by digging next to the tree and proceeded to dig atunnel
approximately 90 feet towards the center, only to find asingle piece of lead-ore. Disappointingly
for Mr. Ramey, he found nothing else.

One“excavation” inthelate 1800s at Cahokiathat resulted in better luck was recorded by
Reverend Stephen Peet. Following his graduation from Beloit Collegein Wisconsinin 1851, and
during hisenrollment at Y ale Divinity School studying to become aPresbyterian minister, Peet
found alovefor old world archaeol ogy, and later North American archaeology, through his
collegereadings. After hisgraduation from Divinity School, hetraveled to various western states
asachurch missionary, and later became apastor establishing churchesin Ohio, Wisconsin, and
Illinois. Many of the churches he founded werein close proximity to some prehistoric Indian
Mounds, including those at Cahokia. | can only imagine that his close presence to the mounds
furthered hisinterests and research of the mounds. 1n 1878, Peet founded the American
Antiquarian, one of thefirst archaeological journals of thetime, and for 32 years he served asits
manager and editor. Peet also published anumber of articlesfor thejournal, one of which
appeared in aJanuary 1891 issue entitled “ The Great CahokiaMound”. Init, Peet mentioned that
prior to hisarrival to Cahokia, he had |earned that workmen digging drainage ditchesin the area
had found anumber of pottery piecesand human skeletons, but rather than carefully digging them
up, the men had recklessly broken them. Peet described some of the artifacts discovered by the
workers:

One specimenwas especially interesting. It represented asquirrel holding
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inits pawsastick, the teeth placed around the stick asif gnawing it, the
whole making ahandleto the vessel. We noticed also afrog-shaped pipe
made from sand-stone, and many other animal-shaped and bird-shaped
figures. The object which impressed us most was a sand-stone tabl et,
which contained figures very much like those found upon the inscribed
tabl ets taken from one of the mounds of the Etowah group in Georgia
(Peet 1891:9-10).

In the same issue of the Antiquarian Peet included a sketch of the sandstone tabl et to provide
readerswith abetter idea of itsappearance. A photograph of thetablet is shown herein (Figure

22).

Figure 22. The engraved sandstone tablet described by Reverend Stephen Peet in 1891.
The photograph above shows the front half of the tablet and the reverse side. Source:

Fowler 1997:20.

Fortunately, for the sake of Cahokia, the Ramey family heavily supported theidea of protecting
themoundson their property. Inoneinstance, an Eastern College sent atrain full of students,
workmen, and professorsto Cahokiawith picks and shovelsfor the purpose of investigating
MonksMound. Asthegroup neared the mound, they were met by the owner, Thomas Ramey
who curiously asked, “Where areyou going?’ When one professor told him they were planning
to dig into thelargest mound, Ramey told them with afirm voice that they were not allowed (S.
Louis Globe-Democrat 1917). Thegroup, to their dissatisfaction, left with nothing more than the
digging toolsthey came with.

After Ramey passed away, his children upheld the same protective attitude astheir father by
prohibiting digging to take place on their land. However, thevisibility of artifacts present onthe
ground and the growing knowledge of what lied beneath the mounds, did tempt some curious

localsinto trespassing onto Ramey’ s property. One man, Oscar Schneider, who moved to the
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Callinsvilleareain 1914, admitted that he violated the rules, but only once (Brown 1977:2- 3).
Using aspading fork, Schneider dug on top of one of the round top mounds south of Monks
Mound, where he found ahuman skeleton. Lying ontop of the skeleton’ s chest was a copper
serpent figure, which he kept, along with ablack steatite earring (Brown 1977:2-3). Schneider is
just one exampl e of the numerousindividualswho collected artifacts from CahokiaMounds
during thisearly period. Therewerethose who secretly “excavated” on their own and then there
were otherswho were surface collectors. One of the detrimental effects of doing such athing, is
theloss of provenience. Once an artifact istaken out of context, thereisa sharp drop in the
amount of knowledge we can gain from the discovery. During thistimein history, there were no
ordinances against digging into the mounds. Inthose days, and till true today, if amound
happened to be on aperson’ s property, and they found it adisturbance, the owner could tear it
down without consequence. Several moundsin the areaincluding one of the larger mounds at
Cahokia, the Powell Mound, met their end thisway.

Although Ramey’ sturf was off limitsto the majority of citizens, he did allow acouple of
individualsto dig on the property, one of who was William W. McAdams. McAdamswasalocal
Missouri resident and scholar, passionate on the topic of archaeol ogy, especially the mounds at
Cahokia. Inthelate 1800s he becameinvolved with the site, conducting afew excavations and
writing anumber of articles about some of hisfinds and his knowledge of Cahokia. It wasat the
base of the northeast corner of Monks M ound where he made one of hisgrandest discoveries.
Theyear was 1882, and there to accompany McAdamsin thefield was Dr. John J.R. Patrick,
McAdams' son Clark, and afew other workmen. In achapter of the book entitled History of
Madison County, Illinois, McAdamswrote, “ At thefoot of the Cahokiatemple we were so
fortunate asto discover asort of tomb or burial place and in size less than two rods square, amid
the crumbling dust of near a score of human skeletons, we found about ahundred vessel s of

pottery inalmost perfect condition” (McAdams 1882:62).
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William McAdamswasn’t the only individual in hisfamily who was fascinated with
archaeology. Growing up, William’ s son Clark often accompanied hisfather inthefield, and
together they spent yearsexploring and digging into the moundsaong the lllinois River. In
Clark’ searly life, hewas constantly immersed in the subject and thisiswhat drove hisinitial
interest in archaeology. Inoneof Clark McAdams' articlestitled The Archaeology of Illinois, he
reminisced of life growing up in hisfather’ s house and the knowledge heinherited at ayoung
age:
In my father’ shouse there were many manifestations of devotion to the subject. Indian
axesheld our doors gjar in the summer. Our mantle vases came from the mounds. Most
of our family commandments pertained to the care of preciousflintsand fragile pots...|
was quite familiar with the great Cahokiamound before | heard of the pyramids of
Egypt...Discoidal, | think, wasthefirst big word in the lexicon of my youth (McAdams
1908:35).

Clark further described the atmosphere he grew up in:
Kindred spiritsvisited my father’ shouse. They worethefirst long black coats of which |
have any recollection. They spent daysinvestigating the thingsin our house, which was
averitable museum; and | have sometimes had the vain thought that they must have
regarded my brother and me asvery valorous youngsters, for the room in which we slept
was frequently the repository for arow of grinning skulls, while on the wall behind was
theterrible picture which some of you may recall of Neanderthal man restored
(McAdams 1908:35).

Clark McAdams' early involvement with Cahokiawas more than enough for himto realize the
site’ simportanceto Illinois history. In hiswritings, he often emphasized to hisreadersthe
desperate need for Cahokia sprotection. Inoneinstance Clark wrote, “If the great Cahokia
mound belonged to the Illinois Historical Society and enjoyed its protection, what acomfort it
would beto those of usthat tremblefor itsfuture!” (McAdams 1908:37). Furthermore, inan
addressbeforethelllinoisHistorical Society, Clark insisted that Monks Mound and the rest of the
mounds at Cahokiabe preserved (Skele 1988:38).

In 1893, both father and son were responsiblefor preparing an archaeological exhibit to be
revealed at the World' s Columbian Exposition in Chicago, lllinois. For the exhibit, they showed

artifactsthey had collected from the mounds at Cahokia. Later in 1906, Clark collaborated with Dr.
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CyrusA. Peterson to create amap of Cahokia, whichwasprivately distributed (Fowler1997:47).
Themap wasreprinted in 1928, in Addison J Throop’s, The Moundbuildersof Illinois (Figure 23).

Dr. John J.R. Patrick was another individual who dug to some extent in the Cahokiaarea. In
the early 1920s, after Patrick had passed away, archaeol ogist Warren King M oorehead met with
Patrick’ swidow, Mrs. John Bauman, who showed M oorehead some of Patrick’ sfield notesfrom
1878 and 1879. Patrick’snotesindicated he had dug into anumber of places along Cahokia
Creek and into some low mounds (M oorehead 1923:43). In hisnotes Patrick also wrote about
finding severd artifactsincluding effigy pottery, askeleton, and a skull accompanied by acopper
plate (Moorehead 1923:43-44). But regrettably, according to Moorehead, Patrick did not indicate
the preciselocationswhere hefound his material, nor the mound numbers specifying where he
dug.

One man from thistime period who undeniably deserves credit as aleading force towards the
preservation of Cahokia smoundsis John Francis Snyder (Figure 24). Dr. John Francis Snyder
wasbornin March, 1830, in afarmhouse at the base of an Indian Mound south of Cahokia
(Figure 25), an areatoday known asthe Pulcher site. Snyder spent the later half of hislifeliving
inVirginia, lllinois and was trained both asamedical doctor and lawyer. He studied medicine
because as a child he was persuaded to find a career that would help support hisfamily, but he
never had apassion for the occupation he held. Inoneinstance, he confided in aletter to afriend
that hefound his profession “ obnoxious’ (Connolly 1962:16). Later inlife, hewasfinancially
stable enough to pursue what he enjoyed: geology, history, and archaeology. Another interest of
his was collecting everything that he found to befascinating. Included in hiscollectionswere

history books, stones, corals, shells, starfish, insects, skullsof animalsand birds, fossils, crystals,
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Figure 24. Dr. John Francis Snyder. Source: Connolly 1962.



ores, old state bank notes, framed continental notes printed by Benjamin Franklin, and mounted
heads of animalsto nameonly afew. Some of hisolder artifacts were shown at the World's
Columbian Exposition in Chicago and other itemswere exhibited in abuilding close to hishome
(Connolly 1962:17-18). The most numerousrelicsin hiscollectionswere thousands of Indian
artifacts. Asayoung child, Snyder wandered about Indian mounds, which likely prompted his
lovefor archaeology. Most of the Indian artifactsin his collectionswere found during
excavations he conducted himself at moundsin Illinois. Thereisno evidence showing that
Snyder ever excavated into any of the mounds at Cahokia, but he did explore and write site
reportsof hiswork at the Baehr site, the Hempl ull site (sometimes referred to as the Hemphill
site), and the Brown County Ossuary in lllinois (Fowler 1962:183). When Snyder found time, he
read every available writing on the subject of archaeology and even published some of hisown

articleson thetopic.

Figure 25. Square Mound located at a site today known as the Pulcher Site, southwest of
Cahokia Mounds. The house was built by Adam W. Snyder at the base of an Indian Mound,
and there Dr. John Francis Snyder was born and spent the first three years of his life.

Source: Connolly 1962:313 (Plate 37).

One of the issues he wrote of was the desperate need for the study and preservation of ancient
remainsin lllinois. What Snyder recognized, and one of thefirst of histimeto do so, wasthat

archaeological siteswerein constant danger from the daily advancements of modern man. As
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time continued to pass, so did the passing of the mounds. Archaeol ogical remnants such asthose
in St. Louisand East St. Louis had already fallen victim to the growing cities, and Snyder had
personally witnessed somemoundsin Illinoisleveled off to makeway for construction projects,
particularly the construction of therailroads. Watching theseirreplaceabletime capsulesbeing
decapitated one by one, and on top of that coming to the realization that only asmall number of
people seemed to have any empathy towards the mounds, left asicknessin his stomach. Snyder
knew something had to be done to gain the awareness of the people and to protect the mounds
that still remained. Snyder was particularly concerned about the mounds at Cahokia, especialy
MonksMound. At thefirst meeting of the Illinois State Historical Society in January 6, 1900,
Snyder frantically pleaded for both state aid to investigate the mounds and for the preservation of
Illinoisantiquity. What frustrated Snyder wasthat whilethe prehistoric sitesin lllinoiswere
largely ignored, Illinois I nstitutions supported archaeol ogical research onforeign lands (Connolly
1962:19). Despite Snyder’ sefforts, hiswork had failed to persuade thelllinois State officialsto
purchase land at Cahokia. Then, in 1911 Snyder formed an organization named the “ Monks of
Cahokia’, whose main objective wasto support the effort to turn Monks Mound and surrounding
land into aprotected state park. Later, intheearly 1920s, Snyder requested for archaeol ogist
Warren King Moorehead to visit Cahokiato help proveto the state legisators that Cahokiawas
worth saving (Y oung and Fowler 2000:33).

David|. Bushnell, Jr., aSt. Louis native and assistant in archaeology at the Peabody Museum
of American Archaeology and Ethnology at Harvard University, studied the mounds of the
American Bottom region in the early 1900s, and in 1904 he published a 20 page report titled The
Cahokia and Surrounding Mound Groups, dedicated to describing some of the mound groups he
observed. The mound groups he described included the Cahokia M ound Group, the East St.
LouisMound Group, the St. Louis Mound Group, agroup of mounds north of Cahokianear Long
Lake (today called the Mitchell Site), the moundsin Forest Park in St. Louis, and two mounds

situated on the bluffs northeast of Cahokia. A map of the northern portion of the American
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Bottomisincluded in Bushnell’ sintroductory pagesfor the purpose of showing therelative
locations of the mound groups and their distancesfrom one another. The mounds represented on
his map appear as small black dots.

Two groups of mounds Bushnell mentionsin hisreport, and regrettably not much isknown
about them, are the moundsthat once existed in Forest Park in St. Louis, near the River Des Peres
at the center of the western half of the park. One grouping consisted of nine mounds closeto the
bank of theriver and the second group included seven mounds approximately 1,000 feet south of
thefirst group (Figure 26).

In 1901 thecity of St. Louis planned to demolish the moundslocated within the park, in
preparation for the 1904 World' s Fair (Bushnell 1904:13). And apparently, the mounds were not
the only disturbanceto the park’ slandscape. Around the same time the mounds were intended for
removal, the River Des Peres, running through the park, and heavily polluted by thistime, was
not fit for display to the soon to be fairgoers. Reportedly, by 1904, the city began enclosing the
portion of theriver in alarge wooden box, keeping the sight and smell of theriver hidden from
thevisitors (Allen 2003).

Inthefall of 1901 Bushnell was granted permission to explore the Forest Park mounds prior
totheir destruction. Of the 16 mounds, he reported excavating into five of them; Mounds A, B,
C, E, and F (Figure 26). Theextent of hisfindsincluded fragmentary remains of three human
skeletons, fragments of pottery and chert, and charcoal on the original surfaces of two of the
mounds. Outside of the park, to the south, were several isolated moundsthat, “werelikewise
explored but no objectswerediscovered” (Bushnell 1904:15). Although Bushnell confirmshis
excavationsinto these five mounds, aswell as several mounds outside of the park, his
descriptionsprovided of hisexplorations are very brief.

In 1922, asecond report by Bushnell was published by the Smithsonian Institution entitled

Archeological Reconnai ssance of the Cahokia and Related Mound Groups. Thisreportissimilar
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Figure 26. Mounds once existing in Forest Park in St. Louis, Missouri. David Bushnell
Jr. conducted limited excavations here in 1901 and included this map in his article titled
“The Cahokia and Surrounding Mound Groups’. Source: Bushnell 1904:14.
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to thefirst report published in 1904, but has afew noticeable differences. For one, in the 1922
report, Bushnell provides some discussion on hisvisit to amound group south of Cahokianow
known asthe Pulcher site. He visited thismound group inthefall of 1921, and afterwards
updated his map of the American Bottom, thistimeincluding Pulcher, what he callsthe South
Group (Figure 27). What isextraordinary about his 1922 report isthat it contains four of thefirst
aerial photographsever taken of Cahokia s moundsand moreover thefirst aerial photographs
taken of any of the earthworksin North America(Bushnell 1922:100) (Figure 28).

In February, 1922, (Fowler 1997:21) under the instruction of Mgjor Frank M. Kennedy, two
pilotsfrom Scott Fieldin Belleville, Illinois, Lieutenant Harold R. Wellsand Lieutenant Ashley
C. McKinley, flew over Cahokiaand took thefirst aerial photographs of the site. It just so
happened though, the weather conditions along with the air pollution coming from the factories
on the ground below resulted in photographs of poor quality. Despite the poor quality of the
photos, Bushnell decided to go ahead and include four of the photosin his 1922 report for the
purpose of keeping arecord of thefirst aerial photographstaken at Cahokia.

A second flight attempt for aerial photographs of Cahokiawas made a couple of monthslater
inApril, 1922. For many years, Dr. A.R. Crook, geologist and head of thelllinois State Museum
wasinterested in obtaining aerial photographs of Cahokiabecause he believed they would help
interpret the mounds' origins (Kelly 2000:30). At thisperiod in the 1900s, there was some doubt
that the earthworks of Eastern North America, including the mounds at Cahokia, were man-made.
Instead someindividuals, like Crook, were under theimpression that the mounds at Cahokiawere
natural forming geological features. Crook began looking for air pilotsby contacting individuals
from the War Department, but nothing came of it. Finally, in 1922 Crook found two men from
the Army Air Service who were capable of making aflight over Cahokia. Thetwo menwho
wereresponsiblefor theflight and photographswere Lieutenant George W. Goddard and his
assistant, Lieutenant H.K. Ramey. Thedifference between thefirst attempt and the second isthat

the second attempt produced photographs of exceptional quality (Figure 29). The photographs
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Figure 27. David Bushnell’s map showing the locations of mound groups in the American
Bottoms. Source: Bushnell 1922:93.
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Figure 28. Four of the first aerial photographs taken at Cahokia during the winter of 1921and 1922 by
Lieutenant Harold R. Wells and Lieutenant Ashley C. McKinley. These photos were included in
Bushnell’s “ Archaeological Reconnaissance of the Cahokia and Related Mound Groups’. Top left photo:
Monks Mound in the north center. Top right photo: Monks Mound at top left and a rectangular mound in
the center. Bottom right photo: Mound located one and a half miles west of Monks Mound (Powell
Mound). Bottom left photo: Mound north of Monks Mound, partly removed (camera pointing west).
Source: Bushnell 1922:98-99.

61



o o T

e

Figure 29. One of the Goddard aerial photographs taken in 1922 of the west half of the Cahokia site
shot from the east. Soiircer Fowler 1997:22.
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have since given archaeol ogists and othersinterested in the areaan opportunity to view the site as
it appeared from the sky in 1922. Furthermore, from the photographs one can come to a better
understanding of the soil patterns of the site aswell asthe locations of mounds that once existed
beforethey wererazed. 1t wasin the 1960sthat archaeol ogist Melvin Fowler closely examined
the soil patternsreveal ed in these 1922 photographs, and in conducting test excavationsin the
location of faint white lines shown on the photographs, archaeol ogistswere ableto find clear
evidence of astockade wall that once surrounded the core of the site.

One last noticeable difference between Bushnell’ stwo reportsisthat the 1904 report does not
directly point out the need for Cahokia' s preservation, rather he only mentionsthat some mounds
were being cultivated and some smaller ones being taken down altogether. The 1922 report
however, clearly addresses hisdesire and the need for the largest mound to be preserved. Calling
MonksMound*“ Cahokia”, Bushnell writes:

Cahokiaisthelargest earthwork in the United States and one of the most
remarkable monuments|eft by the nativetribes. Fortunately it remainsinits
original condition, practically untouched sincethe coming of Europeans, andin
thiscondition it should be preserved. With each succeeding generation, as the
lesser mounds and other earthworks disappear by reason of the cultivation of the
soil or the requirement of the land for other purposes, thisgreat terraced work is
destined to become of greater popular interest and immediate steps should be
takentomake certainitspreservation” (Bushnell 1922:96).
Onthefollowing page he reiterated the message by saying, “ And although many of the lesser
mounds havethuslost their original form and appearance, Cahokiaremainsthe most important
and impressive native work inthe Valley of the Mississippi. Asthe great mound now standsit
should be preserved: to permit its destruction would be acalamity, and irreparablelossto future
generations’ (Bushnell 1922:97).

The owner of Monks Mound, Thomas Ramey and hisfamily, like so many others, had wished

to see Cahokiaprotected asa state park. Thomas Ramey hel ped advocate for the mounds’ safety

by addressing Cahokia simportanceto otherswhile serving asamember of thelllinois Genera

Assembly in the 1890s. But sadly Thomas Ramey did not live to see Cahokia s mounds sheltered
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inapark setting. Ramey passed away in 1899, followed by hiswife nineyearslater. Their death
brought sorrow to many, but a so put individuals such as Snyder on edge asto what might happen
to the property if the land was not purchased by his successors. The biggest worry wasthat if the
Ramey heirsdid not purchase the property, Monks Mound would be purchased by an East St.
L ouisbrewery who would convert the property into aresort and beer garden (Kelly 2000:11).
Furthermore, if the brewery purchased theland, there wasthe possibility they would honeycomb
Monks Mound for the storage of their alcohol products (Kelly 2000:11). Another rumor in
circulation around this time was that Monks Mound was to be taken down by steam shovelswho
would then useits soil to fill in low-1ying areas a ong the American Bottoms (M oorehead
1922:37). Thesefactors, along with the continuousworry that urbanization would eventually
lead to Cahokia sdestruction, prompted abill to beintroduced to the lllinois state legislators. On
March 12, 1913 Representative Norman Flagg, of Moro, Illinois, introduced abill that proposed
to set aside $250,000 dollarsfor the purchase of 200 acresfor a state park. By thispoint in time,
arather large number of individuals, especially from Illinoisand Missouri, had become conscious
of the potential destruction that would occur if nothing were done to protect the mounds.

Immediately following the introduction of the bill, numerous|etters and petitions flooded into
Flagg’ smailbox supporting the protection of the mounds. Organi zationswho sent lettersincluded
TheMissouri Historical Society, The Academy of Sciencein St.Louis, Springfield Historical
Society, Cincinnati Museum Association, Granite City Commercia Club, St. LouisUniversity,
St. LouisZoological Society, The Archaeological I nstitute of America, The Smithsonian
Institution, and Washington University in St. Louis, only to nameafew. Two Cahokianotables
who sent | etters of approval were David Bushnell Jr. and Clark McAdams.

A letter dated April 3, 1913, from the Chancellor of Washington University to Norman Flagg
reads:

My Dear Sir:



| note that there isabill before the lllinoisLegislature providing for a State Park
to be known asthe CahokiaMound Builders' Park. | very much hopethat every effort will be
madeto passthisbill, in the interests of future generations. The monuments of the pre-
Columbian American Indians are rapidly disappearing, and it seemsto me that those which can
be preserved should by all meansbe preserved. | trust that | may not be regarded asintruding,
when | expressthe hopethat the Illinois L egislature will be wise enough to preserve these
preeminently valuableremainsof thisearly people.
Yoursvery truly,
FREDERICK A. HALL, Acting Chancellor (CahokiaMounds Association 1917:29).
One letter even found itsway to Cahokiafrom Brazil and signed by the president of the

Flunienense Geographical and Historical Institute, Dr.SimoeusdaSilva. The body of theletter
readsin part, “I think that the United States government must buy all mounds, on thisregion lies
the biggest in theworld named “ Cahokia’, preserving them in behalf of the sciences and the
future Americanist culture” (CahokiaMoundsAssociation 1917:29).

Evenwith all of the support backing the protection of the mounds, the bill failed to pass. But
the effort did not stop there. On March 26, 1914, the CahokiaM ounds A ssociation wasformed
for the purpose of continuing thefight for Cahokia spreservation. The association later
published and distributed apamphlet titled “ Save the Mounds’ to further addresstheir opinionsto
the state of Illinoisand others. By 1915 the organization recruited 84 members, including
Norman Flagg, Warren K. Moorehead, and Thomas Ramey’ s sons-Fred, Jesse, and James (Kelly
2000:14). The continued perseverance of someindividualsled to theinitiation of another bill to
protect the moundsin March of 1915, but again it went defeated. With such an effort being put
forth by many concerned individual sto protect the mounds and for good reason, you might ask
why the continuousfailed attempts. Thefailed attemptsto protect Cahokia’ s moundswere
largely in part due to one question that had been left unanswered for years. Who built the
mounds at Cahokia? Before abill wasto be passed and money wasto be put towards astate
park, legislatorsinsisted on answersto why the mounds at Cahokiawere worthy of protection.

Onelllinoislegidator believed a Cahokia park was unnecessary and stated, “ my district needs

parksfor live people and the guysin that mound are al dead ones” (Y oung and Fowler 2000:33).
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Chapter 3
Who-Built the Mounds?

Since the beginning of European arrival to North Americain the sixteenth and seventeenth
centuriestherewas the occasional man who stumbled across the mounds situated on the
landscape at Cahokia, stared and thought; “Who constructed these great earthen structures, and
what purposes might they serve?’ After Brackenridge' svisit to Cahokiain 1811 along with his
publication about Cahokia s moundsin the St. L ouis newspapers and his description of the
moundsin his Views of the Louisiana, the mounds slowly gained recognition. Within aspan of a
few decadesfollowing Brackenridge’ saccounts, the moundswere spoken of , written about,
thought about, and visited by anumber of explorersand scholars. By the mid to late 1800s,
peoplelike Patrick, McAdams, and Snyder had dedicated years of their lifeto their study, but
therewasstill the lasting question of “who built the mounds?’ Throughout the 1800s, especially
the mid 1800s, the debate of who built the moundswas in full bloom. Because the European
settlers coming into North Americahad not been present to witnessthe mounds’ creation, men
and women alike were prone to wonder and specul ate about the possibilities of how the mounds
at Cahokiaand elsewherein Eastern North Americaoriginated. Thosewho had any familiarity
with the moundstook one of three sides concerning the mounds' origins. One opinion wasthat

the mounds wereindeed built by the ancestors of the American Indians. Another opinionwas
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that the mounds were built by ahuman race that inhabited the land prior to the American Indians
and had become extinct before the presence of the colonistsinto North America. Some believed
it wasthe Indianswho drovethis*“lost race” into extinction (Silverberg 1968). Lastly, some held
the belief that the mounds were nothing more than natural earthen hills, or geological features
formed by the glaciers.

Therewas no question in the minds of those individual s who had spent some time examining
the mounds as to their origin. One archaeologist, WillsDeHass, who arrived in the West in 1868
to study and explore the mounds along the Mississippi and Ohio River valleys, wasfully
convinced the mounds were man made and worked tirel essly to settle the debate of whether the
moundswereartificial or naturally occurring. In hisarticle Archaeology of the Mississippi
Valley, he spoke of hisprolonged effortsto settle the natural vs. artificial debate:

Impressed with theimportance of giving theseinvestigationsall the attention possible|
have |abored assiduously to thisend. | havetraversed thefield hundreds of miles, over
lakes, across bogs, up creeks, down streams, penetrated its geological strataand climbed
long miles of tortuous bluff; have examined, located, measured and mapped over one
hundred and fifty mounds, excavating many, and collecting several hundred specimens of
ancient art, representing the stone age, thefictilia, the art and skill of the mound builders.
This has not been unattended with labor, exposure and expense. But | have the
gratification to know that the question of the mounds—whether natural or artificial—has
beenforever settled (DeHass 1869:292).
DeHass continued on in hiswriting, assuring hisreaders of hisfindings, “ The proofs are clear,
abundant and conclusive. Externally and internally, character, structure, position and contentsall
incontestably prove them the work of man’slabor, industry and spirit of combined action. All,
from the largest to the smallest, are the result of human agency. On this point there need be no
farther cavil or doubt” (DeHass 1869:291).

Dr. John Francis Snyder was another supporter of the mounds’ human mode of origin.
Snyder, in 1882, correctly claimed that the “mound builders” were not an extinct race of people,
nor were the mounds natural formations, but that the builders of the mounds were the ancestors of

the American Indians (Fowler 1962:186). Interestingly, however, Snyder held the belief that the

builders of Monks Mound had left the mound in unfinished form. Snyder assumed all platform

67



mounds should be one even level, and without terraces. He supposed the designer of Monks
Mound had planned to level the sides and terraces, but the builders either abandoned the work
because the project wastoo overwhel ming, or decided against their semi-sedentary lifestyle, and
regressed back to nomadic savagery (Snyder 1962 [1904]:270). Snyder’sperception of Monks
Mound’ sappearanceisunlike Patrick’s, who believed that the mound was completed as four
separate and even level platforms, as seen in one of his cast-iron models (Figure 21).

Those who had the advantage to study and walk amongst the mounds such as DeHass, Snyder,
William and Clark McAdams, Patrick, Rau, along with other early explorers, never argued
against theartificial construction of the moundsat Cahokia. They were confident the mounds
were the work of man, and most believed the cul prits behind the mounds were the early American
Indians. Therewere, however, other scholars and personswho had different opinionsasto who
the mysterious moundbuilders might be.

Thousands of years beforethe first Europeans ever arrived to North America, the brown
skinned inhabitantsthat Christopher Columbus called Indians, had already called Americahome.
When thefirst Europeansimmigrated to North America, the Native Americanswel comed the
newcomerswith open armsand offered their friendship. But the newcomershad other plansin
mind. What began asfriendly relations between the two groups quickly turned ugly asthe
number of Europeansinto North Americaincreased, and white man’ sgreed over land became
prevalent. The Native American presence on the land was soon viewed as an impediment to
progress and a hindranceto expansion. Furthermore, the majority of white men viewed Indian
customs and habits awkward and absurd when compared to their own “ civilized” ways. One
early seventeenth century explorer, Samuel de Champlain, from hisexperiencesin North
America, wrote that the Indians possessed no sort of government or religion, were not only

superstitious, but werethieves, and al of no great worth (Y ork 1974-1975:284).
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It didn’t take long before the Indians were considered rivalsin the eyes of America’ s newest
inhabitants.”  The Indianswere treated poorly in nearly all regards; belittled as human beings,
taken from their land and placed onto reservations, killed, and |abel ed with names such as
“hostile savages’ and “barbarians’. These continuousfeelingsof hatred and disgust towards the
Indians persevered during the height of the moundbuilder mystery in North America. Becausethe
American Indianswerethe only known inhabitants of North Americaduring thearrival of
Europeans, people began to believe the only other persons capable of building the mounds must
have existed in Americacenturies prior to European arrival, and either left the country, or became
extinct when the Indian “ savages’ took over the country. Imaginationsran wild, and some
romanticized over the possibilities of who these extinct moundbuilderswere and where they came
from. Many Americansduring this period were certain the Indianswere not intelligent enough,
nor had the skillsto compl ete a project such as mound building. Many of the artifacts coming
from the mounds were thought to be too remarkabl e to have been made by the Indian ancestors.
Because of prejudices and resentful feelingstowardsthe Indians, most people who knew of the
moundswerewilling to credit anyone el se asthe makers, anyone except for the ancestorsto the
Americalndians.

For instance, Josiah Priest, in his 1834 American Antiquities, and Discoveriesin the West,
expressed hisbelief that the moundswere built by apartially civilized nation that existed in North
Americaprior to European arrival and differed entirely from the Indians. He suspected it was
likely that ancient nations found their way to Americaand may have included the Polynesians,
Phoenicians, Egyptians, Greeks, |sraglites, Scandinavians, Scotch, or Welsh. When discussing a
large earthen mound on the Ohio River, Priest wrote, “It isnot credible, that this mound was

made by the ancestors of the modern Indians. 1ts magnitude, and the vast numbers of dead

! Listen to track 1 on the cd accompanied with the lyrics at the end of this paper. The song was written and
produced by musical artist Dave Matthews and the Dave Matthews Band, titled ‘Don’t Drink the Water’.
The song wonderfully illustrates the common mind-set of the Europeans in North America towards the
American Indians during the 1600s, 1700s and 1800s. The song is sung from the perspective of the early
whiteEuropeans.
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deposited there, denote apopulation too great to have been supported by the merefishing and
hunting, asthe manner of Indians has always been” (Priest 1833:41).
Noah Webster, writer of thefirst American dictionary in 1806, wrote |ettersto the president of
Y aeCollege, Ezra Stiles, stating the moundbuilders might be the Carthaginians or from other
Mediterranean nations (Y oung and Fowler 2000:14). Othersheld beliefsthat the Vikingsor the
Lost Tribesof Israel built the mounds. Any thought was plausible aswho might have built the
mounds, except the Indians.
William Cullen Bryant, an American poet who lived during the hype of the moundbuilder
debate, alleged that it was the Indians who were responsible for the death and extinction of the
ancient moundbuilders. Inhis1832 poem entitled “ The Prairies’, Bryant revealed histhoughts
on thelong vanished moundbuilders. An excerpt from the poem reads:
L et the mighty mounds
That overlook therivers, or that rise
Inthedim forest crowded with old oaks,
Answer. A race, that long has passed away,
Built them;- adisciplined and popul ous race
Heaped, with long tail, the earth, ....

A few linesfurther he adds:
The red man came-
Theroaming hunter tribes, warlikeand fierce,
And the mound- builders vanished from the earth.
The solitude of centuries untold
Hassettled wherethey dwelt. (Bryant 1854/1871:131-133).

Two men who were under the opinion that the earthworks of Eastern North Americawere
built by an extinct race of people other than the American Indians were Ephraim George Squier
and Dr. Edwin Hamilton Davis. In April of 1845, Ephraim Squier, whose profession at the time
wasjournalism, moved to Chillicothe, Ohio, after being offered ajob asan editor for aweekly
newspaper called the Scioto Gazette. Subsequent to hisarrival at Chillicothe, he wasintroduced

to the numerous earthen moundsin the vicinity and immediately took an interest inthem. At

first, inorder to gain all the knowledge and facts he could regarding the mounds, Squier spoke
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with locals who were familiar with them, but Squier soon decided he wanted to know more than
what thelocalsweretelling him. He believed the only other option to better educate himself on
the mounds was to begin exploring them first hand in hissparetime. Beforelong, Squier’s
mound exploration and research went from aleisurely activity to becoming his number one
priority. One editor of the Scioto Gazette who was acquainted with Squier once stated, “ All of
Mr. Squier’ ssevera ‘vocations whilearesident of Ohio, were made secondary to hisantiquarian
researches’ (Meltzer 1998:7).

In Chillicothe, Squier met a physician who practiced in the area, Dr. Edwin Davis, who held
the sameinterest in the mounds and explored and collected artifactsin hisfreetime. Shortly after
thetwo wereintroduced, they decided to partner with one another in the field exploring mounds,
surveying them, and writing of their finds. By the winter of 1846, Squier and Davishad surveyed
approximately 100 earthworks and excavated an upwards of 150 mounds (Meltzer 1998:20) along
the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers. By 1847, the number of moundsthey opened reached two
hundred in number (Silverberg 1968:110). While excavating in the fieldsthe two men made an
extraeffort to document their discoveries. Later, their field notesand results of their excavations
evolved into abook titled Ancient Monuments of the Mississippi Valley. Squier and Davis' book,
comprising of 306 pages, 48 hand-drawn maps and plates, and 207 wood engravings, was
published and distributed by the Smithsonian Institution in Washington D.C in September 1848.
Thiswasthefirst publication ever to beissued by the newly established Smithsonian (Meltzer
1998:1). What Squier and Davis' writings mentioned wastheir opinionsand thoughts on who
built the mounds of the Eastern United States. After athorough study of the moundbuilders
defensive works and sacred enclosuresthat were found in conjunction with some of the mounds
they studied in Ohio, Squier and Davisreported that, based on the skill and knowledge needed to
build the enclosures, they alleged the builderswerein no way affiliated with the American

Indians. Intheir work they reported:

71



By aminute attention to their various detail s, we are prepared to estimate the
judgment, skill, and industry of their builders. No one can rise from such an
examination, except with the conviction that the race, by whom these workswere
erected, possessed no inconsiderable knowl edge of the science of defence,--a
degree of knowledge much superior to that known to have been possessed by the
hunter tribes of North America previousto the discovery by Columbus, or indeed
subsequent to that event (Squier and Davis 1998 [1848]:42).

In Squier and Davis' last chapter, called * Concluding Observations', they summarized fromtheir
three years of extensive studiesin only six pages that the extinct race of moundbuilderswerea
“numerous, stationary, and an agricultural people”. They did suggest to the reader to cometo his
own conclusions about the origins of the moundbuilders, but too put forth their own thoughts of
whom they believed the moundbuilderswere by writing the following words:

we may venture to suggest that the factsthusfar collected point to aconnection
more or lessintimate between the race of the mounds and the semi-civilized
nationswhich formerly had their seats among the sierras of Mexico, upon the
plainsof Central Americaand Peru, and who erected theimposing structures
which from their number, vastness, and mysterioussignificance, invest the
central portions of the continent with an interest not |ess absorbing that that
which attachesto the valley of theNile” (Squier and Davis 1998 [1848]:301).
Thethird belief that persevered throughout the 1800s was the idea that the mounds at Cahokia
aswell asthe mounds|ocated in Eastern North Americawere nothing more than natural hills.
There were afew geologists of thiserawho were under thisopinion. Onewas AmosH.
Worthen, the Director of thelllinois Geological Survey. Worthen was highly regarded asa
geologist, and in 1858 he was appointed the state geologist of 1llinois. One of Worthen' slargest
contributionswas hiswritingsin the Geological Survey of I1linois, an eight-volume set published
between 1866 and 1890. InVolumel. of the set, Worthen discusses histravelsto St. Louis,
where he was able to examine a section of the large mound known as Big Mound, in the upper
part of the city, beforeit was completely destroyed. Worthen, based on his examination of a
portion of theinterior of the large mound, concluded that all mounds present on the landscapein
the Mississippi Valley were natural earth formations. Worthen, in 1866 wrote, “ these mounds

arenot artificial elevations, raised by the aboriginal inhabitants of the country, as has been

assumed by antiquaries generally, but on the contrary, they are smply outliersof loessand drift,
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that haveremained asoriginally deposited, while the surrounding cotemporaneous stratawere
swept away by denuding forces’ (Worthen 1866:314). He continued further by adding, “| have
very little doubt that many of the so-called Indian Mounds, in this state at |east, if carefully
examined, would proveto be only natural el evations produced by the causes above named”
(Worthen 1866:315).

A professor of Geology at the University of Cincinnati in the early 1900swho believed Monks
Mound was at |east partially natural, was Dr. Nevin M. Fenneman. Fenneman’ sbelief wasthat
MonksMound was originally anatural hill. Later, when man camealong it was built upwardsto
itspresent height. 1n 1911 Fenneman wrote, “ To aheight of thirty-five feet aboveits base the
material of MonksMound shows assortment and stratification, whichisevidently natural. Above
that height it affords no structural evidence bearing on the question whether it is of natural or
artificial origin; but theform plainly indicates the work of man, and not of geologic processes
(Leighton 1923:65). Fenneman wasalso under theimpression that other larger mounds were
similarly atered, whilethe smaller and |ess conspicuous mounds were of natural form (Leighton
1923:65).

Another well-known geologist of the early 1900swho was under the impression that the
mounds were nothing more than natural occurrenceswas AljaR. Crook. InaDecember, 1914,
meeting of the Geological Society of Americain Philadelphia, Dr. Crook, then director of the
Illinois State Museum, presented a paper titled the “Origin of MonksMound”. Inthe paper
Crook shared his opinions of the origins of the mounds based upon a study of some of the
moundsin the Cahokiaareaand a so from twenty-five soil boringsthat were placed into Monks
Mound north side. A portion of his paper reads:

Twenty-five borings were made in the north and most abrupt side. .. Chemical and
mineralogical study of the soil, aswell as pal eontol ogical and physiographical
investigations, indicate that the mounds are the remnants of the glacial and alluvial
depositswhich at onetimefilled thevalley of the Mississippi River in thisregion. It may

bewell to inquireif al so-called moundsinthe Mississippi Valley are not natural
topographic forms(Crook 1915:74-75).
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Those very words stated from Crook, and moreover, other scholars astute in the field of
geology holding similar opinions about the mounds, further wounded the fate of Cahokia's
survival. The statelegislatureswerewell aware of the opinions held by these geol ogists, and
therefore refused to spend money on protecting piles of earth that had no cultural or historical
value. Y ou can begin to imagine the feelings of disappointment and frustration felt by those who
knew the truth behind the mounds' origins. Those like DeHass, who had spent yearsfervently
studying themoundsall along the Mississippi Valley, and who in 1869 reported that he forever
settled the natural vs. artificial debate (DeHass 1869: 292). In DeHass' writings, without
mentioning names, he angrily took astab at those individual swho believed the moundswere
natural formations:

It isnot surprising that novices should commit egregious blundersin attempting
to discuss subjectsthey do not understand; but it is surprising that those whose
position and investigations should have induced them to examine carefully the
character of these works before expressing positive opinions havefailed to do so.
Theonly charitable conclusion isthey never examined the mounds. No man
whose opinions are worth quoting could have examined even one of these
interesting monuments, and not declared, unequivocally, infavor of artificial
origin (DeHass 1869:291).

During the last two decades of the nineteenth century, an extensive mound study was
conducted in the United Statesfor the purpose of settling the moundbuilder debate once and for
al. During the 1800s, the myth of the moundbuilders had spiraled out of control, and the only
practical solution to gain knowledge of the facts on the origins of the mounds wasto conduct a
widespread mound survey in the eastern United States. A research department affiliated with the
Smithsonian I nstitution, the Bureau of Ethnology (later renamed the Bureau of American
Ethnol ogy) took responsibility for thework.

Initially, when the Bureau of Ethnology was established in 1879, their concentration of study
was not at all geared towards the prehistoric mounds nor the study of archaeology, but instead

wasfocused on the culture and lifeways of the Native Americans still in existencein North
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America. Thefounding director of the Bureau, John Wesley Powell, in 1894 explained how the

Bureau becameinvolved in archaeol ogical investigationsof the prehistoric mounds:
When the Bureau of Ethnology wasfirst organized the energiesof its
memberswere devoted exclusively to the study of the North American
Indians, and the general subject of archeol ogy was neglected, it being the
dominant purpose and preference of the Director to investigate the
languages, arts, institutions, and mythol ogies of extant tribes rather than
pre-historic antiquities; but certain archeol ogists, by petition, asked
Congressto so enlarge the scope of the Bureau asto include a study of the
archeology of the United States, and thereupon, when the next
appropriation was made, in February, 1881, the act of Congresswas
modified by including theitalicized wordsin thefollowing extract: “Add
to the paragraph appropriating $25,000 for continuing ethnol ogi cal
researchesamong North American Indiansthefollowing: “ ‘Five
thousand dollars of which shall be expended in continuing archeological
investigation relating to mound-buildersand prehistoric mounds.””
(Powell 1894:XL-XLlI).

At first Powell was surprised with the news. Asthe director, he was now responsibleto ensure
that archaeol ogy wasincorporated into the Bureau’ sstudies. Neverthel ess, Powell complied with
theterms, and in 1882, he organized adivision within the Bureau to begin the work of
investigating the mounds of the eastern United States. Powell put Cyrus Thomas, state
entomologist of Illinoisand former college professor, in charge of thework, and sent him on his
way to investigate the mounds and other ancient monuments east of the Rocky Mountains.
Working alongside Thomaswere afew full-time field assistants and several other men who made
contributionsto the work for ashorter duration of time. One of those individuals was Cahokia
notable, William McAdams, who was hired by the Bureau in 1882 to make an examination of the
Cahokiaareafor the Thomassurvey. | presumethat instead of Thomasvisiting Cahokiaand
conducting explorations himself, the Bureau engaged M cAdamsin thelabor of exploring the
area. Later, McAdamsreported back to Thomaswho afterwards published McAdams' resultsin
the Twelfth Annual Report of the Bureau of Ethnology in 1894.

Two areas of investigation at Cahokiawere reported in Thomas' report. Thefirst wasWilliam

McAdams' excavations ashort distance northeast of Monks M ound and the second areaincluded
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alocation along the bank of the Cahokia Creek, where it wasreported that, “When digging 2 or 3
feet at almost any point along this bank indications of fireplaces are found, with numerousriver
shells, broken pottery, and kitchenrefuse” (Thomas 1894:133). Accompanying thewritingswas
amap of the CahokiaMound Group prepared by McAdams (Figure 30).

The Thomas survey was by all means no small undertaking. In all, the survey took
approximately ten yearsto complete. Inthe course of adecade Thomas' field crew mapped,
examined, and described hundreds of mound groups in atotal of 22 states and in more than 130
counties. To shed light on the extent of the survey’ sexplorations, Thomaswrote:

Over 2,000 mounds have been explored, including amost every known type of form,
fromthelow, diminutive, circular burial tumulus of the north to the huge truncated
earthen pyramid of the south, the embankment, the stone cairn, the house site, etc. Every
variety of construction hitherto known, aswell asanumber decidedly different in detail,
have been examined...Many ancient graves and cemeteries and also several cachesand
cave depositshave been explored (Thomas 1894:23).
When the survey was completed, the resultswere published in the Bureau’ s Twelfth Annual
Report asasingle volume of work entitled Report on the Mound Explorations of the Bureau of
Ethnology and consisted of 730 pages. For those readers who did not wish to read through the
entirereport, Thomaslisted the most significant conclusions|earned from hisinvestigationsin the
beginning pages.

Written in those beginning pages was the answer to the long awaited mound builder question.
Weasit the Indians who built the mounds? Thomas had found the answer and it was adefinite
“Yes’. Thomaswrotethat, “thelinksdirectly connecting the Indians and moundbuilders are so
numerous and well established that archeol ogists arejustified in accepting the theory that they are
one and the same people” (Thomas 1894:17). Of the evidences supporting the Indians asthe
moundbuilderswasthat when Thomas compared the ancient artifacts discovered in the mounds
of the Bureau’ s survey with the known artifacts of the Indian tribesknown to history, almost

awaysthey had similar characteristicswith one another. Furthermore, when examining

descriptions made by the earliest North American explorers, (likethe chroniclersof De Soto’s
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expedition) of the Indian habits, customs, social conditionsand art, their writings corresponded
with the discoveriesin the mounds and other ancient works (Thomas 1894:17). With al the
evidenceslaid out plainly on the table pointing at the I ndians asthe builders, Thomas had
successfully put the moundbuilder myth to rest, at least for the most part. Therewere still yet a
few individualswho had their doubts. One of whom | already mentioned, was Dr. Crook. Crook
not only disregarded theideathat the Indians built the mounds, but he was al so under the
impression that the earthen moundswere not at all man made structures, but rather natural
elevationsof the earth. Back at Cahokia, Crook’ s opinionswere putting adamper on the chances

of getting Cahokia s mounds protected in astate park. Y et thelocals were not ready to give up.
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Chapter 4
The Moovehead Yeoars and the Establishument of o Cahokio State Powk

In 1921, Dr. John Francis Snyder and friends decided to come up with another tacticin the
attempt to savethe mounds at Cahokia. Together, they arranged for archaeologist Warren King
M oorehead to cometo Cahokiawith the hope he could provide the archaeol ogical evidencethe
legislators needed to purchase aportion of the Cahokiasite (Y oung and Fowler 2000:33).

Another incident that may have encouraged Moorehead to visit Cahokia was the appearance of
anewspaper articlein the Alton Telegraph printed in January 1921, which M oorehead may have
read (Kelly 2000:17). Thearticletold readersthere wasto be an establishment of six memorial
parksin lllinois for those who lost their livesin World War |. There had not yet been achosen
destination for amemorial park for southern I1linoisand some citizens of the state wished to see
Monks Mound as one of the chosen locations (Kelly 2000:17). For Cahokia s sake, the
establishment of amemorial park, as opposed to a state protected park, would pose serious
problemsfor the preservation of what lied underneath the mounds. Something needed to be done
fast. Just as Cahokia s supporterswere beginning to lose hope, and the gray skies over Cahokia
looked asif they would never leave, aray of sunshine emerged from the clouds. That ray of hope

at Cahokiawasthe presence of Warren King Moorehead in the early 1920s.
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In June, 1921, Moorehead stepped foot on the Cahokia“ premises’. Unbeknownst to himsel f
or anyone else at the time, he would soon become a pertinent player in not only thefirst large
scale excavations ever conducted on the site, but also be recognized in the history books as one of
thelargest contributorsto Cahokia sinitial preservation (Figure 31).

Warren K. Moorehead had arich background of experience in thefield of archaeology. Some
of Moorehead’ s earliest encounterswith archaeol ogy occurred while hewasastudent for a
couple of years at Denison University in Ohio, aUniversity in close proximity to some ancient
mounds. Moorehead never hesitated to dig into the nearby moundswhenever he had the
opportunity. Moorehead |eft Denison before graduation, but managed throughout hislifetimeto
earn anumber of honorary degrees. In 1901, hereceived an honorary M.A. degreefrom
Dartmouth; in 1927 hereceived an honorary Sc.D. from Oglethorpe University in Atlanta,
Georgia; and thenin 1930 he earned an honorary Sc.D. from Denison. Inthe 1880s, M oorehead
excavated at various sitesin Ohio including Fort Ancient, where he helped ensure the sitewas
protected asa state park. Hisarchaeological pursuitswere not alwayswithout danger. 1n August
1888, while excavating at amound in Ohio, an exposed mound wall collapsed onto M oorehead,
nearly ending hislife (Moorehead 1893:61). After afull minute of being completely buried,
crewmembersrescued him. Moorehead recalled the details of the event five years|ater in abrief
articlein Science Magazinetitled “Buried Alive”. In 1891 Frederic Ward Putnam, Director of the
Peabody Museum of American Archaeol ogy and Ethnology at Harvard University chose
M oorehead to conduct excavationsin southwestern Ohio for the purpose of obtaining artifactsto
display at the 1893 World' s Columbian Expositionin Chicago. 1n 1901, Robert Singleton
Peabody founded the Department of Archaeology at Phillips Academy in Andover,

M assachusetts, upon which M oorehead becamethe curator (Byers 1939:288). In 1924
M oorehead assumed the position as director of the department and held thistitle until his

retirement in June 1938 (Kelly 2000:5). What is mentioned of Moorehead in the preceding
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Figure 31. Warren King Moorehead. Source: Fowler 1997:25.
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sentencesisonly abrief overview of hismany contributionsand involvementsinthefield of
American Archaeol ogyl.

Being the experienced archaeol ogist M oorehead was, when he visited Cahokiain 1921 he
immediately recognized that Cahokiawith its many moundswas adiamond in therough in terms
of North American archaeol ogical sites. Thisisnot saying that other archaeological sitesareless
significant, but in comparison to Cahokiathey are considerably smaller in size, and in the number
of moundsthey contain. Asareference, Mounadville, Alabama, considered the second largest
prehistoric Mississippian mound center in the United Statesis less than one tenth the size of
Cahokia, and holds 20 mounds (Y oung and Fowler 2000:304). Moorehead also noticed anumber
of modern buildings and housing devel opmentsthat lurked in Cahokia’ s shadows, some of which
had already begun to be built near and even on the tops of afew mounds. There were only two
remaining optionsasfor the future of Cahokia. Either industriesand housing would continueto
move eastward and eventually wipe out Cahokiaaltogether, or someone had to step up and fight
for Cahokia sexistence. Without delay, Moorehead devised afour-point plan asamovement
towards saving the mounds from further destruction. Hisfour pointswereto; 1.) Gain permission
from landownersto dig on their property; 2.) Inform and interest the pressin Cahokia; 3.) Raise
thefunds necessary to begin field explorationsinto the moundsand; 4.) Persuade an institution,
either amuseum or university, to take on responsibility of futurework at Cahokia.

M oorehead was successful at implementing hisgoals. Following hisarrival, he gained
permission from local landowners, including the Ramey family to conduct excavationson their
land. Luckily, the Ramey family and other nearby land ownerswere very supportiveto theidea
of Moorehead swork on their property, and whatever el se needed to be done to persuade the state
of lllinoisto preservethe mounds. In August of 1921, Moorehead created and distributed aflier

caled Help Save The Cahokia Mounds, in an effort to gain public awareness of the existence of

' The background information | have written on Moorehead was retrieved from two sources; 1). Douglas
S. Byers', (1939) “Warren King Moorehead” in the American Anthropologist; and 2) John E. Kelly’'s
Introduction (2000) to Warren King Moorehead’' s The Cahokia Mounds.
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the site and the dilemmaat hand if no action were to be taken to preserveit. Inaddition, theflier
reguested contributionsfor Cahokia sresearch. Asameansto raise the funds, Moorehead
created aCahokia Fund at the First National Bank in East St. Louis, where checks could be sent
for the purpose of Cahokia sresearch. Furthermore, Moorehead wasin touch with newspaper
companiesfrom St. Louisand Kansas City, aswell as other Eastern States, who had accessto
Cahokiaarticlesover thewire service (Kelly 2000:19). To call attention to Cahokia sneed for
preservation even further, Moorehead lectured at local community organizationssuch asthe
Daughtersof the American Revolution and Rotary clubs(Kelly 2000:19).

Spreading the word about Cahokia soon paid off. A total of $4,800 was contributed towards
the 1921 Cahokiaexplorations. Threeinstitutions, The University of lIlinoi s, thelllinois State
Museum, and M oorehead’ s place of employment, Phillips Academy in Andover, Massachusetts,
contributed $3,050 of thetotal amount raised. The remaining total camefrom individual
donationsand local institutions such asthelllinoisHistorical Society. Moorehead, inthe preface
of his 1922 Preliminary Report mentionsthe names of some of the contributorsincluding a
specia thanksto Doctor A.R. Crook who M oorehead said, “ contributed generously” (M oorehead
1922:6). It isimportant to note that although Crook at the time believed the mounds at Cahokia
were natural features, he neverthel ess supported their study and felt the mounds should be
protected because they were distinctive features of the landscape.

M oorehead accomplished hisfinal goal by making arrangements for the University of Illinois
to take charge of work at Cahokiain futureyears. The materialsrecovered from Cahokiawereto
be curated at both the Illinois State Museum and the University of 1llinois (Kelly 2000:27).
Although M oorehead had achieved hisfour-point plan, there was still much work to be done,
including the excavation process, note taking, and the state of I1linois still needed convincing that

the mounds at Cahokiawereworth saving.

% The name of the University of Illinois was changed to the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign in
1982. Throughout the remainder of this thesis, the author will use both names interchangeably when
referring to this institution.
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Prior to Moorehead’ swork at the site, no large-scale excavations had ever occurred. Some
work had been undertaken such asWilliam McAdams' investigations at the base of the northeast
corner of Monks Mound, but nothing to the extent of the work completed by Moorehead’ s crew
inthe 1920s. Reasonsfor Cahokia slack of investigations as suggested by Moorehead were; for
one, the owners of the property within the Cahokiaboundariestook a protective stand towards
their land, and most did not allow any type of digging to occur. Secondly, the cost to run an
archaeological investigation, even in the early 1900s, was expensive. Moorehead wrotein his
1922 preliminary report on the site, that to trench into the Kunnemann Mound, amound located a
short distance north of Monks Mound, cost $600 (Moorehead 1922:8). And for $600.00 the crew
was only ableto excavate 1/3 of the mound (M oorehead 1922:23).

Two men who assisted Moorehead in the 1921 excavations and who helped with the
supervision of the fieldwork were William J. Seever and Clinton Cowen. Seever livedinthe St.
Louis areaand was one of the men who assisted Dr. Patrick with the 1876-1880 surveys of the
Cahokiaarea. One advantage Seever had wasthat by living in the areahe was very familiar with
Cahokiaand the mounds (Y oung and Fowler 2000:37). Cowenwasafriend of Moorehead' s
from Ohio, acivil engineer, and former Ohio highway commissioner (Kelly 2000:21). Other
crewmembers consisted of men who worked with Moorehead in New England, and local ex-
servicemen (Kelly 2000:21).

Moorehead began excavations at Cahokiain mid September 1921 and continued work until
late October. Limited excavationsoccurred during thistime at several areas acrossthesite.
Work started at the Kunnemann Mound, one of thelarger mounds at Cahokia. After spending
two weeks at Kunnemann, M oorehead and his crew began excavating and or testing other
mounds at Cahokia, including the Smith’s (Schmidt’s) Mounds (numbers 30 and 31), the
Edwards' Mounds (numbers 25 and 26), the Jesse Ramey Mound (number 56), one mound
between the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad tracks (number 64), and two mounds south of

Coallinsville Road. Unfortunately, in Moorehead’ sreport he does not specify which two mounds
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south of Collinsville Road, only that he tested them. In addition to these mounds mentioned
above, Moorehead briefly tested an area of land aquarter of amile south of Monks Mound and
spent several daystrying to locate the prehistoric cemetery northeast of Monks Mound where
William McAdamsand hisson Clark excavated in 1882. During Moorehead’ sexcavations at the
cemetery, Clark made an appearance and indicated to M oorehead the areawhere hisfather had
dug (Moorehead 1922:23-24). Unlikethe McAdams' excavationswhere approximately 100
whole pottery vessel swere unearthed, M oorehead was unsuccessful in finding whole vessels, but
instead recovered broken human skeletons, one flex burial accompanied by ahalf of abowl, as
well asanumber of arrowheads, hammerstones, portions of Busycon shells, and fragments of
galena(Moorehead 1922:24).

Other mounds Moorehead tested in 1921 were three mounds|ocated to the north of Smith’s
mounds, Mounds 32, 33, and 34. He and his crew must have spent only abrief timeinthis
location because he summarizeshiswork at Mounds 32-34 in one sentence by saying “We are of
the opinion that this part of the site should be quite thoroughly examined, since we dug up several
pottery heads of birds, etc, all of exceptional form and finish” (Moorehead 1922:24). Thirty years
later aman by the name of Gregory Perino, working for the Thomas Gilcrease Museum of Tulsa,
Oklahomawas excavating at Mound 34 when he discovered apit dug through the center of the
mound and several post hole pits dug, one containing arusty tobacco can (Fowler 1997:23).

M oorehead was known for placing tobacco cansin areas where he worked, so we know hewas
present at Mound 34, despite the fact that he wrote very little about histimethere.

With the completion of thefirst season in late October, there were a number of thingsthat had
been accomplished. For one, Moorehead successfully followed through with all four goals he set
for himself subsequent to hisarrival tothesite. Apparently somebelieved it would beimpossible
for Moorehead to rai se the necessary fundsto conduct such aproject (Crook 1922:5). But despite
those who doubted him, M oorehead succeeded. Secondly, one of the main purposes of

Moorehead’ swork wasto get the public interested in Cahokia and thefirst season’ swork brought
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anumber of visitorsto thearea. The 1921 season also gave M oorehead the opportunity to
familiarize himself with the site and the realization that one season of work was not a sufficient
amount of time to accomplish what needed to be done. Whilethe artificial makeup of the
moundswas clearly visible to Moorehead and his crew during thefirst season of work, beginning
with the Kunnemann Mound, the evidence still needed to be presented to those individualswho
had their doubts. If theartificial nature of the mounds could be proved and agreed upon by al,
Cahokiawould have agreater chance of being preserved. Lastly, in 1922 the University of
[1linois published M oorehead’ sreport of thefirst season’ swork under thetitle, The Cahokia
Mounds: A Preliminary Paper.

It was decided by M oorehead that expl orationswere to continue the following year in 1922.
Thefunding for the continued work came from the University of lllinoisand all of the materials
recovered from the project were sent to the University’ sMuseum of Natural History (M oorehead
1923:9). Moorehead’' s plan for hiswork in 1922 wasto gain accurate information asto the extent
of thevillage site and to seeif burials would be encountered near the surface (M oorehead
1923:12).

The 1922 season began in March and continued until May. Then in thefall work resumed in
September and continued until October. The 1922 excavationswere by far the most extensive of
thethree years M oorehead spent at Cahokia. 1n Moorehead’ s 1923 publication, he documented
investigationstaking place at fourteen moundsand at several village site areas|ocated between
themounds. Furthermore, he examined acemetery at Cahokiacalled The Kruger Bone Bank and
tested acouple of borrow pitsor lakes (M oorehead 1923). (For amore detailed description of al
areasat Cahokiainvestigated by Moorehead see Figure 32).

Thework at Cahokiadid not always go without disturbances. During the course of the 1922
investigationsthe crowds of visitorswho cameto witnessthe excavations, at times became so
overwhelming that M oorehead and his crew were forced to abandon their work temporarily and

moveto another location until thevisitorsleft. In Moorehead’ s1923 report hewrote, “Naturally,
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the survey did not wish to offend any of these people, yet spectatorsinterfered with research
work, and frequently specimensdisappeared” (Moorehead 1923:13).

Some visitors were more of adisturbance than others. A decade or so after Moorehead' s
work at Cahokia, asmall articlein Science Magazine appeared written by Moorehead called“ The
Divining Rod and Fakers’. Init Moorehead callsto mind afew experiences he had with the
visitorsduring hisyears of exploration at Cahokia. Onevisitor told Moorehead that he had a tool
for locating Indian treasure. The man had adevicein the shape of asphere attached to the end of
aleather thong. Thetool he carried supposedly held the secret ingredients needed for |ocating the
treasure. However, when Moorehead allowed him to put hisdeviceto work, it wasafailure
(Moorehead 1931a:42). Another visitor claimed that if Moorehead could provide himwith a
“thigh bone of abig Injun” he would be able to contact the spirit of that Indian. Moorehead
afforded the man with atent and afemur for hiswork. When Moorehead asked him later how he
could communicate with aprehistoric “ Cahokian” speaking only English, the man’ sresponsewas
that all peoplein the spirit world spoke the samelanguage (M oorehead 1931a:42). These stories
above are only acouple of instances of many shared by Moorehead in hisarticle. If nothing else,
they are exemplary for showing the extent of and kinds of distractions caused by some of the
visitors.

In addition to Moorehead’ sinvestigations at Cahokiain 1922, he expanded hisresearch to
other locationsin the American Bottoms. These areasincluded; The Sam Chucallo Moundin
Fairmont City; The Pittsburg Lake Cemetery, six miles southeast of Cahokia; Two moundsfour
miles south of Cahokiacalled the Sullivan Mounds; and lastly an acre and ahalf of land called
the Stockyard Sitein East St. Louis.

Similar to thefirst season, the University of Illinois published al of the results of the 1922
field season the following year in 1923. Thistime, however, the report contained two parts. Part
I. dealt with the progress of explorations and descriptions of work at Cahokiaand Moorehead' s

work in other locationsin the American Bottom, and was written by Moorehead. Part 1.

89



contained critical information concerning the geology of the mounds at Cahokiaand waswritten
by MorrisM. Leighton.
Asearly as 1921, President of the University of Illinois, Dr. David Kinley suggested that a
geological examination of themounds at Cahokia should take place. It wasbelievedif a
specialistin geology could assist Moorehead in hisexcavations and examine closely the
composition of the mounds, then some light could be shed on the origins of the mounds. The
man hired for the job was Dr. MorrisM. Leighton, ageologist from the University of Illinois,
later the chief of theIllinois Geological Survey. While Moorehead’ sexcavationswerein
progress during the 1921 and 1922 field seasons, L eighton made several appearancesto the
mounds to examine both their external and internal characteristics. Four mounds were chosen for
the purpose of studying their internal composition. These were the Kunnemann Mound, north of
MonksMound, the Sam Chucallo Mound, three miles southwest of M onksMound, the Sawmill
Mound, approximately 1,000 feet (304.8 meters) northwest of Monks Mound, and the James
Ramey Mound, located aquarter mile east of Monks Mound (L eighton 1923). The evidence
produced from Leighton’ s study of the four mounds could not have been any clearer. The
mounds he observed were undoubtedly man-made structures. When studying the mounds
internal composition L eighton reported:
They are mainly of fine materials—silts, fine sands and gumbo—but unassorted,
lumps and masses of one kind being intercal ated with materials of another kind,
and bones, artifacts, flints, travertine fragments, charcoal and pottery being
scattered throughout without any suggestion of amechanical separation or
orientation; the contacts of the layers are minutely jagged and not smaooth;
cal careous material sare mixed heterogeneously with non-cal careousmaterials;
salt-water shellsfrom the Gulf of Mexico occur indiscriminately with local fresh-
water shells; burned layers occur at various horizons; and along series of holes
with bone refusein their bottoms was found in one mound. Such mixture, such
an arrangement, such acomplex association of unusual materials, are
characteristic only of man-mademounds (L eighton 1929:143).

Not only did hisstudy of theinternal composition of the mounds show evidences pointing

towards human origin, but the external characteristics supported theideaaswell. Thesopesand

bases of the mounds showed no signs of meander scarsfrom awater source and many of the
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elongated mounds he observed were arranged in such away that their sides pointed in the
cardinal directions of acompass, either east-west or north-south (Leighton 1929:142). Also, the
pyramidal, ovate, and conoid shapes of the mounds were not the typical shapesonewould seeif
formed by erosion (Leighton 1929:142). Leighton surmised that, “In the face of these evidences
itisdifficult to conclude other than that the mounds which have been thusfar exposed are of
human origin, and in the view of the external features of the others, it seems probabl e that they
areal so the product of human activity...” (Leighton 1929:143).

In addition to the four mounds examined, atotal of five auger borings were placed into Monks
Mound. Three of the boringswere placed into the summit and two were placed into the eastern
face of themound. Thefive boringsrevealed evidence consistent with the other mounds
examined, showing it too wasartificial. However, because Monks Mound is so large and because
the borings were unabl e to penetrate down toitscenter, Leighton believed further exploratory
work needed to be compl eted on the mound before any conclusive statements could be made on
its composition asawhole.

What might have very well been one of the most exciting parts of Leighton’s geological work
at Cahokiawasthat while he was working at the James Ramey Mound, number 33, the doubting
geologist Dr. A.R. Crook was present for the mound’ sinvestigation. Together Moorehead and
L eighton cut atrench approximately 100 feet (30.5 meters) long from north to south and dug the
trench some 22 feet (6.7 meters) deep (Crook 1922:5). When Moorehead and L eighton trenched
through the center of the mound exposing the profilewalls, Crook stood watching, and during
that moment and from then on became a believer that the moundswere compl etely artificial
(Fowler and Y oung 2000:34). Subsequently, in May 1922, Crook published abulletin, The
Origin of the Cahokia Mounds presenting hislatest views, and thistime he sided strongly with
theartificial theory of the origins of the mounds. A portion of hisbulletin read:

Thewest face [profiletrench of the James Ramey M ound] was chimneyed and carefully

hand troweled in places and minutely studied by Dr. M.M. Leighton, professor of
Pleistocene geology, at the University of Illinois, and thewriter. Unusual care was used
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since Leighton inclinesto theideathat the mounds are artificial, while the writer has
regarded them asnatural. The deposits had the unpleasant tendency of sustaining
Leighton’sview. The face showed afine, sandy, light colored loam 3 feet thick,
underlain in succession by darker colored loam, 1 foot; grayish yellow loam, 5 feet;
mottled sandy silt loam and darker laminated silt, 1 foot; undisturbed alluvial clay
unknown depth. If these materialswerelaid down in water, leached soilswould not be
mixed with unleached; clay masses would not be scattered through sandy loam; pieces of
flint, pottery, shells, bone and charcoal would not befound in all parts of the mass
without regard to their specific gravity. The charcoal would comeinthetop layers; the
flint, rock fragments and pottery in the bottom; and the bones and shellsbetween. Thisis
thecrucial point. All othersare subsidiary [Crook 1922:5].

Now with Crook on board and al in agreement, abill (House Bill No. 26) wasintroduced to
the state legislatorsthat called for the State of 11linoisto purchase 235 acres of the Ramey land,
including 35 smaller mounds for aprice of $250,000. By thetimethe bill wasfinalized in June
of 1925, atotal of $52,110 was paid to the Ramey family for 144.4 acres of their land. At first
the Rameyswere upset with this offer and appeal ed to the lllinois State Supreme Court but
subsequently withdrew the appeal and accepted the settlement (Kelly 2000:42). After thestate's
purchase of theland, the Ramey family remained living very closeby. They simply moved their
farm and living quartersfrom the west side of Monks Mound to an areajust outside of the
boundaries of the new state park, to the east of Monks Mound.

With the passing of thisbill came a momentous achievement for Cahokia and its supporters.
Finaly, thefirst piece of Cahokialand was protected by the state of 11linoisand from thiscame
the establishment of a CahokiaMounds State Park in 1925. Cahokia s supporters could now rest
with alittle more ease in knowing Monks Mound, aswell as 15 additional Cahokiamoundswere
now safe from devel opment and out of harmsway. The park was opened the following year in
1926, and in 1930 a Cahokia Mounds Museum was set in place at the base of Monks Mound's
southwest corner. The museum, which closely resembled that of a southwestern style pueblo
(Figure 33), for the most part served as apark ranger’ sresidence. The one remaining roominthe

building became the museum, and put on display were various artifactsfrom thearea. Although

small in size, the museum was apromising start.
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It seems Moorehead’ sfinal session of fieldwork at Cahokiawas during the end of the second
seasonin 1922. 1n 1923, Moorehead and his crew focused their work in three areas outside of
Cahokia; the Mitchell Mounds|ocated approximately eight miles north of Cahokia, then from
Mitchell they ventured further north to agroup of mounds near Wood River today called Grassy
Lake (Kelly 2000:41), and lastly they excavated at some moundsin Lebanon, Illinois, today
known asthe Emerald Mound Group (Kelly 2000:41). In 1924, Moorehead | eft I1linois
altogether and worked at sitesnear Natchez, Mississippi. Then, in 1925 through 1927 heinvested
histime studying aMississippian sitein Georgia, named Etowah (Kelly 2000:42). Where before
Moorehead was the overseer of thework performed at Cahokia, in 1927 acivil engineer, Jay L.B.
Taylor was put in charge of theinvestigations. During this season of work, it seemsthat
Moorehead rarely visited the excavations at Cahokiaif at all, considering no mention of his
presencewasindicated in Taylor’ sfield notes (Taylor 1929). Despite Moorehead’ s absence,
Taylor managed to do afine job.

Taylor began excavations at Cahokiain April 1927 and finished in early August, four months
later. During this period he examined atotal of four mounds; Nos. 65, 66, and two |low mounds
to the west of 66, numbers82 and 83. These particular moundswere chosen becausethe
Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company, who owned theland containing the mounds, had planned
to demolish the moundsin the near future for the expansion of therailroad. Mound number 66
named the Harding Mound, morerecently called the Rattlesnake M ound, was the most
thoroughly examined by Taylor and hiscrewmembers. 1n 1922, Moorehead had briefly tested the
mound, and due to unsatisfactory testing, he suggested further exploratory work should be carried
out at the mound in thefuture. At one point Moorehead called the Harding Mound, “one of the
finest mounds of the entiregroup” (Moorehead 1923:34).

The Harding or Rattlesnake Mound was aridge-top mound, which stood 30 feet (9.1 meters)
inheight. Itslength from north to south measured approximately 200 feet (61 meters) and its

longest axisfrom east to west measured approximately 500 feet (152.4 meters) (Throop1928:38).
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Prior to excavating into the large mound, Taylor and his crew produced a contour map of the
mound and laid out agrid system for the purpose of keeping accurate horizontal and vertical
controlsof their work. Early on, during Taylor’ ssurvey, he was surprised to discover that the
mound was not just apile of earth built up half hazardly, but instead it was amound built with
much preparation and planning by itsbuilders. Taylor’ sfield notesread, “...wewere surprised to
find that instead of being an irregular mass of earth thrown together without regard for symmetry,
No. 66 seemed to have been very carefully built up, aconviction that grew on us as the work of
laying out axes and other lines progressed” (Taylor 1929:66). Taylor reported that hefirst
became aware of the amount of carefulness put into the building of the mound when he and his
crew were taking el evations of two points. One of the pointswasin alocation 130 feet (39.6
meters) east of the center of the mound and the other point was located 140 feet (42.7 meters)
west of the center of the mound. The three points (east, center, and west) Taylor chose were
perfectly aligned. Surprisingly, the variance of elevation between the two pointsat atotal distance
of 270 feet (82.3 meters) was only one tenth of afoot (Taylor 1929:66). Thisdiscovery
demonstrated to Taylor just how symmetrical the mound really was. During excavations near the
surface of the mound’ ssummit, Taylor and his crew encountered burialsaccompanied by historic
nails, buttons, buckles, and remnants of wood pieces coming from the caskets. Taylor concluded
that these burials were burials of Frenchmen or of the earlier settlersinto thearea. He afterwards
took it upon himself to rebury the remainsto the west of the mound. At afurther depth, when
trenching into the southern face of the mound, Taylor and his crew uncovered atotal of
approximately 150 poorly preserved burials. Theburialshowever, werein such poor condition
that the only remains saved were the crowns of about 200 teeth (Taylor 1929:74). One discoidal
was discovered lying on the lower jaw of one skull. 1t measured approximately threeinchesin
diameter with athickness of oneinch and was made from atype of red granite. Other materials
recovered from the excavationswere pieces of flint, charcoal, pottery, shell pieces, afew flint

spalls, and aflint scraper.
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In 1929, afinal report was published by the University of Illinois, and contained reports
written on Cahokia by Moorehead, Taylor, and Leighton, and a paper on the use of Molluscan
shellsat Cahokiaby Frank C. Baker, curator of the Museum of Natural History at the University
of lllinois. Part I. of the 1929 report included writings by Moorehead from the 1921 and 1922
excavationsat Cahokia. These had aready been published afew yearsearlier, but were
republished as part of the 1929 final report. Part 1. also included never before printed writings by
Moorehead on hiswork performed in 1923 and his comments of the work performed by Jay L.B.
Taylor at Cahokiain 1927, followed by Jay L.B. Taylor’ s1927 field notes titled Mound
Technique. Part 11. of thefinal report included Morris Leighton’ swritings of hisgeological work
at Cahokia, which had been published earlier in the 1923 University of Illinois publication.
Lastly, includedin Part I1. asmentioned earlier was Frank C. Baker’ sreport called The Use of
Molluscan Shellsby the Cahokia Mound Builders. Finally, each of Moorehead' s reports
(1922,1923, and his 1929 publication) included one map of the main portion of the Cahokiasite.
Y earslater, in the year 2000, acompilation of the 1922, 1923, and 1929 reports were reproduced
in abook titled, The Cahokia Mounds with an introduction by Dr. John E. Kelly.

The next few paragraphswill include amorein depth |ook at the three separate mapsincluded
inMoorehead' s1922, 1923, and 1929 Cahokia publications (one map wasincluded in each
publication). These mapsdiffer in some respectsto the 1870s Patrick map of Cahokiaand | feel
it necessary to explain these differences because for many yearsthese differences (mainly the
way in which the mounds were numbered) caused those studying the site agreat deal of
confusion. Itismy hope onewould not be confused by this comparison, but rather made
conscious of thesedifferences. Afterwards, | will explain some details of a 1966 map produced
of the Cahokiasite and the mound numbers used by today’ s Cahokiaresearchers.

Asmentioned earlier, beginning in 1876, Dr. John J.R. Patrick of Belleville, Illinoishired
surveyorsfor the purpose of producing an accurate map of the entire Cahokia site aswell as maps

of other mound centers outside of Cahokia. When finished, the surveyors had completed atotal
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of five maps, three of which were associated with the Cahokiasite. One of the Cahokiamapswas
an individual detailed map of Monks Mound, showing its dimensions and the height of its
terraces (Figure 19). A second map of Cahokia, produced by Patrick’ s surveyors, was of the
main portion of the site and included atotal of 71 mounds (Figure 13). Patrick assigned one
number (1-71) to each of the mounds on thismap. When looking at this map, the mound
numbers appear beside each mound. A third map produced of the Cahokiagroup was of the
western limits of the Cahokiasite and includeswhat today is considered the Powell Mound
Group located approximately amile and ahalf west of Monks Mound (Figure 18). Patrick did
not assign numbersto the moundsin the Powell group. Both maps, the map with 71 mounds and
the Powell map were separated into two units, but Patrick’ s design for the mapsisthat when
placed side by side with one another they connect, presenting an entire view of the Cahokiasite.
A third map, Patrick’ s East St. Louis map connects with these Cahokiamapsaswell.

In the early 1920s, when M oorehead arrived to Cahokia, the Missouri Historical Society,
caretakers of the Patrick maps, |oaned M oorehead the map consisting of the main portion of the
site showing the 71 mounds (M oorehead 1922:13). Before Moorehead returned the map, he
produced a copy by tracing over theoriginal. Moorehead’ scopy, when comparing thetwo,
closely resemblesPatrick’ soriginal. Moorehead’ sreproduction placesthe mounds, |akes, roads,
and creeksin the same location as Patrick’ s map showsthem. There are however afew
differences. One obviousdifferenceisthat the Patrick map ismore carefully drawn and shaded.
A second, and morecritical differenceisthat when Moorehead traced Patrick’ s map and wrotein
the mound numbers, he reversed two of the numbers. Patrick’ s mound number 57, on
Moorehead’ s map was given the number 59, and mound number 59 on Patrick’ s map, was
changed to mound number 57 on M oorehead’ s map (Compare Figure 34 and Figure 37). Surely
thiswas an honest mistake. All other mound numbers on Moorehead’ s map followed Patrick’s

numbering system precisely. When Moorehead’ s copy was completed, heincluded it in his1922
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Figure 34. The 1922 Cahokia Moorehead Map. Larger mound numbersh ave been added by the author.

Source: Moorehead 1922.



report on Cahokiawith the caption reading, “ reproduction of the map drawn by J.J.R. Patrick
about 1880. From apparently an accuratesurvey” (Moorehead 1922). (Figure 34).

Again, in Moorehead’ s 1923 report on Cahokia, he published a copy of the Patrick map, but
thistimeit took on amuch different appearance than Patrick’ soriginal, and than that of his 1922
copy. When comparing Patrick’ soriginal map to Moorehead’ s 1923 copy, again Moorehead had
changed theway in which Patrick had originally labeled the mounds, and for unknown reasons.
Patrick’ smound number 50 becomes number 75 on M oorehead’ s map, Patrick’ s mound number
52 becomes 73, Patrick’ smound number 53 becomes number 72, Mound 54 becomes Mound 74,
Mound 56 becomes Mound 76, and again numbers 57 and 59 remain reversed. On Moorehead’s
1923 map, mound numbers 50, 52, 53, 54, and 56 are omitted completely, and replacing them are
numbers 72-76 (see Figure 35). Furthermore, M oorehead noticed that additional mounds existed
at Cahokiathat Patrick had |eft out of hismap, so on his 1923 map he added them. Thesewere
mounds 77-84. Then, from Moorehead’ s excavations completed in 1921 and 1922 he discovered
areas on the Cahokialandscape that were burial places and habitation areas. Herecorded these
areas on hismap by labeling them village and burial sites (Figure 35).

Thelast map Moorehead published of the Cahokiasitewasin 1929 (Figure 36). Again, this
map was areproduction of Patrick’ smain Cahokiamap. On this particular map Moorehead went
back to the way Patrick had labeled the mounds originally, numbers 1-71, with the exception of
Mound 57 and Mound 59, which remained opposite to the way Patrick |abeled them. The other
mounds M oorehead had identified during hisinvestigations at Cahokia (mounds not on the
Patrick map), he assigned numbers 72-85. Moorehead al so kept hislabeling of the village and
burial sitesthat can be seen on his 1923 map.

One noticeable difference between Patrick’ s Cahokiamap showing 71 mounds and that of
Moorehead’ s 1920s maps can be found when taking a closer look at Mound 61. On Patrick’s
map, and on Moorehead’ s 1922 map, Mound 61 isrepresented with itsmajor axis pointing in a

north-south direction. However, when examining Moorehead’ s 1923 and 1929 map, the
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Figure 35. The 1923 Cahokia Moorehead Map. Source: Fowler 1997:51.
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Figure 36. The 1929 Cahokia Moorehead Map. Source: Fowler 1997:52.



appearance of Mound 61 changes, showing the mound with itslongest axis pointing in an east-
west direction. Modern maps and an examination of thismound on the landscape indicate that
thelatter two Moorehead maps correctly depict thismound (Fowler 1989:45).

One of the problems Moorehead encountered when working at Cahokiawasthat he was
unaware that there existed asecond map of Cahokia, which included the Powell group of
mounds. When Moorehead examined the Patrick map with 71 mounds, he supposed the Powell
Mound was number 46, one of the westernmost mounds on thismap. Inreality, the Powell
Mound was not at all existent on the main Cahokia Patrick map Moorehead had, but on a separate
Patrick map held at the Missouri Historical Society.

Evidence for Moorehead’ s confusion can be found in his 1929 writings and on his 1929 map.
When discussing the Powell Mound in 1929 M oorehead stated that he was unableto positively
locate the Powell Mound on the Patrick map (M oorehead 1929:84). Y et, despite Moorehead' s
uncertainty, heresolved in believing Patrick’ smound number 46 wasthe Powell Mound.
Because he was under thisimpression, on his 1929 map he penciled in Mound 84 bel ow mound
46 and drew Mound 85 above Mound 46 (Figure 36). Although Mound 84, 85, and the Powell
mound did exist, thethree were located further west. The actual Mound 46, Patrick |abeled on his
map in the 1870s, stood alone. Had Moorehead realized the existence of a second Cahokiamap
showing the Powell Mound Group of mounds, certainly this mistake wouldn’t have been made.

Asfor the 1923 M oorehead map, thereisno known reason to why he numbered some mounds
differently than the way Patrick had originally numbered them on his1870smap. | believe
Moorehead’ s numbering confusion of Mounds 57 and 59, consistent on all three of hismaps
(1922, 1923, and 1929), was an accident. When observing these maps, Melvin Fowler, in his
Cahokia Atlas, suggestsignoring the 1923 map and to focusinstead on the 1922 and 1929 maps
(Fowler 1997:51). Accordingto Fowler, “the 1922 map isthe more faithful copy of the Patrick
map and the more accurate map of the Cahokiasite. The 1929 map is an accurate reflection of

Moorehead’ sfinal interpretation of the site and the areasin which heworked” (Fowler 1997:51).
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In 1966, the Anthropology Department at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, under the
direction of archaeol ogist, Melvin Fowler, and with the help of aNew Y ork based aerial
photography company, produced the most detailed map of the site since the Patrick map of the
1870s. Thegoa for the map wasto detail the entire Cahokiasite from mound 1 on the east to the
Powell Mound area on the west, then from the Kunnemann Mound Group to the north to the
Rattlesnake Mound areato the south (Fowler 1997:53). Theselocationsare generally considered
the boundaries of the Cahokiasite, which coversatotal of approximately six squaremiles. The
map was created using ascale of 1:2,000 (meters) with a3.3-foot (1 meter) contour interval
(Fowler 1997:53-54). When completed, the map covered six large paper sheets and was divided
into nine sections. For itscreation, aeria photographsweretaken, and were helpful inlocating
mounds present on the landscape aswell as mounds destroyed in previousyears. Typically, the
mounds no longer existing on the landscape could beidentified in the aerial photographsasa
white scar on the surface of the ground. Aerial photographstaken of the sitein the 1920s and
1930swere a so useful in hel ping identify mound locations.

Inall, 104 mounds were documented on the UW-Milwaukee map. The numbering system for
the UW-Milwaukee map isasfollows: Mounds 1-71 were numbered identical to the way Patrick
label ed them on his 1870s Cahokiamap, Mounds 72-85 were |abel ed in agreement with how
M oorehead labeled them on hisfinal 1929 Cahokia map, and mound numbers 86-104 were
assigned by the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee. Asfor the Powell Mound, Fowler assigned
it number 86. Although Moorehead had referenced the Powell Mound in hiswritingsand on his
1929 map as number 46, Fowler felt that number 46 on the UW-Milwaukee map should be used
for themound Patrick intended it to represent. The number 86 wastherefore assigned to the
Powell Mound (Fowler 1997:156). Keep in mind though, in earlier writingsfrom the 1920sand
1930s such as Titterington (1938) and M oorehead (1929), the Powell Mound wasreferred to as

Mound 46.
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When the UW-Milwaukee map was completed in summer of 1967, it was afterwards made
availableto Cahokiaresearchersand today is still widely used for the site’ s study (University
Wisconsin-Milwaukee Archaeol ogical Research Laboratory 2001). | feel itisimportant to
mention, so that thereisno more confusion, that the mound numbers assigned on the 1966 UW-
Milwaukee map are the numbers presently in use today.

Although 104 mounds were recorded on the UW-Milwaukee map, today it isbelieved that at
least 120 mounds once existed within the prehistoric site boundaries (11linoisHistoric
Preservation Agency Pamphlet). Fowler recognized, while at work on the 1966 mapping project,
the possibility that other mounds may exist in addition to the 104 moundsidentified, but the
evidence pointing towardsthis possibility arelessclear cut, and therefore mound numbershave
not been assigned to thesefeatures. For instance, morerecent aerial photographstaken of the
southern portion of the site reveal anumber of small white spots on the ground, surrounding
mound 66. Itislikely these white scars are thelocations of where mounds once stood, but Fowler
suggests further investigations of thisareashould take place before mound numbers are attributed
to them (Fowler 1997:170). Inanother location on the site, there exists several small elevated
areas bordering alarge borrow pit (named borrow pit 5-1 by the University of Wisconsin-
Milwaukee). According to Fowler, itisnot known whether these el evations are mounds, or
natural features (Fowler 1997:172). Further investigationswill need to take placein thislocation
beforeit can be determined whether mound numbers should be assigned to these elevations.

In 1967, James Anderson and Melvin Fowler, both from the University of Wisconsin-
Milwaukee, visited the Missouri Historical Society in St. Louis, and gained permissionto
photograph the Patrick maps. Their intentions when taking the photographswas to produce a
reproduction of the maps, particularly for our discussion, the redrafting of the Cahokiamap
showing 71 mounds and the map showing the Powell group (the westernmost portion of the site).
The photographs, after being taken, were enlarged and the two separate map units connected.

From these enlargements atracing was made to create areproduction showing the two Patrick
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maps connected asone. Included hereis Anderson and Fowler’ sredrafted Patrick map (Figure
37). | haveincluded it for the purpose of comparing Patrick’ s numbering system to that of
Moorehead’ s numbering system on his1922, 1923, and 1929 maps.

Moorehead’ s 1929 report marked hisfinal contribution to CahokiaMounds. Afterwards, he
focused on archaeol ogical pursuitsin other areas of the United States. Although Moorehead
wasn't physically present at Cahokia, he did keep up on the activitiestaking place at the sitein
the yearsto come. One piece of evidencefor this can be found in a short paper written by
Moorehead entitled “ A Pleafor the CahokiaMounds’. Init he spoke of the lamentableloss of
Cahokia sPowell Mound demolished in 1931, and furthermore expressed theimmediate need to
purchase and preservethe remaining Cahokiamounds before further destruction could take place
(Moorehead 1931b:376-377).

It isregrettable for Cahokia s sake that M oorehead decided not to extend his stay, at least for a
couple of moreyearsadvocating for the site’ spreservation. If Moorehead had stayed, hewould
havelikely been successful in convincing the state to purchase more property in addition to the
144 acres purchased in 1925. And had he continued in pursuit of Cahokia’ s preservation, the
unfortunate series of eventsin the two decadesto come, the destruction of two mounds |ocated
outsidethe park boundaries, the Powell Mound and Murdock Mound, may have never occurred.
We could go on for alengthy period of time debating how different things might have been had
he stuck around, but the outcome had he stayed we will never know.

Before Moorehead parted ways he left hisreaders with one very important message for
Cahokia sfuture. In 1929, he pleaded to hisreadersthat “the State of I1linois, through its
legislature, be earnestly petitioned to purchase certain tracts lying to the east, west, and south of
the State Park. Otherwise, these remarkable tumuli will becomelost to both the public and to
scienceforever” (Moorehead 1929:13). Hisstatement couldn’t have been more accurate. The

next few decades at Cahokiaturned out to be ones of deep disappointment and regret.
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Chapter 5
The Raging of Two-Mounds

If you wereto ask someone who is both knowledgeabl e on the topic of Cahokia’ s early history
and sympathetic towards Cahokia’ spreservation, “What happened at Cahokiaduring the 1930s
and 1940s?’ their responsewould likely contain feelings of sadness and disappointment for
reason that the 1930s and 1940s were two of the most regrettable decadesin Cahokia shistory.
First came the destruction of the Powell Mound in the 1930sfollowed by the razing of the
Murdock Mound in the 1940s.

In the early 1930s, two brothers, Frederick and William Powell, were the owners of a 50-acre
tract of land that contained alarge mound named the Powell Mound after the brothers. The
mound was |located amile and a half west of Monks Mound (Figure 38). The brotherswere
horseradish farmerswho utilized their land for planting and harvesting their crop. However,
present on their land were a coupl e of trouble areas slowing down their work. For one, theland
contained alow-lying swamp areanot fit for farming, and second, avery large earthen mound in
the shape of ahayrick positioned itself on the property and was taking up val uable space.

Theterm *hayrick” was aname often given to ridge-top mounds, and is derived from early

farm wagons used to haul hay (Y oung and Fowler 2000:115). When the wagon wasfull of hay it
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roseto anarrow ridge, looking very similar in appearance to the way these mounds|ook; hence

the name hayrick.

Figure 38. George B. Higgins model of the Cahokia Mound Group. Map shows distance
between Monks Mound and the Powell Mound. A. Monks Mound; F. Powell Mound. Source:

Titterington 1938:16.

The Powell Mound measured 310 feet long (94.5 meters) (east to west) 180 feet wide (54.9
meters) (north to south), and stood 40 feet (12.2 meters) tall (Titterington 1938:13), making it the
second largest mound at Cahokia (Figure 39). The Powell brothersrealized it would beto their
advantageto level the mound to the surrounding plain and use the mound remnantstofill inthe
low areaon their property. If thiswereto be done, the entiretract of land could be successfully
farmed. At the sametimethe brotherswere aware that the mound could potentially be significant
to science. Before any planswere made for the mound’ s destruction, the brothers made a
standing offer to any institution who wished to study the mound. Their offer wasthat for aprice
of $3,000 dollars, and for three years of time, any interested institution could enter onto their
property to investigate the mound. The only condition to their offer wasthat when the institution

was finished with their work, they would remove the mound from its original location and
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transport the dirt to the low area of land on their property. For threeyears, the brotherswaited for
someoneto take an interest in their offer, but no one seemed to be aroused. Evenif any
university or museum did take an interest, little to no funding was available to support such a

project (Titterington 1938:13).

Figure 39. 1922 Aerial photograph of the Powell Mound taken prior to the mound’s destruction.
Photograph by Lieutenant George Goddard of the U.S. Army Air Service. Photograph taken
looking east. Source: Fowler 1997:27.

At one point it appearsthat the state of Illinoisdid take an interest, and wanted to buy the
mound along with a 50-foot (15.2 meter) margin around its base and aroad |eading from the
mound to Collinsville Road. However, it seemsthat the state during thistime might have been
low on funds because Mr. Seever, afriend of Moorehead, had offered to buy the mound and the
surrounding tract of land, keeping it until the state could reimburse him (Moorehead 1931b:376).
But the purchase of only the mound and road, as proposed by the state, would have cut an odd
shape out of the Powell brothersland making it more of an obstacleto farm thaninitially, so the
brothersturned down their offer. Instead, they responded by offering the state the opportunity to

purchasetheir entirefarm. An offer such asthistoday, under the same circumstances, would in
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no way berefused. The Powell’ sland held not only avery important mound part of the larger
Cahokiacomplex, but moreover the surrounding property and the mound itself contained agold
mine of information below the surface that could be used |ater to assist archaeologistsin
understanding more about Cahokiaand itsprehistoric residents. Even if no archaeological work
wereto be ever undertaken on this mound, preserving it would have added charismato the
Cahokialandscape and would have al so served as an attraction for the future visitors of Cahokia,
similarly asMonks Mound doestoday. Both Seever and Moorehead were aware of themound' s
significance, and urged for its preservation in astate park (Moorehead 1931b:376). Even Seever
went asfar as offering to loan his own money to the state to ensure the mound’ s protection, but
despite hisgenerosity, nothing came of it. Itisunfortunate that the state of I1linoisin the 1930s
was unabl e to purchase the Powell’ sentirefarm.

With the state and the brothers at a standstill on the issue for some time, rumors began to build
on the possibility of the state condemning the property. When the brothers caught wind of the
rumor, they wereinfuriated, and immediately began to make plansfor the mound’ sremoval.

In December of 1930, the brothers hired a steam shovel operator to begin the process of razing
themound. The operator wasinstructed to begin work on the north side of the mound for reason
that the north side of the mound pointed away from Collinsville Road (U.S. 40) and therefore
would not attract the attention of driverswho passed by the Powell’ s property. The brothers
schemewasin large part asuccess. For eight daysno local or passerby realized the mound was
under demolition. From adriver’sperspectivetraveling down Collinsville Road and looking to
the north, the mound appeared in one piece. Finally, after eight days of steam shovel activity, Dr.
Paul F. Titterington, aradiologist and avocational archaeologist from St. Louis, discovered what
had been going on and promptly relayed the newsto the University of Illinois. The University
responded, but was slow to take action. Demolition of the Powell Mound wasin progressfor a
total of sixteen days before the Archaeology Department at the University sent Dr. A.R. Kelly to

the mound to make observations(Titterington 1938:13-14). In an effort to gain as much
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knowledge as possible on the mound’ sinternal contents, Titterington spokewith theworkerswho
were present during thefirst days of the demolition. Helearned that nearly from the start of the
project the workers noticed a black humus line four inches thick beginning near the base of the
mound gradually rising up the side, and stopping at the halfway point of the mound (at
approximately 20 feet in height). From theretheline cut horizontally acrossthe longest axis of
the mound and then sloped downward until reaching the base on the opposite end of the mound
(Figure40). What thisblack lineindicated to Kelly and Titterington wasthat asmaller
rectangular, flat-topped mound once existed inside the Powell Mound. The thickness of the
humusline, suggested that the mound surface was stable for a sufficient amount of timeto allow
for the build up of organic debrisfrom human occupation (Ahler and Depuydt 1987:3). From the
humusline, the prehistoric builders added a 20-foot addition, bringing the mound to itsfinished
form at 40 feet (12.2 meters) in height. Theworkersalso told Titterington they noticed a
considerable amount of reddish burnt clay on the western edge of the mound directly abovethe
humusline. Titterington believed that the clay was either the surface of a prehistoric burnt house

or afireplace (Titterington 1938:14).

Figure 40. The razing of the Powell Mound. The black humus line at
the center of the mound is clearly visible in this photo. Photograph by
the University of Illinois. Source: Titterington 1938:39.
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Thefirst burial site witnessed, located directly above the humusline, was agroup burial
consisting of bone fragments, thousands of marginellashells, and afew beads made from the
columellaof aconch shell. Sadly, thisburial was completely destroyed by the machinery before
any further observations could be made.

Another discovery was apreserved cedar post found three feet below the humusline, a short
distance west of the center of the mound. The post measured six inchesin diameter.
Unfortunately, during demolition the steam shovel hit the post causing it to break into two pieces
and asaresult left only apartial section of the post in place. Thetop of the remaining post when
measured down to the edge of the dirt wasrecorded as 18 inchesin length. Sadly, theintact post
piece was not saved, and no mention was made in Titterington’ swritingsto describe the buried
portion.

Y earslater, similar postholes and post remains have been identified at other mounds at
Cahokia. One post pit wasidentified at Mound 72 in 1967 (Fowler 1997:145), and another was
discovered during excavations on the southwest corner of Monks Mound’ sfirst terrace (Fowler
1997:101). Archaeol ogist Melvin Fowler found, that these posts, probably set in place by
Cahokia sprehistoric city planners, were markersdelineating Cahokia smajor north-south axis
line within the city. The wooden post, once located at the southwest corner of Monks Mound, and
the post once standing at the southeast corner of Mound 72, were placed with such precision by
Cahokia scity plannersthat when Fowler drew astraight line connecting the two, hisline pointed
at true north. When extending a straight line westward from the post pit found at the southwest
corner of Monks Mound, theline cutsthrough four additional Cahokiamounds before reaching
Mound 84, amound located immediately south of the Powell Mound. It isvery possible another
post was erected at the |ocation of Mound 84, marking off Cahokia s major east-west line,
however excavations conducted on thismound in the early 1930s gave no mention of finding a
post hole feature nor wooden post remains. When drawing astraight line from the location of the

post found at the Powell Mound in the 1930sto the post feature at Monks Mound’ s southwest
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corner, connecting it with the north-south line, thetwo form a92° angle. According to two
Cahokiaresearchers, Steven Ahler and Peter DePuydt, such an alignment indicatesthat the
Powell Mound waslinked to the overall geographic orientation of the Cahokiasite at |east as
early asthefirst major construction stage of the mound and possibly much earlier (Ahler and
DePuydt 1987:5).

While Titterington was making observations at the Powell Mound, he and Kelly were given
permission to examine more closely the profile of asecond group burial found in the mound
immediately abovethe humusline, and located onethird of the way into the mound fromits
eastern edge. For better viewing, Titterington, Kelly, and afew other observers stood in the claw
of the steam shovel and wereraised to an even level withtheburial. Titterington, in his 1938
publication entitled, The Cahokia Mound Group and Its Village Ste Material s described what he
witnessed when they approached the burial:

Our impression of what we saw wasthat cedar sticks, about 1 inch in diameter,
had been laid down parallel to each other about 3 feet apart on the top of the
humusline. These had been covered over with layers of bark and the burials
placed on top of the bark. The burialswere covered by from 1to 5 layers of
Marginellashells. These shellswerein such definite rows, and covered areas
sufficient in size, to suggest that they had been attached to garments or robes.
Over thetop layer of shellswasalayer of bark, and above thiswas the secondary
mound (Titterington 1938:14).

Many artifacts were found both during and after the demolition of the mound. The types of
artifactsrecovered included beads made from the columellaof conch shells, Marginellabeads,
shell pendants, and alarge number of pottery sherds. Two of the more intriguing artifacts found
were two small spindle-shaped artifacts made from cedar wood. Thetriangle shaped coneson
either end of the spindleswere covered in copper and one of the spindles had a preserved piece of
aleather strap tied to itscenter. Titterington in hiswritings made no speculation on what these
spindle shaped objects might represent, but he did include aphoto of thetwo artifactsin his 1938
publication and | have included them herein (Figure 41). A.R. Kelly, on the other hand, wrotein

1933, that the wooden copper spoolswereinterpreted to be ear pendants (Kelly 1933:101).
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Figure 41. Spindle-shaped objects from the Powell Mound.
A. copper removed; B. copper and |eather strap intact. Source:
Titterington 1938:40.

By January, 1931, only seven feet (2.1 meters) of the Powell Mound remained intact. The
following month, in February, Thorne Deuel of the University of Chicago, with the help of W.C.
McKern of the Milwaukee Public Museum, and the University of Illinois, gained permission from
the Powell brothersto excavate into the remaining few feet of the mound.

Thefield techniques employed by Deuel, called for the placing of two main trenchesinto the
mound (Ahler and DePuydt 1987:5). Thelongest trench ran through the mound’ s east-west axis,
and measured over 300 feet (91 meters). The north-south trench bisected the east-west trench and
exceeded 200 feet (61 meters) in length (Ahler and DePuydt 1987:5). Thetrenches were then
divided into 5x10 foot units. | assume the 200 foot north-south trench exceeded the actual width
of the mound, seeing as the mound’ s north-south axis measured 180 feet (54.9 meters) wide. In
addition, Deuel placed two smaller trenchesrunning parallel to, and on either side of the north-
south trench, both trenches bi secting the east-west trench (Figure 42). Inthetrenches, Deuel’s
field crew recovered large amounts of village site remains, pottery sherds, stone and bone

artifacts, and kitchen refuse (Kelly 1933:102). Upon an examination of the pottery sherds
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Figure 42. Units excavated in the remaining seven feet of the Powell Mound, Mound 86, by
Thorne Deuel, University of Chicago and University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign in 1931.
Source: Ahler and DePuydt 1987:309.

recovered in the mound fill and in the pre-mound occupational area, it was noticed that the sherds
from these locations closely resembled one another. The sherdswerethick and course, and
typically when pieced together they formed a straight walled beaker shaped vessel with astraight
handle located either on the rim or on the upper half of the vessel (Titterington 1938:11). A few
of the handles on the straight beakers werein the shape of human forearms and some took the
shape of ahuman arm with aclosed fist. Appearing too in this ceramic style were bow! shaped
effigy wareswhose handles were often formed into the shape of animal or bird heads, with atail
placed opposite from the head on therim (Titterington 1938:11) (Figure 43). Becausethe
materials coming from both the pre-mound occupational areaand thefill of the Powell Mound
were of the sametype, it was determined that the entire mound, both fill and pre-mound area

belonged to the sametime period. Thiscultural phase and the materials associated with it was
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Figure 43. Cahokia pottery. The five center pieces in the top row; the three center pieces in the
middle row; and the two large plate-like pieces in the bottom row, are the thin, black, polished ware
of the “Old Village” Culture. All others are the coarser ware of the “Bean Pot” Culture.

Photographed by the University of Illinois. Source: Titterington 1938:37.

given the name“Bean Pot” or “Trappist” culture; the name “Bean Pot” after the shape of the most
common ware of thisphase. Work at the Powell Mound continued into the spring of 1931. No
recordsindicatethat their excavationscontinued beyond that point.

In the summer of 1931, a second excavation took place at amound (Mound 84) located just
south of the Powell Mound, under the supervision of Gene M. Stirling and A.R. Kelly, both from
the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. Of significancefromthisexcavationwere
materialsretrieved from large refuse pit structures beneath the mound. The materialsdiscovered
inthe pitsdiffered stylistically from the materials coming from the mound fill above, and that of
the Powell Mound materials. The pottery sherdsin the pitswere thin, smooth in texture, and
covered in ablack polished finish (Figure 39). A.R. Kelly called this culture of the pit structures
“Old Village™ (Titterington 1938:15) or “Pure Village Site” (Kelly 1933:102) culture, asit existed

beforethe“Bean Pot” or “Trappist” culture.
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Thediscovery of the pit structures beneath this mound was an exceptional occurrence. The
mound had served as a protective covering, isolating, and preventing the mixture of the early
village materials contained in the pit structures from the materialsbelonging to the later “Bean
Pot” or “ Trappist” culture (Kelly 1933:102). Through the discovery of these two variantsin
pottery types, for thefirst timein Cahokia' s history came the understanding that there existed at
least two cultural periodsin Cahokia sprehistory. Thisbasic chronology of theearlier “ Old
Village” and the later “Bean Pot” culture was accepted for many years, until the early 1970s
when it underwent somerevisions.

With the loss of the Powell Mound in the 1930s, Cahokia’ s supporters could only hopefor a
change of luck for the better in the decadeto follow, but asit turned out, the 1940s cameto bare
witnesstheloss of yet another Cahokiamound, the Murdock Mound, Mound 55.

In 1940, Dr. Titterington, who had been keeping up with the eventstaking place at Cahokiafor
sometime (reporting the endangerment of the Powell Mound in the early 1930s), again heard of
another Cahokiamound in jeopardy, thistime situated on atract of land located just outside of the
park boundaries, south of Collinsville Road and to the southeast of Monks Mound. Harry
Murdock, abuilding contractor and owner of the property was beginning to level hislandin
preparation for the construction of anew subdivision hewould call MoundsAcreage. The
subdivision’ s name was misleading to say theleast, for Mr. Murdock did not wish to keep the
mounds existing on the property as a part of his neighborhood, but instead planned to level
several moundsin theway of hisnew homes. One of the mounds|ocated on the property was
Patrick’ smound number 55, or in more recent times called the Murdock M ound for obvious
reasons. When Titterington discovered Murdock’ s plan to demolish thismound, he at once called
Thorne Deuel who was now the chief of the lllinois State Museum. Titterington informed Deuel
of the current state of affairs occurring to the southeast of Monks Mound, asking for assistancein
the matter. But before Deuel could send someone out to the mound it was necessary to obtain

permission from Murdock for acrew to conduct salvage excavations on his property.
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Fortunately, Murdock agreed and preparations were made to begin work on the Murdock Mound
inthe summer of 1941. For the project, Deuel sent out one of his colleagues from the museum to
take charge of thework; aposition that would consist of supervising asmall crew of workers
from Franklin D. Roosevelt’ sWorks Progress Administration (WPA), aswell asreporting any
information |earned from the mound back to Deuel. The person chosen for the job was agraduate

of the University of Chicago, awoman named Harriet Smith (Figure 44).

Figure 44. 1980s photograph of Harriet Smith, which appeared on the
cover of asummer 1989 issue of Illinois Antiquity. Source: lllinois

Antiquity 1989, Vol 23.

Smith’ swork at the Murdock Mound represents some of the most detailed and thorough work
ever completed at the site, yet her work has never quite received the credit it deserves. Inthe
past, many of her colleagues believed her theories on measurement and chartsdidn’t make any

sense, and for thisreason her work was often criticized and neglected (Y oung and Fowler

118



2000:47-48). Onthe other hand, fellow archaeol ogist Melvin Fowler believed Smith’ swork was
original and that her fieldwork was exceptional (Y oung and Fowler 2000 47-48) Under this
belief, Fowler republished an expanded version of Smith’s 1942 report in his 1969 publication
entitled Explorationsinto Cahokia Archaeol ogy, and her work has since gained some recognition.
Today Smith’ swork has been documented in anumber of more recent books on Cahokia, but
rarely are her excavationsreiterated in any great length. Because| feel Harriet Smith’ swork isa
truly essentia part of Cahokia searly history and must not be forgotten, the next several pages
arededicated to Harriet Smith’ simportant work at Cahokiain 1941.

The Murdock Mound salvage excavations lasted atotal of six months, from June 11" to
December 15", 1941. Excavationswere expected to continuefor alonger duration of time, but
the bombing of Pearl Harbor on December 7" 1eft Smith with adiminishi ng crew, who one by
one parted waysfrom the excavation site to join the military or commit themselvesto wartime
jobs. Despite the abrupt end to the project, much waslearned in the six months Smith devoted to
the Murdock Mound.

Intotal, 13 stratigraphic levelswere determined, five in the village area beneath the mound
and eight inside of the mound itself. Furthermore, six different types of structureswere found at
variouslevelsin both the village areaand inside the mound.

Thetypes of structuresfound at the Murdock Mound were wattle and daub type edifices.
Thiswas determined by the discovery of remains of wattle and daub in the excavations. The
wattle and daub house was made by securing upright postsinto the ground as a support for the
walls. Laced in-between the postswere small vinesor twigscalled “wattle’. The“daub” wasa
mud/clay mixture combined with grasses and straw, that when smoothed over the “wattle”, made
sufficient wallsfor abuilding or home (Y oung and Fowler 2000:46).

The earliest type of house structure found by Smith’s crew was not fully investigated asthe
bombing of Pearl Harbor cut their project short, but they did gain some information on the

appearance of thisfirst housetype. Thisparticular structure, found in avillagelayer (the earliest
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occupational level), contained afloor whose surface was not even with the ground level, but
rather dug out to adepth of two feet. Smith suggested that this earliest type of house structure
bel onged to the Woodland culture (Smith 1969:53) (Figure 2).

Keep in mind, thefloor of thisearly house structure was found at a deeper level than the
present ground surface at the time of Smith’ sexcavationsin 1941. This particular floor of the
earliest house waslocated 4 Y2 feet (1.4 meters) below the 1941 ground surface. Thereason for
thisearly prehistoric ground surface existing at asubstantially deeper level than the present
ground surfaceis because over aperiod of time layers and strata build up over aprevious ground
surface, thusforming anew ground surface. Over timethese older occupied village layers
become buried at varying depths bel ow the present ground surface. Several factors contributeto
thisaccumulation of the soil, some of which include the decomposition of animal and plant
remains. Also, natural forces such aswind or water can carry sedimentsfrom one placeto
another causing the build up of layers. Human day-to-day activities such asburningfires,
cooking, or smply leaving trash sitting around, all contribute to the raising of an existing ground
level. Typically, in archaeology, the deepest level of findings beneath the ground is considered
the oldest, and each subsequent layer more recent.

Located above the earliest house floor, Smith located a clay sitting bench that surrounded the
inside walls of the house and measured approximately two feet across. The bottom of the bench
slanted towards the floor by 35 degrees. The posts, which made up the house walls, were set into
thisbench at approximately afoot apart from one another, and alarger post to support the roof
beamswas placed towardsthe center of the house. Thishousewasrectangular in shape. Smith
noticed that this house and otherslikeit at the same level were oriented on an east-west line.
Interestingly, all other structures abovethisearliest level, in both thevillage areaand inthe
mound, were oriented on anorth-south line (Smith 1969:56), running parallel with Monks

Mound’ ssides. Furthermore, the Murdock Mound was oriented on anorth-south axis. This
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indicated to Smith that Cahokia sresidents must have followed an enforced design plan for the
way inwhich they built their homes and mounds.

In the second oldest floor underneath the Murdock Mound, Smith found atype of structure
different than the previous. Thisbuilding wasbuilt inside ashallow circular shaped pit 27 feet
(8.2 meters) indiameter, but instead of arectangular structure, the building inside the circle took
the shape of across. One unique characteristic about this structure wasthat it was built with
doublewalls, asif whatever was enclosed in this space was worthy of added protection. The
wallswere built with single set posts spaced one foot apart from one another. Theinside
diameter of the cross-shaped structure measured 19 feet (5.8 meters) whilethe outside diameter
of the cross-shaped structure measured 21 feet (6.4 meters). Smith believed this structure would
betoo cramped for afamily to occupy because of itsalcoves, but suggested it might have been a
storehouse (Smith 1969:56), which may explain the reasoning behind the doublewalls (Figure

45).
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Figure 45. Harriet Smith’s ground plan of a Cross-Shaped Housein a
Saucer-Shaped Pit located beneath the Murdock Mound, Number 55.

Source: Smith 1969:54.

In the last occupied village level beneath the Murdock Mound, Smith found something out of
the ordinary, not like any of the structures noted of previously. In her excavationslaid two
building structures, tied together by acommon burned ground surface. One of the structures was
acommonly occurring rectangul ar residence, but the other building associated with it wasbuiltin

the shape of aperfect circle. Thecircular building’ s floor measured 16 Y2 feet (5 meters) in
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diameter and was sunk ten inches below the ground on which thewall posts stood. Thewalls of
the circular structure were thicker in comparison with itsneighboring structures. Thewallswere
afoot wide, whereas the rectangul ar residences had walls approximately four to six inchesin
width, half the size of the circular building’ swalls. It was determined from the soil impressions
left in the excavations, that the outer walls of the circular structure at one point were covered with
mats. Evidencein the excavations showed that the mats had been tucked under the bottom of the
wallsof the building. On theinside of this structure there existed afire pit amost centered on the
floor that measured 2 %2 feet (0.8 meters) in diameter. Smithin her writing called thisfirepit a
well, asits depth measured over 16 inches deep, and consisted of perfectly vertical sides
throughout. The appearance of the clay inthefire pit, aswell asthe appearance of the
surrounding floor indicated to Smith that fireswere burned inside the building either for very
long periods of time or consistently.

Located only 7 feet (2.1 meters) south of the circular structure, and residing on the same
burned ground surface, sat the rectangul ar residence associated with it. Asmentioned earlier, the
walls of the rectangular residence were thinner than the walls of the circular building, measuring
anywherefrom four to six inchesthick. Thefire pit, near the center of thisresidence, was neither
asdeep nor utilized near to the extent asthefire pit in the circular building. Therectangular
residence, when measured from its outside wallswas 19.6 feet (6 meters) (north to south) and
over 21.5 feet (6.6 meters) from (west to east) (the east wall was not excavated). The entranceto
this residence was | ocated on the south wall.

Smith hypothesized based on her evidence gathered, that the circular structure she encountered
in her excavations had aceremonial related function. She cameto this conclusion based on
several indicators, including thestructure’ scontrasting circular shape when compared with the
other rectangular structures, extracarein its construction, thick walls, and along burning or
continuousfire at its center. Therectangular residencein very close proximity to the circular

building, she surmised, might have been where apriest or clan head took up residence.
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Smith dated both buildingsto the Middle Mississippian period based on her examination of
thebuildings architectural features. Thesefeaturesincluded wall trenches, circular clay fire pits
with raised rims, and prepared clay floors (Smith 1969:58).

The next series of residences, abovethevillage layers, were built on low platforms. Thefact
that these structures were built up onto platforms rai sed above the ground surface, suggested to
Smith that this particular areato the southeast of Monks Mound was hometo an elite classat this
later time. Theindividual platforms she found wereraised and expanded several timesthrough
an extended period of time, until finally they were consolidated to form acompleted platform
threefeet in height, whose surface measured 90 feet (27.4 meters) (north to south) and 75 feet
(22.9 meters) (east towest). Smith was ableto determinethe platform’s dimensions becauseits
surface and edges were heavily compacted and worn from long use, making itsoutline easily
distinguishableinthe excavations. The platform’ssidesdipped at a 30-degree angle and each
corner of the platform wasfaceted. In the southeast quadrant of the platform Smith discovered
there once existed aprivacy fence. Within the fence' s boundaries existed abig posthole, wherea
tall upright post once stood. Smith believed that ceremonies once centered on thisbig post.

Interestingly, in Smith’ sreport, she stressed to the reader her belief, that when this platform
wasfinished, at itsthree-foot high stage, that at | east the eastern face of the lower terrace of
MonksMound already existed. She claimed that the Murdock architect, or surveyor,
intentionally and with careful precision, when building thisMurdock Platform, aligned its eastern
face sothat it would orient exactly with Monks Mound’ s eastern face, or at |east the eastern part
of MonksMound’ slower terrace (Smith 1969:66-70,87).

Thethreefoot tall platform mound, where the fence was reported, Smith called a submound
platform becauseit existed inside the actual Murdock Mound. After much utilization of the
submound platform, according to Smith, the next phase of construction took place. Thisnext
phase, as believed by Smith, wasthe construction of two additional platforms, which constituted

the Murdock Mound.
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When Smith arrived at Cahokiain 1941, the Murdock Mound stood 9 %2 feet (2.9 meters) tall.
Some early maps of the Cahokia site from the late 1800s depicted the mound at ataller height
than it appeared at thetime of Smith’sarrival. William McAdams' 1882 map documented the
Murdock Mound at aheight of 15 feet (4.6 meters), whilethe 1894 Cyrus Thomas map recorded
the mound as 10 feet (3 meters) in height. The measurements on these early maps support the
ideathat in the yearsleading up to 1941, the Murdock Mound’ s shape and size was transformed
and reduced by thefarmer’ s plow. Another indicator suggesting that this mound was plowed was
that in the 1922 Goddard aerial photostaken at Cahokia show the Murdock Mound surrounded by
acultivated field (Fowler 1997:121).

From Smith’ swork completed in 1941 she concluded that the Murdock Mound in its finished
form in prehistoric times, was considerably taller than 9 Y2 feet (2.9 meters). Her interpretation of
the Murdock Mound wasthat it was built up astwo platforms. Thefirst wasalower platform
that measured 16 %2 feet (5 meters) tall extending on its western face and the second platform was
ahigher platform Smith called the Temple Mound, which stood 33 feet (10 meters) tall and
occupied the east side of the mound. She came to these conclusions, based not on how the mound
appeared on the landscape in 1941, but rather what she witnessed in her excavations. In her
excavations she was ableto discern the basal outline of the Murdock Mound, and saw that the
outline of the mound had faceted corners. Also present in her excavations, inthewall profiles,
remained afew feet of the mound’ sslopes. Because Smith could see the slopes and facetsin her
excavations, she used theinformation at hand (her known points and degree of slope), to
mathematically determinethefinal height of thetwo platforms.

Just before the Murdock Mound was finally abandoned in prehistoric times, Smith
hypothesized, the temple once erected on the mound’ s summit was burned, and eventualy the
temple remains plummeted down the sides resting near the base of the mound. The charcoa was
retrieved from what Smith believed to be the temple remains, and dated to A.D. 1370+ 75years

(Fowler 1997:121). According to Smith’ sstudies, the earliest level of occupation at the Murdock
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Mound took placein the Woodland period, and the burning of the temple atop Murdock Mound
marked the final event to take place at the mound before it was abandoned.

Harriet Smith’scommitment to detail and her application of modern archaeol ogical methods
inthefield could not be matched by anyone who had come before her. Although there were
some who criticized her theories, as anyone presenting new ideas has, there can be no argument
astothevalue of her data. Her work confirmed that the area of the Murdock Mound was once a
densely populated area, occupied for aspan of several hundred years. Furthermore, Smithwas
ableto determine that their had been an arranged neighborhood plan in the Murdock area. And
from her work, Smith determined that the area of the Murdock Mound washometo Cahokia's
eliteclass. Under the great pressure of time restraints, she amassed an enormous amount of
information on the Murdock Mound that may have been lost forever if not put into thetrust of her
capable hands. Because of Harriet Smith’ s dedication to her work, today the Murdock Moundis
considered one of the most compl etely excavated and examined mounds at the site (Fowler
1997:121).

Smith’ sexcellent work in 1941 pretty much constitutesthe bulk of excavationsat Cahokia
during that decade, and little can be found describing any serious effort beyond hers. World War
Il and post war recovery took most of the nation’ senergy and attention. Money and able-bodied
persona were diverted, and dedicated to these endeavors. The study of ancient peoplesand their

culturewas put at astand still during these difficult timesin American history.
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Chapter 6
Beyond the 1940y

Of coursetherich and varied history of Cahokia Mounds does not end in the 1940s, but it is
outside the scope of this paper to cover events beyond this point any fine detail here. To touch on
some of the highlights occurring at the site post 1940s would be appropriate because one of the
main purposes of this paper isto arouse the reader’ s curiosity on thetopic and to interest themin
further study. The next several paragraphswill, in brief, bring to light some key happenings at
the site from the 1950s to present times.

Four major occurrences marked the 1950s. In 1950 James B. Griffin and Albert C. Spaulding
of the University of Michigan Museum of Anthropology spent one season of work excavating
into Mound 34 with agrant secured from the VViking Fund (later called the Wenner-Gren
Foundation) (Fowler 1997:26). Mound 34 isasmall mound and islocated 400 metersto the east
of MonksMound. 1n 1950, Mound 34 measured about 10 feet (3 meters) in height. Griffin and
Spaulding’ swork at Mound 34 involved the placement of three 5x10 foot unitsinto the northern
and northeastern sides of the mound. Their hope wasthat when examining the statigraphy in
their trenchesthey would be able to distinguish afiner sequencein the Old Village and Trappist
culture (Kelly, et al. 2007:62). To their disappointment, the ceramic typesfound in their trenches

werefor themost part equally distributed throughout their units, therefore making it impossibleto
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fine-tune Cahokia s ceramic sequence. A few extraordinary finds coming out of their unitswere
two pieces of an engraved marine shell cup (thefirst shell cup piecesfrom Cahokia), and
fragments of a repoussé copper plate (Kelly, et al 2007:62). When unableto renew the Viking
Fund Grant to support their work for asecond season, Griffin and Spaulding left Cahokia.

Oneinteresting person who worked at Mound 34 in the 1950s was Gregory Perino. 1n 1956,
Perino was hired by the Thomas Gilcrease I nstitute of American History and Art, of Tulsa
Oklahomarfor the purpose of securing authentic artifactsfor the museum to put out on display.
Although Perino was aware of appropriate methods of excavation, hefrequently used abulldozer
to get the job accomplished in atimely fashion. Becausethe state at the time did not own the
property where Mound 34 waslocated, the type of work Perino wasinvolved in was permissible.
Perino, with the help of hisbulldozer, cut along and wide trench into the northern end of the
mound and obtained afew whol e artifacts of exceptional quality. Beneath the surface of the
mound, Perino located fragments of engraved shell piecesin alinear bed of charcoa hereferred
toas"ceremonial fires’ (Kelly, et al 2007:63). Besides Mound 34, Perino worked briefly, digging
into the Ramey Tract (east of Monks Mound), and spent a short amount of time examining the
southwest edge of thefirst terrace on Monks Mound.

Another individual working at Cahokiain the 1950swas a professor from Washington
University named Preston Holder. Around 1952, Holder excavated for abrief time at amound
located on the south side of Collinsville Road, and ashort distance southwest of the Powell
Mound. Hecalledthisareathe“junk yard site”, and today, in thislocation sits the Indian
MoundsMotel. During hisexcavations here he discovered asingle burial consisting of at |east
175individuals (Y oung and Fowler 2000:59). Additionally, for two summer seasonsin 1955 and
1956, Holder devoted himself to the partial excavation of the Kunnemann Mound number 11, and
itslower terrace to the east, labeled mound 10 on the 1870s John J.R. Patrick Cahokiamap.
Holder took on the project when he learned that the mound wasto be leveled and itsfill used for a

bridge project along Sand Prairie Lane (the north-south road a short distance west of Monks
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Mound) (Pauketat 1993:16). Most of the work undertaken at the Kunnemann Mound was paid
for by way of acouple of small grants, but mostly at Holder’ sexpense. Holder devoted his
weekends and any freetimeto themounds' study without compensation. Evidencefrom his
excavations supported the idea that the Kunnemann Tract was an areathat specialized in craft
production, especially the production of shell beads. Timothy Pauketat, who wrote on Holder’s
work at the Kunnemann mound, believed that this areawas not only aplace where shell beads
were produced, but also aplace where complete shell necklaceswere crafted (1993:106).
Luckily, the county decided against using the mound asfill for the bridge, and today the
Kunnemann mound still standsand is protected within the State Historic Site boundaries.

Thelast major event of the 1950sinvolved another salvage archaeology project, thistimeto
the east of Monks Mound. In theyears 1958 and 1959, mounds 30 and 31 were planned for
destruction when alarge department store by the name of “Grandpa’ s’ was planned for
construction in replacement of the two mounds. Again, nothing could be doneto stop the
mounds' removal because theland where they were located wasn't owned by the state. It was
Joseph Caldwell, Curator of Anthropology at the Illinois State Museum who arrived at Cahokiato
salvage what he could prior to the razing of both mounds. Assisting Caldwell with hiswork was
agroup of avocational archaeol ogists of the Cahokia Archaeological Society (CAS). Themain
focus of Caldwell’ sexcavationswasat Mound 31, also named Schmidt Mound. Hisexcavations
were limited to asingle trench and atest pit (Sullivan and Pauketat 2007:14). Caldwell’ strench
excavationsrevealed that the mound was built up in 10 separate construction stages. Intheearly
1960s the store was built, resulting in the destruction of al but the base of Mound 31. Caldwell,
who was devastated by the loss, began lobbying in Springfield for the protection of more Cahokia
land. Mainly because of hisefforts, asecond piece of Cahokialand was added to the sitein the
1960s; thefirst since the 144 acres purchased in 1925.

The early 1960s brought the construction of Interstates 55, 270, and 255 to Cahokia's

doorstep. The highway construction wasto affect three areas on the Cahokiasite. Theseareas
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were Tract 15B, (300 yardswest of Monks Mound), Tract 15A (1000 yards west of Monks
Mound), and the Powell Tract on the western periphery of the site. Seven milesnorth of Cahokia,
the Mitchell sitewasal so threatened by the highway construction. Apparently, asit later turned
out, the Interstate Highway plans changed to some extent, and thankfully Tract 15A was spared
major destruction.

The salvage work precipitated by these highway projects was divided between three
ingtitutions. Thelllinois State Museum took on the responsibility of salvagework on Tract 15A
and 15B, the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign was assigned the Powell Mound Tract,
and Southern Illinois University at Carbondale wasin charge of salvage excavationsat the
Mitchell Site. The salvage archaeology at all three places on the Cahokiasiterevealed evidence
of heavy occupation from Cahokia’ sprehistoricinhabitants. The crewsunearthed features of
hundreds of house structures. On Tract 15B, besides|ocating numerous house structures, crews
fromthelllinois State Museum identified threewall trenchesbelonging to alarge building
compound. One of the most intriguing finds on Tract 15A wasthe discovery of anumber of large
oval shaped post pits. When the salvage work was completed, a closer examination of the maps
produced of the area, showed that these post pit features were arranged in the shape of large
circles. Onceexisting insidethese oval pitsstood large wooden posts. Dr. Warren Wittry, field
director of the excavationson Tract 15A, believed that these posts set in place by Cahokia's
builders, lined up with therising sun at certain times of the year, serving as Cahokia s calendar
(CahokiaMounds State Historic Site Website 2009). Wittry called these sun calendars
Woodhenges. Inall, Wittry located evidence of five woodhengesin the areaall built around AD
1100-1200 (Iseminger 2008:14). Of thefive, Woodhenge 11, located on Tract 15A, was the most
complete. In 1985 Woodhengelll wasreconstructed at itsoriginal location (CahokiaMounds
State Historic Site Website 2009), and today can be viewed to the west of Monks Mound.

L ater, the construction of a Gem discount store threatened another area of land on the Powell

Tract, in thelocation of where the Powell mound stood inthe 1930s. A portion of what remained
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of the Powell mound was excavated along with three smaller mounds to the south and southeast.
Again, many house structures were uncovered, indicating that thiswas an area of heavy
occupation.

In the mid 1960s to the early 1970s a series of excavations took place on Monks Mound. |
will give mention of afew.

Some of the most extensive excavationstook place on Monks Mound' sfourth terrace in the
mid 1960s and into the early 1970s. Supervising these excavationswere Nelson Reed and John
Bennett, both from Washington University, and James Porter from the University of Wisconsin-
Madison. The excavations on the summit were successful inlocating alarge temple or house
structure, thelargest building found at Cahokiato date. In addition to excavations on Monks
Mound’ sfourth terrace, a soil-coring project organized by Nelson Reed wasinitiated inthefall of
1965. Nelson Reed and John Bennett served as supervisors on the project while James Porter was
assigned field director. The purpose of the coring wasto study theinternal structure of Monks
Mound, and to obtain datable carbon samplesfrom within the structure (Reed, et al 1968:138).
Drilling continued into the 1966 field season. Inall, 9 holesweredrilled into Monks Mound and
thetotal length of the combined core samples measured 680 feet. From acareful examination of
the soil samplesrecovered, Reed and his associates cameto the belief that Monks Mound was
built up in 14 separate stages, each construction stage spanning approximately 18 years (Reed, et
al 1968:146). Radiocarbon samplestaken from MonksMound produced aconstruction date of
the mound beginning at approximately A.D. 900 and its completion around A.D. 1150 (Reed, et
al 1968:137). Financial contributionsand grantsfor the coring project came from Washington
University in St. Louis, aswell asfrom private donors, and aNational Science Foundation Grant.

Around the sametime, Charles Bareis, of the University of Illinoisat UrbanaChampaign
conducted archaeol ogical excavationsat theinterface between Monks Mound' sfirst and third
terrace. Bareis work inthisarealocated a series of stepsascending up to thethird terrace. In

addition to hiswork on Monks Mound, Bareis headed several excavations on the Powell Tractin
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the 1960s and 1970s and worked at | east three seasons on a salvage project involving Cahokia' s
M ound number 51 (Persimmon Mound) (Fowler 1997:39).

In the summer of 1968, archaeologist Melvin Fowler assigned one of his graduate students,
Elizabeth Benchley to excavate on the southwest corner of thefirst terrace of Monks Mound.
Fowler, of the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, chose this particular place because hewasin
search of amarker post that would indicate where he believed a north-south centerline ran
through the site (Fowler 1997:100). Benchley located a series of superimposed post pitsina
location very closeto where Fowler had predicted she’ d find one. Towardsthetop of Benchley’s
excavations sherecovered anumber of historic artifacts, including acopper bell, lead brooches,
iron keys, and glass beads, only to name afew (Walthall and Benchley 1987). Furthermore, her
excavationsrevealed the remains of aFrench chapel or trading post that was built at thislocation
on Monks Mound around themid 1700s.

In 1971, the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee conducted excavations on one of Monks
Mound’ seast |obes, under the direction of Kenneth Williams. The purposefor thisexcavation
wasto determine the function of thelobes, and to seeif thelobes might have been access ramps
leading up to theterraces. Asit turned out, the lobeswere not built asramps, but rather they were
theresult of Monks Mound’ s east face sSlumping sometime after Cahokiawas abandoned (Fowler
1997:101). Onesignificant find discovered inside one of the lobes was a sandstone tablet, and on
it the etching of afigure of abirdman. Today the birdman tablet isthe official symbol for the
Cahokiasite.

Besides the excavations on Monks Mound, three other major projectstook place in the 1960s.
The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee undertook these projects and funding camefroma
National Science Foundation Grant. Thefirst project, which has already been described to some
extent in Chapter 4 of this paper, was an extensive mapping project of the site. The map, when

finished, was the most detailed map of the Cahokia site produced since John Patrick’ stime.
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The second project, was amorein depth study of some faint whitelinesidentified in aerial
photographs taken of the site in the 1920s and 1930s, also visible on photographs taken at the site
inthe 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s (Anderson 1969:89). Excavation units placed in the location of
one of thefaint linesthat ran parallel with, and to the east of Monks Mound, revealed a series of
trencheswhere numerous log posts had once been set in place by Cahokia sinhabitants. These
excavations, beginning in 1966, confirmed the presence of astockadewall inthislocation. Asthe
excavations proceeded, it was discovered that in fact the stockade wall was re-built atotal of
three times, making for atotal of four palisade walls constructed over aperiod of approximately
200 years (CahokiaMounds State Historic Site Website 2009). The palisadewallsalso consisted
of anumber of evenly spaced bastions (guard towers), indicating that the wall was probably
intended for defensive purposes. Excavations have since continued in following the stockade
wall along the center of the site, and usually with much success. Most recently, in 2008, Dr.
Mary Vermilion and her field school from Southern IllinoisUniversity at Edwardsville (SIUE),
located for thefirst time aportion of the north wall of the palisade.

Two important individualsinvolved with some of thefirst palisade excavations were James
Anderson and Bill Iseminger. Anderson wasastudent participant on the Tract 15A projectinthe
early 60s, and in 1966 he held thetitle of field director on the palisade excavations. 1n 1968, Bill
Iseminger joined the palisade crew, and in 1971 both Anderson and Iseminger were hired on at
the CahokiaPark. Anderson continued working at Cahokiafor 12 yearsbeforeresigningin 1983
and Iseminger hasworked at the site ever since. Today | seminger serves as one of Cahokia ssite
managers and this year (2009) marks his 38" year working at Cahokia.

Both Anderson and Iseminger have contributed to the sitein numerous ways. One of
Anderson’ smany contributionswas his organi zation of the CahokiaM ounds Museum Society in
1976, which has given support to the Cahokiasite for over 30 years. Iseminger has done
everything from directing excavations, to giving site tours, and speaking publicly on behalf of

Cahokia s history and preservation, to name afew of hismany efforts.
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The last project of the 1960s was the examination of aridge top mound to the southeast of
Monks Mound designated Mound 72. Some of the most significant finds from the mound was
the discovery of alarge post pit delineating Cahokia s major north-south line, and two groups of
burials. The central focus of one of the group burialswasamaleindividua lying on abedding of
shell beads. The beads beneath him took the shape of abird or falcon, and when counted the
number of beadstotaled over 20,000. To the southwest of this group burial was another group
burial accompanied by hundreds of grave goods.

Beginning in the 1970s, afew administrative changestook place at the site. Ever sincethe
state park was established in 1925, the property was managed the I1linois Department of Parks
and Memorials, later re-named thelllinois Department of Conservation. Management continued
under the Conservation Department until 1971 when control of the site was split between the
Illinois State Museum and the I llinois Department of Conservation. Together thetwo institutions
agreed to work on developing an interpretive and educational program at the site and to improve
the quality of the museum (Y oung and Fowler 2000:194). In 1976, the Department of
Conservation again took on full responsibility of the site’s management. It was decided that same
year that the park’ snamewould change. Instead of Cahokiabeing referred to as a state park, asit
had been called for over 50 years, the Conservation Department felt it was necessary to re-name
the park under thetitle “ CahokiaMounds State Historic Site” asaway to stressits cultural and
historical significance. Theword “park” in Cahokia sprevioustitle often gavevisitorsthe
impression that the site was a place intended for camping and recreational activities. And
actually, intheyearsleading up to the 1970s, the Cahokia Park had attracted itsfair share of
guestswho cameto the site for its camping and recreational amenities. Later, in 1984
management of the Cahokia Site shifted from the lllinois Department of Conservation to the
newly established |llinoisHistoric Preservation Agency (IHPA). The CahokiaSite hasbeen

administered by the IHPA ever since.
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In the 1970s, while the site was still under the management of the Illinois Department of
Conservation, energieswere geared towards acquiring additional land to add to the siteand
preparing for the devel opment of anew museum (Fowler 1997:39). The original museum, built
around 1930, was over 40 years old at this point, and was beginning to show itsage. Thewalls of
the museum were cracking, the roof wasleaking, and the pipes connected to the furnace were
held together by rust and encrustations (Iseminger 1990:11). And the guests at the museum
weren't theonly visitors. Birds made nestsin the ceilings, poisonous brown recluse spiders often
made their way inside, and mice took up residenceinside the museum’ swallsand any available
hiding place (Iseminger 1990:11). Sometimesat night, after the museum had closed for the
evening, the mice came out from behind the walls and set off the museum’ salarm when running
past its sensors (Y oung and Fowler 2000:203). Furthermore, for asite asgrand as Cahokia, the
old museum was too small, regardless of some of the renovation projectsthat had taken placein
attemptsto better utilize the space at hand. More room was needed for the gift shop, theatre,
offices, storage, parking, and the growing number of displays.

Three areas on the site were proposed for the location of the Interpretive Center before afinal
decisionwas madefor itslocation. In 1975 and 1976, Elizabeth Benchley, with the University of
Wisconsin-Milwaukee and Robert Hall of the University of I1linois Chicago-Circle conducted
extensivetesting at the first proposed museum location, the Dunham Tract (also called the
Interpretive Center Tract) located south of Tract 15B. Their methodsinvolved soil coring,
surface surveys, test excavations, phosphatetesting, and magnetometer studies. Thevarious
methods used yielded resultsthat indicated that the Dunham Tract was alocation once highly
utilized by Cahokia sprehistoricinhabitants. Because significant amountsof archaeol ogical
remainswereidentified in thislocation, anew proposed |location was chosen. The new location
was | ocated to the south of Monks M ound and south of the Mounds A creage Subdivision. The
new proposed location was called the Interpretive Center Tract | (ICT-1). Thislocation wasin

part situated on alow-lying piece of ground, while afew acres existed in aheavily wooded area
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that appeared to have never been disturbed by modern farming. Testing at thislocation
confirmed that the entire tract of land was utilized in prehistoric timesto some extent.

In the process of testing ICT-I., aseries of soil coreswere placed in between Mound 61 and
Mound 62. From the core samples, archaeol ogists were abl e to determine that the causeway
between the two mounds represented on Patrick’ s 1870s map, did in fact exist (Y oung and Fowler
2000:201).

Besidesthefact that the new proposed I nterpretive Tract |. location held prehistoric cultural
remains, it was also located in an areaon the site that was proneto flooding. A combination of
these two factorsforced archaeol ogiststo choose anew location for the museum. Thethird
proposed museum tract was named I nterpretive Center Tract [1 (ICT-I1).

Archaeologistsfrom Southern lllinois University at Edwardsville (SIUE) were called upon to
conduct testing in this new location, and again prehistoric debris and features were discovered.
By this point, time had elapsed into the mid 1980s. Testing continued and over 400 features,
including many residential related featureswere recorded and excavated. Although theland
contained these findings (as would most of Cahokia s property), thissite would represent the least
intrusive and best-suited place for the museum. Funding for the new museum camefrom anewly
established state tax on soda, and finally, on September 23, 1989 CahokiaMound’ s 33,000 square
foot (3066 sg. meter), 8.2 million dollar Interpretive Center was opened to the public (Figure 4).

Beginning in the 1960s, additional acres were added to the site; thefirst time since 1925.

Land acquisition was especially robust inthe 1970s and in the 1980s. The Rattlesnake tract
located on Cahokia’ s southern periphery was added to the sitein November 1980. Thefollowing
year in 1981, the Kreider Truck Company property located to the east of Monks Mound was
purchased with the help of the National Trust for Historic Preservation. Later, thelllinois
Department of Conservation reimbursed the Trust for the property. Today the Kreider Truck
building serves as Cahokia s maintenance building. In 1983, land containing an x-rated Falcon

Drive-In Theatre to the southwest of Monks M ound was purchased and demolished. Thenin

135



October 1984, 376 acres were added to the site when the land was purchased from Harriet
Bunselmeyer for $733,240. A largeland acquisition project began in the 1970s that involved the
state’ spurchase of 67 houses|ocated in asubdivision immediately southeast of Monks Mound.
By thelate 1980s, every house was purchased by the state, and al homes were removed, with the
exception of two. Thetwo housesremaining served asresidencesfor the site’ s staff, and today
only one houseremains. Two other tracts purchased around thistimeincluded atract of land
surrounding the Merrell Mound, mound number 42, and tracts of land including mounds5, 15,
and 16 (Iseminger 1990:13).

In the 1980s, some serious slumping issues with Monks Mound emerged. Minor slumping of
Monks Mound'’ s sides had occurred to some extent in previous decades, but the 1980s bore
withessto some of thelargest slump failuresin the site’ shistory. 1n 1984, at the north end of
Monks Mound, towardsthetop, alarge crack appeared where the soil was beginning to separate
from the mound face. That same year, another slump appeared on the east side of the mound and
was worse than the previous one on the mound’ s north side. Soil that was once compacted, and
secured by Cahokia s moundbuilders, had slid some 20 feet down Monks Mound’ seast side
(Iseminger 1990:15). It so happened that in the same location where this slumpage had occurred,
sat one of Monks Mound’ seast lobes. Both of Monks Mound’ seast [obes, in previousyears,
were believed to be accessrampsformed intentionally by Cahokia’ s prehistoric inhabitants. It
was realized after archaeol ogists bore witnessto the 1984 slumping, that the east |obes were not
built as ramps, but were the result of slumping in ancient times.

Following the major east face slump failure, in 1985 another major slump failure occurred, but
thistime on the western face of Monks Mound, and in thelocation of the mound’ s second terrace.
In both instances, ageotechnical engineering firm was called upon to determine the best method
for dealing with the s umpage, and the lllinois State Museum was hired to study the east Ssump
(Skele1988:92). Meanwhile, Southern [llinoisUniversity at Edwardsville (SIUE), under the

direction of William Woods examined Monks Mound’ swest slump (Skele 1988:98). 1n 1988 the
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east Slump was repaired using donated soil from the lllinois Department of Transportation, while
the remaining soil from IDOT’ s donation was used to reconstruct four mounds that were razed
during the construction of the Mounds Acreage Subdivision. One of those moundswasthe
Murdock Mound, number 55, that Harriet Smith had excavated in 1941.

In regards to thewest Slump, it ismy understanding that because the slump had stabilized
itself, it was decided that the |east destructive method of handling the sump failurewasto leaveit
be. It wasn’t until the mid 1990s when a portion of the west face became active again and
slumped afew morefeet. Soon after, the slump stabilized, and the open gaps caused by the
slumping werefilled. Thenin 2004, the northwest corner of Monks Mound slumped, followed by
the east and west sidesin 2005 (Iseminger, et al 2007:12). Thelocation that had slumped on
MonksMound' s east face in 2005 happened to be the exact location whereit had previously
slumped in 1984.

Inall, two years were spent contemplating the best solution of how to go about fixing the
slumping that had occurred in 2005. The method chosen was one that was believed to be the |east
invasive and al so the most effective way of repairing the mound. Beginning in the summer of
2007, both the northwest and east sSlump failureswererepaired. 1n essence, the procedure
involved, first removing the soil that was once used to fill in the cracks caused by slumpingin
previous years, and then cutting a series of steps, or terracesinto the mound fill asaway of
preventing any future slump failures. During the repair project, numerous photographs and maps
were produced documenting the mound’ sstratigraphy. Furthermore, over 100 soil sampleswere
taken and all materialsfound were carefully documented. It was decided not to attempt fixing the
western slump because it was more complex and less of athreat to the top of the mound
(Iseminger, et al 2007:13).

In 1988, a project was undertaken by Southern I1linois University at Edwardsville (SIUE) field
school in an attempt to locate the southern most portion of the palisade wall, in the location

immediately south of the Fox Mound, number 60, and Round Top Mound, number 59, together
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often referred to asthe Twin Mounds. During the field school, aremote sensing technique called
electromagnetic conductivity (EM C) was employed to assist in locating the palisade trenches
buried beneath the ground. Directing the EM C testing was agraduate student named Rinita
Dalan. The remote sensing testing aswell asthe placement of three excavation trenchesto the
south of mounds 59 and 60 confirmed the presence of the palisade wall in thislocation (Woods
and Holley 1997:228). It was noticed while conducting testing in thisareathat araised platform
existed beneath mounds 59 and 60, raising both mounds approximately three feet (1meter) above
the height of the prehistoric ground surface. The existence of aburied platform in the southern
portion of the site prompted further research in the plazaareato the north of mound 59 and 60 to
seeif the platform may have extended across the length of the plaza.

Thefollowing summer, in 1989, afield school through SIUE set out to conduct research on
theplazaarea. Theprimary investigatorswere RinitaDalan, George Holley, and Philip Smith
(Young and Fowler 2000:214). Testing within the plazareveal ed aburied sand ridge beneath
mound 48 extending in asoutheast direction towards mound 56 (Woods and Holley 1997:228).
Additionally, it was discovered that the plazaareahad been deliberately raised, and that the plaza
area, previousto its construction, was used as a placeto retrieve soil for mound building. A
number of borrow pitswereidentified beneath the plaza, supporting thisidea. Investigations at
the Grand Plaza continued into the mid 1990s.

Continuing into the 1990s, excavations proceeded in following the palisade wall along the
central portion of the site. Two excavations at the southeast portion of the central palisade, onein
1988 under the direction of Dr. George Holley of Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, and
another in 1993 under the direction of Dr. John Kelly of Washington University in St. Louis,
found that thefirst palisade wall erected, followed aseparate path and enclosed alarger area of
land than the last three palisade stages (Holley, et al 1997:234). Field work between 1998-2003
located palisade wall featuresto thewest of Cahokia s Grand Plazaand field schoolsbeginning in

2004 have since worked in the location to the northeast of Monks Mound in search of the north
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palisade wall (Trubitt and Iseminger 2007). Inthe summer of 2008, for thefirst time, a portion of
the northern palisade wall wasidentified.

One exciting discovery at Cahokiain the early 1990swasin the location of mound 72. Upon
an examination of aerial photographstaken of the Cahokiasitein 1979, Melvin Fowler noticed a
small mound on the photographsthat he had not seen in the 1960s when surveying the site for the
University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee' stopographic map. He overlooked the small riseinthe
landscape because at that time it was covered with trees and heavy foliage. By 1979, the trees and
brush had been cleared. Fowler created acontour map of thismound and added it to the 1966
UW-M map. Fowler called it mound 96. In an attempt to come to terms with how this mound
might relate to its neighboring mound, Mound 72, to the northeast, Fowler began experimenting
with angles and measurements, and found that his earlier discovery of Post Pit 1 at Mound 72 was
positioned at adistance of 125 metersfrom the center point of mound 96. Interestingly, the
distance between Post Pit 1 and the center of Mound 96 was exactly equal in length to the
diameter measurement of Warren Wittry’ sWoodhenge |11 discovered on Tract 15A inthe early
1960s (Y oung and Fowler 2000:219). Further research and excavationsin thislocation
confirmed the presence of awoodhenge, which came to be known as Woodhenge 72 because of
itsrelationship with mound 72.

Attracted to the earlier work and discoveries at Mound 34, archaeol ogists Dr. John Kelly and
Dr. James Brown decided to re-investigate the area, beginning in 1998. Themain goals
throughout Kelly and Brown’ sinvestigationswereto 1) relocate the earlier 1950s excavations, 2)
identify the* ceremonial fires’ identified by Perino from which the engraved shell and other ritual
items came, 3) locate the refuse trench described by Perino, and 4) locate two possible copper
workshopsidentified by Perino to the north of the mound (Kelly et a 2007:68).

To date, 11 consecutive summer and fall seasons have been spent investigating Mound 34, and
summer 2009 will mark the 12" field season. Assisti ng with thework at Mound 34 throughout

theyearsincluded field schoolsfrom Washington University in St. Louis, Northwestern
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University in Evanston lllinois, and University of Missouri-St. Louis, aswell as volunteers of the
CahokiaMounds Museum Society. With the help of volunteers and students, Kelly and Brown’s
first three goal s proposed for their work werelargely in part accomplished by the end of the 2005
season. Focuson locating the copper workshops suggested by Perino began in 2003, and
continued in 2005 through 2008. Earlier excavationsin 2003, 2005, and 2006 were unsuccessful
in locating the copper workshops. In 2007, a concentration of over 100 small copper fleckswere
discovered in the northeast corner of one of the test units beneath theinitial mound stage, and the
western margins of one of the copper workshopswasidentified (Kelly et al 2009:13). Dr. Brown,
who has been involved with the Mound 34 project since 1998, is of the opinion that thisarea
immediately north of mound 34 isthe location where large copper repousse plates and status
objectswere manufactured around AD 1200 (Belknap 2008:12-13). In 2008, the westernmost
copper workshop wasverified (Kelly et a 2009). It was discovered that the copper working took
placeinside the copper workshop house towardsits southwest corner. Againin 2008, numerous
small copper pieceswerelocated inside the copper workshop house, which were documented,
and removed. In addition to the copper workshop, ahouse structure, named House 1, that Perino
indicated on his 1950s map of the area, wasfirst identified in the 2007 excavationsto the north of
the copper working area. Then, in 2008 the western wall and southern edge of House 1 was
exposed (Kelly et al 2009:20). A few artifacts of interest from the 2008 season included two
fragments of an engraved marine shell cup, adouble-barbed (Caddoan) point, small copper
pieces, and adrilled shark’ stooth. Thisyear’ s 2009 season of work at Mound 34 will focuson
defining the limits of the copper workshop and the full extent of House 1 (Kelly et a 2009:39).

With the previous several pages dedicated to describing in brief some of Cahokia skey events
occurring post 1940s, we have arrived at CahokiaMoundsin the present day, 2009.

Today, the Cahokia Mounds State Historic Site, which isthe location of the once largest pre-
Columbian Indian settlement sitein North America, isatruly remarkabl e place by which none

other can compare. Thesite, with the assistance of many dedicated individuals, has cometo be
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recognized asaUNESCO World Heritage Siteand aU.S. National Landmark, two telling
indicators of Cahokia’ ssignificanceto North American history, and moreover world history.
Presently, the site, which is owned by the state of 11linoisand managed by thelllinois Historic
Preservation Agency (IHPA), includes 2200 acres of the original 3,800 acresonce contained
within the prehistoric site boundaries. Included within this 3,800-acre space were approximately
120 earthen mounds of varioussizes. Today, the Cahokia Mounds State Historic Site contains 70
of the remaining 80 mounds, including the largest prehistoric earthen construction in the
Americas (IllinoisHistoric Preservation Agency Pamphlet). 1n 1989, the 33,000 square foot
Interpretive Center was opened for the purpose of educating the public in understanding and
interpreting Cahokia spast. And on average, Cahokia M ounds attracts more than 300,000 visitors
tothe site each year.

From onsite excavations occurring in the later half of the 20" century, archaeol ogists have
begun to unravel some of Cahokia’ sburied and best kept secrets. Today we are awarethat a
large temple-type building, measuring 104 feet (32 meters) long (east to west) and 48 feet (15
meters) wide (north to south) was erected on Monks Mound’ s summit (Mink 1992:25). Its
location suggestsit was one of the most important buildings on the site (Fowler 1997:100).
Through an examination of some faint whitelineson early aerial photographs, it hasbeen
discovered that apalisade wall built and re-built atotal of four times, once surrounded the central
core of the site, enclosing within it, Monks Mound and a number of other smaller mounds. The
latest discovery on the palisade project wasthe discovery of aportion of the northern palisade
wall. Not very long ago, it was confirmed through salvage excavations that a\Woodhenge, once
erected in alocation to the west of Monks Mound, was built not once, but fivetimesfrom A.D.
1100-1200 (Iseminger 2008:14). Inthe 1990s, archaeologist Dr. Melvin Fowler located an
additional Woodhenge on the site, which he designated Woodhenge 72. One of Cahokia's
Woodhenges, to the west of Monks Mound, wasre-builtin 1985 at itsoriginal founding location

and today serves as an attraction to the many visitorswho cometo the site each year. Through
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archaeological investigations on the site and a close study of its habitation areas, it has been
figured that Cahokia, at its peak between A.D. 1050-1150, was hometo approximately 10 to 20
thousand people (lllinoisHistoric Preservation Agency Pamphlet).

In observance of Cahokia s numerous achievements, triumphs, and archaeol ogical discoveries
inthe site’ smorerecent years, | can’t help but be reminded of the earliest of days, only 200 years
ago when Cahokia s moundswere noticed by thefirst mapmakers and explorers of theday. The
first thorough account of the site began at the pen of Henry Marie Brackenridge, who in 1811
approached the foot of the principal mound, staring in admiration of the massive earthen
monument that stood before him. Taken aback by its size and wonder Brackenridge wrote,
“What a stupendous pile of earth! To heap up such amass must have required years, and the
labor of thousands’. Brackenridge having laid down thefirst detailed account of the mounds set
thefoundation for all who wereto follow. Thoselike Reverend Timothy Flint, Charles Joseph
LaTrobe, G.W. Featherstonhaugh, and Edmund Flagg, who, like Brackenridge, contributed their
observationsto Cahokia’ s historic account and whose claimsto Cahokia suniquenesslikely
stirred up an interest in the mounds by those who read their stories. Artists Karl Bodmer inthe
1830s, and J.C. Wild in the 1840s, both offered their talents with the production of thefirst
known drawings of Cahokia s moundsand surrounding landscapesfor our historic posterity. In
the 1870s, there was John J.R. Patrick, who wasthefirst of histime to recognize the need for an
accurate map of the Cahokiaregion. We are forever indebted to Patrick and hisdecision to
accurately and skillfully map Cahokia s mounds, the East St. Louis mounds, and the mounds at
the Pulcher site, south of Cahokia. Today, and well into the future, these mapswill remain an
invaluable piece of thesite’ shistory. Itismy sincerewish for funding to become available so
that Patrick’ s map of the Pulcher site may berestored to itsoriginal condition, similar to his other
four mapswhich have recently been conserved.

Beginning in the mid 1800s, there are those who deserve credit for their contributions towards

Cahokia sinitial preservation. Therewas Thomas Ramey and hisfamily who owned alarge
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portion of land holding several mounds. Luckily, Mr. Ramey and his heirsvery much wanted to
see Cahokia smounds preserved in astate park. Thiscame at atime when outside sources had
their own ideas about what the mounds could be used for; possibilities ranging from amemorial
park, to abeer garden, and even one rumor that surfaced was for Monks Mound to be destroyed
and itssoil used tofill inlow lying lands in the American Bottoms. When individual s sought
permission to dig on Mr. Ramey’ s property, he promptly denied their request. On severa
occasions, Ramey spoke publicly in attemptsto rai se awareness of Cahokia simportance.
Fortunately, Monks Mound and several others of Cahokia s mounds had found themselvesin the
possession of such protective and caring hands. Had these mounds bel onged to someone el sg, it
isvery possiblethey would not bewith ustoday.

It was John Francis Snyder whose efforts began the long uphill struggle to save the mounds.
Snyder recognized Cahokia’ ssignificanceto archaeology and heavily advocated for the
preservation of the mounds. Desperate to see Monks Mound protected in astate park setting,
Snyder founded the organi zation “Monksof Cahokia”, which promoted Cahokia' sconservation,
and in early 1900 at thefirst meeting of the lllinois State Historical Society, he pleaded for the
protection of Cahokia smoundsand Illinoisantiquity. With the help of Cahokiasupporters,
Snyder convinced archaeol ogist Warren King Moorehead to visit the site in the early 1920s.

Besides Snyder, Clark McAdamsand David |. Bushnell Jr. also played acritical rolein seeing
to Cahokia spreservation. Both McAdamsand Bushnell addressed their concernsand desiresfor
Cahokia sfutureintheir writings, and moreover wrote lettersto the Illinois state legislator
showing their support of abill that would turn Monks Mound and surrounding land into a state
park. Other organizationsand concerned individualswrote | etters on behalf of Cahokia’'s
preservation aswell.

In 1921, Warren King M oorehead stepped foot onto the Cahokia premises and began to
transform the dreams held for Cahokiainto areality. His presence cameat atime when the

moundswerein constant danger of expanding urban developmentsinto the area. Moorehead's
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commitment to hiswork resulted in some of the most extensive excavations ever undertaken at
the site, and ultimately hiseffortsled to the preservation and protection of thefirst 144.4 acres of
Cahokialand in 1925. Together, Moorehead and Morris L eighton demonstrated to the
satisfaction of geologist A.R. Crook that indeed the mounds at Cahokiawere man-made
structures and not geological features as previously suspected. Warren King Moorehead’ s
presence at Cahokiawastruly aGodsend, and hiscontributionsto Cahokia sinitial preservation
will forever be remembered.

Much would belost if not for the determined salvage explorations of Paul F. Titterington and
Harriet Smith. Inashort time, and under intense pressure, both Titterington and Smith managed
to extract agreat deal of information from moundsthat would have otherwise been lost to the
bulldozer and plow. It was Titterington who kept up with the current happenings of the day and
called upon the Illinois Universitieswhen hefelt Cahokia smoundswerein jeopardy. Inthe
early 1930s, Titterington dedicated hisenergiesin gaining information on theinternal contents of
the Powell Mound prior to itsdestruction, and in 1938 published his observations of themound in
The Cahokia Mound Group and Its Village Ste Materials. The loss of the Powell Mound
represents one of the most unfortunate tragediesin all of Cahokia’ shistory. Thankfully,
Titterington was present to capture the last memories we have of this spectacular earthen
monument. Later, Harriet Smith, inthe early 1940s, salvaged as much information as possible
fromthe Murdock Mound beforeits replacement by the Mounds Acreage Subdivision
development. Dr. Melvin Fowler in his Cahokia Atlas states that because of Harriet Smith’'s
detailed work, the Murdock Mound istoday “one of the most completely excavated and
examined mounds at the Cahokiasite” (1997:121). Both Titterington and Smith’searly salvage
efforts have contributed immensely to our understanding of Cahokia’ s prehistoric peopleand
their way of life.

In 1813, Henry Brackenridge, following hisvisit to the site, wrote aletter to Thomas Jefferson

expressing hisdisappointment that Cahokia, particularly Monks M ound, had attracted no notice.
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I think if Brackenridge were ableto visit the site today he would be pleased to see that Cahokia
has since been given the recognition it deserves. Thelargest pre-Columbian earthwork inthe
America sthat Brackenridge gazed uponinadmirationin 1811, centuries|ater still conveysthe
sametype of feelingsto those who bare witnessto Monks Mound today.

Although we can see that the site has come along way from the days of Brackenridge,
continued support iscritical and cannot stop with thisgeneration. Thereisstill much to be done,
asthework hereisfar from complete. Little do most peoplerealizethere are approximately
1,600 acreswithin what is considered the prehistoric Cahokiasite boundariesthat remains
unprotected by the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency. Thismeansthat land containing
considerable archaeol ogical information pertaining to these prehistoric peoplesisproneto
development andisat risk of being lost forever. Additionaly, in July of 2008, the Governor of
[llinoiscut 2.7 million dollarsfrom the IllinoisHistoric Preservation Agency’ s 2009 Fiscal
budget. Thiscut has severely impacted CahokiaMoundsand all Illinois State Historic Sites. For
Cahokia, thishasresulted in the layoff of several employees, four of who were full-time staff and
had contributed to the site for nearly two decades (Cahokian 2008:11). Thoseindividualswho
werelaid off heldimportant positionsincluding; maintaining the I nterpretive Center Museum,
running the site’ svolunteer program, organizing special events at the site, and educating the
public on CahokiaMounds. Now the siteisforced to carry on without these important and
dedicated staff members. The budget cuts have also affected the sitein other ways. Dueto
budget reductions, the operating hours of the Interpretive Center Museum have been cut by two
daysaweek. Theclosure of the museum for two days each week isunfortunate for several
reasons. For one, the gift shop, which islocated inside the museum, is one of the primary sources
of incomefor thesite. Therevenuelost from the gift shop saleswill impact the site’ sability to
provideitsfree educational programslike Kid' s Day and an Archaeological LectureSeries, to
namejust two. Museum closures have al so disappointed many of Cahokia s guestswho come

from all over the globe to witnessthe sitefirst hand. Recently, while | wasworking outdoors on
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aproject at the site, our excavationswere visited by agroup of tourists who had come all the way
from Europe to explorethe site on their vacation. It just so happened they came on aday when
the museum was closed, and because of thisthey expressed to metheir dismay. It isupsetting
that aWorld Heritage Site must run under such circumstances! ' Itisin these difficult timesthat
CahokiaMounds must rely on community and individual support. Luckily, thereare severa
waysto contribute and get involved.

Oneway to help is by becoming amember of the Cahokia Mounds Museum Society. The
CahokiaMounds Museum Society is anot-for-profit organization originally founded in 1976,
which lends support to the Cahokia M ounds State Historic Site. Themission of CMMSsinceits
establishment has been to preserve, protect, and promote the prehistoric metropolis of Cahokia
M ounds (CahokiaMounds State Historic Site Website 2009). Beginning in January 2000, one of
the goals of CMM S has been to purchase unprotected Cahokialand fromwilling sellersat afair
price (CahokiaMounds State Historic Site Website 2009). Oncethe land has been purchased by
CMMStheland isdonated to the lllinois Historic Preservation Agency and isincluded and
protected within the site boundaries. From January 2000, when the CMM S donation program
began, to July 1, 2009, the Museum Society has donated atotal of 42 parcels (comprising of 51
lots) to the Cahokia M ounds State Historic Site (L eah Joyce, Executive Director of the Cahokia
M ounds Museum Society, personal communication 2009). Thedonated lotstotal approximately
8 Yaacres of land and contain portions of five mounds. Most of the purchased property residesin
the State Park Place Subdivision (to the east of Monks Mound); one parcel is at the east edge of
the site, and there are four parcelslocated at the Sam Chucallo Mound Tract (L eah Joyce,
personal communication 2009). CMM Salso offersfree educational programsto people of all

ages. One of their programs alowsits membersto participate on archaeol ogical digs at the site.

! Subsequent to the writing of this thesis chapter it has been reported in the summer 2009 Cahokian that
due to the replacement of the Illinois Governor Blagovich earlier this year with Governor Quinn, Cahokia
has witnessed some positive changes. Thankfully, the Interpretive Center staff that was laid off in late
2008 has since been re-hired. Also, the Interpretive Center is now open seven days a week through
October 315t, and beginning November 1% the site will remain open six days aweek (Cahokian 2009:11).
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Thisyear volunteerswill beworking at Mound 34 in an effort to define the boundaries of one of
the copper workshopsthat wasidentified in the summer of 2008.

Another organization to become involved with isthe Powell Archaeological Research Center.
The Powell Archaeological Research Center (PARC) isanot-for-profit organization that was
established in 1997 by agroup of committed individual s concerned about the destruction of
archaeol ogical sitesby ongoing development in the metropolitan St. Louisregion (Powell
Archaeol ogical Research Center Website2009). PARC’ snameisderived from Cahokia s Powell
Mound that was demolished in the early 1930s, and their headquartersarein very close proximity
to where the Powell Mound onceexisted. Oneway PARC isinvolved with the preservation of
archaeol ogical resourcesisby purchasing valuable archaeological landinthe St. Louis
metropolitan areawhen it becomesavailable. One of their most recent accomplishmentswasthe
purchase of two lotsin East St. Louis, Missouri. Thereason for thispurchaseis because
investigations have shown that the prehistoric settlement in East St. Louis (previously named
[1linoistown) that Brackenridge spoke of in 1811, still remains beneath the surface of the city
(Powell Archaeological Research Center Newsletter 2008). Another purchase by PARC was a
2.5-acre of land within the Cahokiasite. And onelong-term goal for PARC isto re-create atrail
that would connect both the East St. L ouis Mound Group and the Cahokia Mound Group (Kelly
2003:22).

All these efforts are great, but they cannot stop with the here and now, and it isgoing to take
the support and enthusiasm of thelocal community aswell aslocal landowners, the Native
Americans, and many other individualsto keep thistradition going. Other important waysto get
involved include volunteering time at the site, and contacting local state legislatorsin apushto
override the most recent budget cuts affecting CahokiaMoundsand all other Illinois State
Historic Sites.

For the present and future we must carry on with people who will take up the torch and march

forward in continuing in the footsteps of those who came before. In the beginning, it was Henry
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Brackenridge who gave usthefirst thorough record of the site and John J.R. Patrick who
contributed the first detailed map of the mounds. Many since then have gone on to contribute
their time, money, and talentsto the site, and many are still working with alove and passionin
support of Cahokiatoday. Aswe approach 200 years of discovery at CahokiaMounds let us
embrace the vision of those who have worked so hard for its protection and preservation. Long

may that vision prosper.
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THE SETTING SUN AT THE CAHOKIA MOUNDS STATE HISTORIC SITE
Taken in the fall, 2007
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Cahokia Mounds Museum Society (CMMS)

Join today at www.cahokiamounds.org

Or by calling 618-344-7316

Powell Archaeological Research Center (PARC)

Join today at www.powellarchaeology.org
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http://www.powellarchaeology.org/

‘Don’t Drink the Water’
By The Dave Matthews Band

Come out come out
Nousein hiding
Come now come now
Can you not see?
There'sno place here
What were you expecting
Not room for both
Just room for me
So you will lay your arms down
Yes| will call thishome

Away away
Y ou have been banished
Your land isgone
And given me
And here | will spread my wings
Yes| will call thishome
What's this you say
You feel aright to remain
Then stay and | will bury you
What's that you say
Y our father's spirit still livesin this place
I will silenceyou

Here's the hitch
Your horseisleaving
Don't miss your boat
It's leaving now
And asyou go | will spread my wings
Yes| will call thishome
I have no time to justify to you
Fool you're blind, move aside for me
All | can say to you my new neighbor
Is you must move on or | will bury you

Now as | rest my feet by thisfire
Those hands once warmed here
| have retired them
| can breathe my own air
| can sleep more soundly
Upon these poor souls
I'll build heaven and call it home
'‘Cause you're al dead now
| live with my justice
I live with my greedy need
I live with no mercy
I live with my frenzied feeding
| live with my hatred
I live with my jealousy
I live with the notion
That | don't need anyone but me
Don't drink the water
Don't drink the water
There's blood in the water

Don't drink the water
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